Quantum Modularity for a Closed Hyperbolic 3-Manifold

Campbell WHEELER

Institut des Hautes Études Scientifiques, Le Bois-Marie, Bures-sur-Yvette, France E-mail: wheeler@ihes.fr URL: https://www.ihes.fr/~wheeler

Received January 11, 2024, in final form December 23, 2024; Published online January 08, 2025 https://doi.org/10.3842/SIGMA.2025.004

Abstract. This paper proves quantum modularity of both functions from \mathbb{Q} and q-series associated to the closed manifold obtained by $-\frac{1}{2}$ surgery on the figure-eight knot, $4_1(-1, 2)$. In a sense, this is a companion to work of Garoufalidis–Zagier, where similar statements were studied in detail for some simple knots. It is shown that quantum modularity for closed manifolds provides a unification of Chen–Yang's volume conjecture with Witten's asymptotic expansion conjecture. Additionally we show that $4_1(-1, 2)$ is a counterexample to previous conjectures of Gukov–Manolescu relating the Witten–Reshetikhin–Turaev invariant and the $\hat{Z}(q)$ series. This could be reformulated in terms of a "strange identity", which gives a volume conjecture for the \hat{Z} invariant. Using factorisation of state integrals, we give conjectural but precise q-hypergeometric formulae for generating series of Stokes constants of this manifold. We find that the generating series of Stokes constants is related to the 3d index of $4_1(-1, 2)$ proposed by Gang–Yonekura. This extends the equivalent conjecture of Garoufalidis–Gu– Mariño for knots to closed manifolds. This work appeared in a similar form in the author's Ph.D. Thesis.

Key words: 3d index; asymptotic expansions; Borel resummation; character varieties; Chern–Simons invariants; circle method; closed three-manifolds; cocycles; dilogarithm; duality; Faddeev quantum dilogarithm; factorisation; flat connections; hyperbolic manifolds; modularity; perturbative invariants; q-difference equations; q-hypergeometric functions; quadratic relations; quantum invariants; quantum modular forms; resurgence; surgery; state integrals; stationary phase; Stokes constants; Stokes phenomenon; strange identity; threemanifolds; volume conjecture; Witten–Reshetikhin–Turaev invariants; \hat{Z} invariants

2020 Mathematics Subject Classification: 57N10; 57K16; 57K14; 57K10

Contents

1	Introduction											
	1.1 Asymptotics of quantum invariants	3										
	1.2 Modularity conjectures	4										
	1.3 Stokes constants and a unification	6										
2	The manifold $4_1(-1,2)$	8										
	2.1 The $SL_2(\mathbb{C})$ -character variety	8										
	2.2 The WRT invariant	10										
	2.3 The \widehat{Z} series	12										
3	Asymptotics	14										
	3.1 Volume conjectures and asymptotic series	14										
	3.2 Behaviour of the coefficients	17										
	3.3 The constant terms at all roots of unity	18										

	3.4 Radial asymptotics of \widehat{Z}	19								
4	Quantum modularity									
	4.1 Quantum modularity of the WRT invariant	20								
	4.2 Stationary phase and proof of Theorem 4.1	23								
	4.3 Quantum modularity of \hat{Z}	28								
	4.4 Defined eventum modularity	20								
	4.4 Refined quantum modularity	29								
5	The state integral	33								
	5.1 Untrapping the q -series	34								
	5.2 Factorisation and the non-abelian connections	35								
	5.3 Including the trivial connection	38								
		00								
6	Resurgence 4									
	6.1 Borel resummation	41								
	6.2 Stokes matrices	43								
	6.3 The 3d index	45								
A	Modularity of the <i>q</i> -Pochhammer symbol	46								
Ъ		40								
в	Asymptotic methods	48								
	B.1 Outline of the proof of Theorem 3.3	48								
	B.2 More details on Theorem 4.1	49								
С	Details of state integral factorisations	52								
	C.1 At rationals	52								
	C 2 As <i>a</i> -series	57								
		01								
D	Numerical data									
	D.1 Coefficients of asymptotic series	63								
	D.2 Generating series of Stokes constants	65								
R	eferences	71								

1 Introduction

This paper is an in-depth case study of the \mathfrak{sl}_2 -quantum invariants [52, 67, 72, 75] of the closed hyperbolic manifold obtained from -1/2 surgery on the figure-eight knot, $4_1(-1, 2)$. This example serves to unify a variety of phenomenon under the umbrella of quantum modularity [81]. The main importance of this example is the fact it is a hyperbolic manifold. For non-hyperbolic manifolds – closed or not – it has long been understood that their quantum invariants are related to Ramanujan's mock modular forms [5, 15, 51, 56, 60, 79]. The story for hyperbolic manifolds starts with Kashaev's volume conjecture [54, 59]. This required the introduction of a new concept called a quantum modular form [81]. The ideas surrounding this quantum modularity have been clarified in recent years [11, 15, 33, 34, 41, 42, 78] resulting in a detailed understanding for simple hyperbolic knots. This work provides the same depth for a closed hyperbolic manifold. For knots, the invariant is the Kashaev invariant or the coloured Jones polynomial. While here, the invariant is the Witten-Reshetikhin-Turaev (WRT) invariant. These invariants give the story at \mathbb{Q} , however, recently this has been extended into $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$. To extend away from \mathbb{Q} , we need the new q-series invariants of three-manifolds [9, 15, 41, 46, 48, 49] that have been conjectured to exist and constructed in certain examples. These q-series invariants are also expected to provide an important step towards categorifying [55] the WRT invariant. The manifold $4_1(-1, 2)$ illustrates the relation between the q-series invariants \hat{Z} and the WRT invariant, which behave in new ways when a closed hyperbolic manifold is considered. Regardless of any conjectured invariance, these q-series allow for the conjectural computation of Stokes data and Borel resummations [9, 31, 30, 32, 41, 47] of asymptotic series [21, 23, 25, 38, 50] associated to knots and closed three-manifolds. These collections of Stokes data have been related to the 3d index of Dimofte-Gaiotto-Gukov [20, 30] for knots. For closed manifolds, an extension of this 3d index has been proposed [26] and an analogous conjecture seems to hold. The main results of this paper can be described as follows.

Theorem 1.1. The WRT invariant and the \widehat{Z} invariant of the manifold $4_1(-1,2)$ are part of a matrix valued quantum modular form.

1.1 Asymptotics of quantum invariants

Quantum invariants of three-manifolds were discovered around the end of the 1980s in a union of algebra with topology. This all stemmed from Witten's interpretation [75] of Jones's polynomial invariants [52, 53]. Witten's physical ideas were powerful enough to suggest axioms that would completely define a theory of three-manifold invariants. This was all mathematically described by Reshetikhin–Turaev [66, 67] leading to a function III(M, q) from fourth roots of unity to \mathbb{C} for closed three-manifolds M. While the set of axioms was enough to define a theory, Witten's original ideas have stronger links to the geometry of the three-manifolds. In particular, these new invariants should be related to connections on the three-manifold via a semi-classical limit [1, 75]. Letting $\mathbf{e}(x) = \exp(2\pi i x)$ this conjecture is formulated precisely as follows.

Conjecture 1.2 (Witten's asymptotic expansion conjecture [75]). If M is closed 3-manifold, then there exists a finite set S of flat connections $\rho \in \text{Hom}(\pi_1(M), \text{SU}(2))/\text{SU}(2), d_{\rho} \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ and $a_k^{(\rho)} \in \mathbb{C}$ such that for $1/\hbar \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\hbar \to 0$

$$III(M, \mathbf{e}(\hbar)) \sim \sum_{\rho \in S} \exp\left(-\frac{\mathrm{CS}(\rho)}{2\pi \mathrm{i}\hbar}\right) \hbar^{d_{\rho}} \left(a_{0}^{(\rho)} + a_{1/2}^{(\rho)} \hbar^{1/2} + a_{1}^{(\rho)} \hbar^{1} + \cdots\right),$$

where CS is the Chern-Simons invariant of the connection.

While originally Witten only defined his invariants when $1/\hbar \in \mathbb{Z}$, Reshetikhin–Turaev had no such restriction. This has led to the attempt to analytically continue Witten's original theories [45, 76], however, no such attempt has led to enough axioms to pin down a theory at the physical level. Such a theory is expected – at least in part – to be described by state integrals originally introduced by Hikami [19, 23, 50] and described precisely in work of Andersen– Kashaev [2, 3, 4]. Regardless, from the mathematical point of view, we can have $\hbar \in \mathbb{Q}$. Using the full theory of Reshetikhin–Turaev, a conjecture of a different form has arisen for the asymptotics of the WRT invariant of closed hyperbolic manifolds when we take $1/\hbar \notin \mathbb{Z}$. This states that the invariants of Reshetikhin–Turaev should contain information about the geometric connection, which is an PSL₂(\mathbb{C})-connection encoding the hyperbolic structure of the three-manifold. The Chern–Simons invariant of the geometric connection stores the information of the volume of the hyperbolic three-manifold [61, 62, 71, 77]. Therefore, this conjecture is similar to Kashaev's volume conjecture [54, 59] for hyperbolic knots. This conjecture was originally introduced by Chen–Yang [14] and is given as follows.

Conjecture 1.3 (Chen–Yang's volume conjecture [14]). Let M be a closed hyperbolic 3-manifold.

Then there is some $d_M \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ and $a_M \in \mathbb{C}$ such that for $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $N \to \infty$,

$$\operatorname{III}\left(M; \mathbf{e}\left(-\frac{1}{N+1/2}\right)\right) \sim \exp\left(\frac{\operatorname{V}(M)}{2\pi \mathrm{i}}\left(N+\frac{1}{2}\right)\right) \left(N+\frac{1}{2}\right)^{d_M} \left(a_M + O\left(N^{-1}\right)\right),$$

where V(M) is the complexified volume of M, i.e., the $SL_2(\mathbb{C})$ Chern-Simons invariant of the geometric connection.

These two conjectures describe very different behaviour while both describing the asymptotics of the WRT invariant as we send its argument (a root of unity) to 1. The first conjecture states that the WRT invariant of a closed hyperbolic manifold has polynomial growth, while the second states that it has exponential growth determined by the volume. These conjectures will be seen to be unified through quantum modularity.

Before discussing quantum modularity, we should compare these asymptotic statements to the asymptotics of the q-series invariants $\widehat{Z}(q)$. Based on ideas in physics and explicit examples, q-series invariants of three-manifolds have been conjectured to exist [9, 15, 41, 46, 48, 49, 51, 56]. An approach using q-difference equations and surgery was given by Gukov-Manolescu [46] and has led to many computational examples. These q-series are expected to be related to the WRT invariant of the three-manifold. It was expected that the radial limits as q approaches roots of unity of certain combinations of these q-series should be given by the WRT invariant. This works for many non-hyperbolic manifolds [5, 15], however, does not seem to hold for hyperbolic manifolds. Indeed, $4_1(-1, 2)$ is an integer homology sphere and there was only expected to be one series \widehat{Z} so that the limit of this series as q tends to a root of unity should have reproduced the WRT invariant. The series $\widehat{Z}(q)$ for this manifold was first computed by Gukov-Manolescu [46] and has expansion

$$\widehat{Z}(q) = -q^{-1/2} \left(1 - q + 2q^3 - 2q^6 + q^9 + 3q^{10} + q^{11} - q^{14} - 3q^{15} + \cdots \right).$$

For this example, the invariant does not have radial limits and instead it has exponential growth like the Chern-Simons invariant of an $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ -connection. As q tends to 1 this is given explicitly in Theorem 3.3. Therefore, we see that while the asymptotics of $\widehat{Z}(q)$ sees certain connections, it does not always see the trivial connection, which should correspond to the WRT invariant at leading order. Indeed, if we take the asymptotics as q tend to a root of unity on a small angle as opposed to radially, then the asymptotics of \widehat{Z} should in fact see the geometric connections for any hyperbolic three-manifold. We can make the following conjecture similar to Chen-Yang's as the argument tends to 1.

Conjecture 1.4 (\widehat{Z} volume conjecture). Let M be a closed hyperbolic integer homology sphere. Then there is some $\epsilon \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$, $d_M \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ and $a_M \in \mathbb{C}$ such that for $\tau \in \mathfrak{h} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Im}(z) > 0\}$ with $0 < \arg(\tau) < \epsilon$ and as $\tau \to \infty$ (with unbounded imaginary part)

$$\widehat{Z}(M; \mathbf{e}(-1/\tau)) \sim \exp\left(\frac{\mathbf{V}(M)}{2\pi \mathrm{i}}\tau\right) \tau^{d_M} (a_M + O(\tau^{-1})).$$

To try and make a precise conjecture on the asymptotics as $\tau \to i\infty$ for $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ seems interesting but heavily dependent on the shape of the \hat{Z} series along with the Chern–Simons values. Without a canonical connection one could expect would dominate the asymptotics – such as the previous expectation of the trivial connection – a formulation is not currently known.

1.2 Modularity conjectures

The quantum modularity of the invariants of a hyperbolic knot was first noticed by Zagier [81] for the figure-eight knot 4_1 . The observation – which is now a theorem [11, 42] – was that

the Kashaev invariant of the figure-eight knot $J_{4_1}(q) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (q;q)_k (q^{-1};q^{-1})_k$, where $(x;q)_k = \prod_{j=0}^{k-1} (1-q^j x)$ satisfied the following asymptotic statement for $k \in \mathbb{Q}$ with bounded denominator and $k \to \infty$

$$J_{4_1}(\mathbf{e}(-1/k)) \sim k^{3/2} \exp\left(\frac{V_{4_1}}{2\pi i}k\right) \Phi\left(\frac{2\pi i}{k}\right) J_{4_1}(\mathbf{e}(k)),$$

for some $\Phi(\hbar) \in (-3)^{-1/4} \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{-3}) \llbracket \hbar \rrbracket$. Of course, if $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, then $J_{4_1}(\mathbf{e}(k)) = 1$ and we find the all order volume conjecture [36, 45], however, if $k \notin \mathbb{Z}$, then to obtain the same asymptotics we must divide by the Kashaev invariant at an argument obtained by a Möbius transformation. This led to the quantum modularity conjecture [81] generalising this statement to all hyperbolic knots. While modularity had been observed for non-hyperbolic manifolds previously [15, 51, 56], an equivalent conjecture has not been tested for a closed hyperbolic manifold. In Theorem 4.1, we prove that the WRT invariant of $4_1(-1, 2)$ satisfies a quantum modularity conjecture, which can be generalised to all closed hyperbolic manifolds as follows.

Conjecture 1.5 (quantum modularity conjecture for the WRT invariant). Let M be a closed hyperbolic three-manifold. Then there exist $d \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ and $\Phi(\hbar) \in \mathbb{C}[\![\hbar]\!]$ such that for $k \in \mathbb{Q}$ with bounded denominator and $k \to \infty$

$$\operatorname{III}(M; \mathbf{e}(-1/k)) \sim k^{d} \exp\left(\frac{\mathrm{V}(M)}{2\pi \mathrm{i}}k\right) \Phi(2\pi \mathrm{i}/k)(1 - \mathbf{e}(k)) \operatorname{III}(M; \mathbf{e}(k)) + o\left(\exp\left(\frac{\mathrm{V}(M)}{2\pi \mathrm{i}}k\right)\right).$$
(1.1)

The factor $(1-\mathbf{e}(k))$ appeared originally in work of Lawrence–Zagier [56] and appears again for the manifold $4_1(-1,2)$. This factor is responsible for the union of Chen–Yang's volume conjecture with Witten's. Indeed, when $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ we see that the right-hand side of equation (1.1) becomes simply $o\left(\exp\left(\frac{V(M)}{2\pi i}k\right)\right)$. This states that the WRT invariant grows smaller than the exponential of the volume, which is consistent with Witten's conjecture stating it should grow polynomially. To completely link these conjectures, we need to use the refined modularity Conjecture 1.7. Before discussing this refinement, we can make an analogous conjecture for the \hat{Z} series.

In the years following the modularity conjecture for the Kashaev invariant, many q-series associated to knots were discovered and defined [9, 20, 41, 46]. It was noticed by Garoufalidis– Zagier [41] that these q-series have the same asymptotics as the Kashaev invariant as q approaches a root of unity on a small angle. Moreover, these series start to see exponentially small corrections as we decrease the angle at which τ tends to i ∞ . Remarkably, these exponentially small corrections again arise from modularity. If one bounds the imaginary part of τ , these corrections become O(1) and therefore must be taken into account if we make an asymptotic statement. We can formulate this into a precise conjecture for \hat{Z} . For the manifold $4_1(-1, 2)$, this statement is given in Theorem 4.5.

Conjecture 1.6 (quantum modularity conjecture for \widehat{Z}). Let M be a closed hyperbolic threemanifold. Then there exist $d \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ and $\Phi(\hbar) \in \mathbb{C}[\![\hbar]\!]$ such that for $\tau \in \mathfrak{h}$ with imaginary part bounded away from 0 and ∞ and $\tau \to \infty$

$$\frac{\widehat{Z}(M;\mathbf{e}(-1/\tau))}{\widehat{Z}(M;\mathbf{e}(\tau))} \sim \tau^d \exp\left(\frac{\mathcal{V}(M)}{2\pi \mathrm{i}}\tau\right) \Phi(2\pi \mathrm{i}/\tau).$$

The modularity conjectures along with Witten's conjecture have hinted that underneath the leading order of these asymptotics there are well behaved exponentially small corrections. Of course, to make sense of these corrections, we can not have asymptotic series and we need some kind of analytic functions. To deal with this, there are two approaches. One uses Borel resummation and one uses state integrals.

1.3 Stokes constants and a unification

In work of Garoufalidis–Gu–Mariño [30], it is conjectured that state integrals and the Borel resummations of the asymptotic series are one in the same. Along with conjectures on the behaviour of Stokes constants, this leads to powerful computational techniques. At the heart of the computations is a refined modularity conjecture paired with the resurgent structure. Resurgence for quantum invariants of three-manifolds was first conjectured by Garoufalidis in [27]. The form of these conjectures we will present here will be closer to the work of [30].

In the language of [30], given an asymptotic series $\Phi(\hbar) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k \hbar^k \in \mathbb{C}[\![\hbar]\!]$ whose coefficients grow factorially, we take the Borel transform $(\mathcal{B}\Phi)(\xi) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k \xi^k / k!$. If this function has endless analytic continuation, certain growth conditions and if $\arg(\hbar)$ does not agree with the argument of a singularity, then we can take the Laplace transform $(\mathcal{L}f)(\hbar) = \int_0^\infty \exp(-\xi) f(\hbar\xi) d\xi$. Combining the Borel transform followed by the Laplace transform gives rise to an analytic function $s(\Phi) = \mathcal{L}\mathcal{B}\Phi$ called the Borel resummation that has the same asymptotics as the original function.

As part of the structure of resurgence, we obtain a set of asymptotic series $\Phi^{(\rho_i)}(\hbar)$. The Borel transforms of these series have singularities with potential branch cuts. The jumping across these branch cuts is determined completely by the collection of series we start with and a collection of constants called Stokes constants. Garoufalidis–Gu–Mariño [27, 30] conjecture that the singularities in Borel plane are given by the difference between two Chern–Simons values divided by $2\pi i$ and that the series associated to two singularities differing by an integer times $2\pi i$ are the same up to the exponential singularity, which shifts by the same multiple of $2\pi i$. Similar statements were considered for some non-hyperbolic manifolds in [5, 17]. Therefore, the singular rays in Borel plane form a peacock pattern. The towers of singularities then all have the same asymptotic series but each contains the data of an integral Stokes constant. This is depicted in Figure 1 for the asymptotic series associated to the trivial connection $\Phi^{(\rho_0)}$ of the manifold $4_1(-1, 2)$.

Therefore, using the conjecture that the Borel resummation is a combination of state integrals along with the factorisation of state integrals [33, 34], we are led to the following conjecture.

Conjecture 1.7. Let M by a closed 3-manifold. Then there exists finite set of size r of flat $SL_2(\mathbb{C})$ -connections ρ with Chern-Simons values V_{ρ} such that

- the WRT invariant $(1-q) \coprod (M;q)$ and the $\widehat{Z}(M;q)$ invariants are part a vector of functions $\mathbf{Z}: \mathfrak{h} \cup \mathbb{Q} \cup \overline{\mathfrak{h}} \to \mathbb{C}^r$ indexed by ρ .
- there exists a matrix of Borel resummable asymptotic series $\widehat{\Phi}^{(\rho)}(M;\hbar)$ indexed by ρ with singularities in Borel plane given by $V_{\rho'} V_{\rho'}$ and exponential singularities $\exp(V_{\rho}/\hbar)$, which resum to a matrix of functions $s(\widehat{\Phi})(M;\hbar)$ analytic on some cut plane,
- for $\tau \in \mathfrak{h} \cup \mathbb{Q} \cup \overline{\mathfrak{h}}$ we have

$$\mathbf{Z}(-1/\tau) = s(\widehat{\Phi})(M; 2\pi \mathrm{i}/\tau) P_R(\mathbf{e}(\tau)) \mathbf{Z}(\tau),$$

where $P_R(q)$ is an invertible matrix of Laurent polynomials in q and R denotes the cone in which $\arg(\tau)$ is between the argument of two adjacent singularities.

This conjecture contains three parts: extension, resurgence, and modularity. The extension refers to the existence of an extension of the quantum invariants to a vector of functions from the complex numbers excluding the irrational reals [41, 42]. The resurgence refers to the conjectures of [27, 30] on the resurgence structure of the quantum invariants. The modularity then describes how this theory is related when we have a small and large quantum parameter analogous to \hbar [41, 42, 81]. These three aspects could all be phrased independently however their interplay leads to the best depth of understanding.



Figure 1. Picture of the Borel plane labelled by the Stokes constants for the asymptotic series $\Phi^{(\rho_0)}$ associated to the trivial connection. The points are located at $\frac{V_{\rho_1}}{2\pi i} + (2\pi i)\mathbb{Z}, \frac{V_{\rho_2}}{2\pi i} + (2\pi i)\mathbb{Z}, \frac{V_{\rho_3}}{2\pi i} + (2\pi i)\mathbb{Z}, \frac{V_{\rho_3}}{2\pi i} + (2\pi i)\mathbb{Z}, \frac{V_{\rho_4}}{2\pi i} + (2\pi i)\mathbb{Z}, \frac{V_{\rho_5}}{2\pi i} + (2\pi i)\mathbb{Z}, \frac{V_{\rho_7}}{2\pi i} + (2\pi i)\mathbb{Z}, \frac{V_{\rho_7}}$

Conjecture 1.7 recovers all of the previous conjectures stated throughout the introduction with some additional properties of the function \mathbb{Z} . The leading order asymptotics of this conjecture when $\tau \in \mathbb{Z}$ recover Witten's conjecture assuming that $\mathbb{Z}^{(\rho)}(\mathbb{Z})$ vanish for all connections ρ with $\operatorname{Im}(V_{\rho}) \geq 0$ that are not valued in SU(2). Similarly, Chen–Yang's conjecture follows from the conjecture assuming that for the geometric connection $\mathbb{Z}^{(\rho_{\text{geo}})}(\frac{1}{2} + \mathbb{Z}) \neq 0$. The quantum modularity conjectures follow noting that the geometric connection gives the largest possible contribution when $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$. Even this conjecture can be extended. Indeed, in the factorisation of state integrals [33, 34] these kind of statements can be lifted to matrix equations as was emphasised in [41, 42]. This lift to a matrix equation was utilised in [31, 30, 32] to calculate Stokes constants associated to the asymptotic series of Conjecture 1.7. In the case of $4_1(-1, 2)$, we utilise the same methods to conjecturally compute the generating series of Stokes constants. If $s(\hat{\Phi}^{(\rho_i)})(2\pi i/\tau)$ is the Borel resummation of $\hat{\Phi}^{(\rho_i)}$ then as the argument crosses $\frac{V_{\rho_j} - V_{\rho_i}}{2\pi i} + 2\pi i k$ it is conjectured that the series jumps by the addition of an integer constant times $q^k s(\Phi^{(\rho_j)})(2\pi i/\tau)$. These constants can be stored¹ in a matrix of q-series with entries given by

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{S}_{+}^{(\rho_i,\rho_j)}(q) &= \sum_{k: \ \mathrm{Re}\left(\frac{\mathrm{V}_{\rho_j} - \mathrm{V}_{\rho_i}}{4\pi^2}\right) + k > 0} \mathsf{S}_{k}^{(\rho_i,\rho_j)} q^k, \\ \mathsf{S}_{-}^{(\rho_i,\rho_j)}(q) &= \sum_{k: \ \mathrm{Re}\left(\frac{\mathrm{V}_{\rho_j} - \mathrm{V}_{\rho_i}}{4\pi^2}\right) + k < 0} \mathsf{S}_{k}^{(\rho_i,\rho_j)} q^{-k}. \end{split}$$

These generating series do not collect Stokes constants on the real line but as a pair see all others. Then using the techniques introduced in [30], we can find combinations of entries of $\mathbf{Z}(q)$ and $\mathbf{Z}(q)^{-1}$ conjecturally giving the matrices of Stokes constants. The second is closely related to $\mathbf{Z}(q^{-1})^t$. Therefore, we can express the matrices $S_{\pm}(q)$ as explicit combinations of the q-series of equation (4.12). In [30, Conjecture 2], an explicit conjecture for the generating series of the Stokes constants of the geometric connection with itself was given in terms of the 3d index of Dimofte–Gaiotto–Gukov [20]. A surgery formula for the 3d index was conjectured by Gang–Yonekura in [26] that gave a conjectural extension of the 3d index to closed manifolds. These conjectures seems to hold for this closed manifold and indeed one finds

$$\begin{split} 1 + \mathsf{S}^{(\rho_6,\rho_6)}_+(q) + \mathsf{O}\!\left(q^{10}\right) &= \mathcal{I}_{4_1(-1,2)}(q) + \mathsf{O}\!\left(q^{10}\right) \\ &= 1 - 2q - 3q^2 + 3q^4 + 10q^5 + 14q^6 + 22q^7 + 20q^8 + 14q^9 + \mathsf{O}\!\left(q^{10}\right), \end{split}$$

where ρ_6 is the geometric connection. For many more Stokes constants see Appendix D.2.

2 The manifold $4_1(-1,2)$

In this section, we will discuss some of the classical and quantum aspects of the manifold $4_1(-1, 2)$. In particular, we will study its $SL_2(\mathbb{C})$ character variety. We will then consider its associated \mathfrak{sl}_2 quantum invariant, that is, its WRT invariant. This will take the form of an element in the Habiro ring, which – in the weakest sense – is a function from roots of unity to \mathbb{C} . Finally, we will discuss a construction of q-series from the WRT invariant that matches q-series \widehat{Z} found by Gukov-Manolescu in [46].

2.1 The $SL_2(\mathbb{C})$ -character variety

The manifold $4_1(-1, 2)$ is a closed, hyperbolic, integer homology sphere of volume 1.398508884... To compute the various quantities associated with $4_1(-1, 2)$, we take the standard (for example [70]) two tetrahedral triangulation of 4_1 with shapes w_1 , w_2 and add an equation to fill in the cusp. The character variety of the figure eight knot consists of the component with trivial longitude and the geometric component (compare the appendix of [16] to the example [21, equation (4.20)]). All connections on $4_1(-1, 2)$ therefore come from either a point on the geometric component or the trivial connection. The geometric component is contained in the solutions

¹To explicitly extract what are usually called Stokes constants, one must factorise this matrix into unipotent matrices associated to each argument in the upper or lower half plane and take their logarithm. See Section 6.2.

to the gluing equations and therefore all connections beside the trivial connection come from solutions to the gluing equations.

This is implemented in SnapPy [18] and these equations can be computed using the code:

1 M=Manifold('4_1')
2 M.dehn_fill((-1,2))
3 M.gluing_equations(form='rect')
4 /*[([2, 2], [-1, -1], 1), ([-2, -2], [1, 1], 1), ([-1, 7], [0, -3], -1)]*/

Therefore, we find that

$$w_1^{-2}w_2^{-2}(1-w_1)(1-w_2) = 1, \qquad w_1^{-1}w_2^7(1-w_2)^{-3} = -1.$$

Take a change of variables

$$z_1 = w_1$$
 and $z_2 = (1 - w_2^{-1})^{-1}$.

The trace field F of $4_1(-1,2)$ is the number field of type [5,1] with discriminant -7215127 (a prime number), generated by a root of p(x), where

$$p(x) = x^7 - x^6 - 2x^5 + 6x^4 - 11x^3 + 6x^2 + 3x - 1.$$
(2.1)

The shape field is a quadratic extension of F generated by a root of pp(z), where

$$pp(z) = z^{14} + 2z^{13} + z^{12} - 4z^{10} - 8z^9 - 10z^8 - 13z^7 - 10z^6 - 8z^5 - 4z^4 + z^2 + 2z + 1.$$
(2.2)

If $p(\xi) = 0$, then the quadratic extension is given by the polynomial

$$x^{2} - (1 + 4\xi + 4\xi^{2} - 3\xi^{3} + \xi^{4} - \xi^{5} - \xi^{6})x + 1 = 0.$$

We find that for $pp(\psi) = 0$ the shapes are given by

$$z_{1} = 2\psi^{13} + 3\psi^{12} + \psi^{11} - 9\psi^{9} - 12\psi^{8} - 15\psi^{7} - 20\psi^{6} - 10\psi^{5} - 13\psi^{4} - \psi^{3} + \psi^{2} + 2\psi + 4,$$

$$z_{2} = -2\psi^{13} - 3\psi^{12} - \psi^{11} + 9\psi^{9} + 12\psi^{8} + 15\psi^{7} + 20\psi^{6} + 10\psi^{5} + 12\psi^{4} + \psi^{3} - 2\psi - 3.$$
(2.3)

These points come in seven pairs and correspond to points on the character variety and therefore give flat $SL_2(\mathbb{C})$ connections or representations in $Hom(\pi_1(4_1(-1,2)), SL_2(\mathbb{C}))/SL_2(\mathbb{C})$. Most of the points actually correspond to representations landing in a subgroup such as $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ or SU(2).

Each point on the character variety has a complex volume associated to it [61]. The geometric point on the character variety gives rise to the actual hyperbolic volume. To compute these volumes let R be the enhanced Rogers dilogarithm,

$$R(z, p, q) = \text{Li}_2(z) + \frac{1}{2}(\log(z) + 2\pi i p)(\log(1 - z) - 2\pi i q)$$

The set of complex volumes of $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ representations was given to me by S. Garoufalidis who received them from C. Zickert. There are 7 complex volumes and each has the form

$$\mathbf{V}_{\rho_j} = -R(z_1(\alpha_j), p_{1,j}, q_{1,j}) + R(z_2(\alpha_j), p_{2,j}, q_{2,j}),$$

where α_j for j = 1, ..., 14 are the roots of the polynomial of equation (2.2), z_1 and z_2 are given by (2.3), and the pairs $r_{i,j} := (p_{i,j}, q_{i,j})$ for i = 1, 2 and j = 1, ..., 7 are given in the following table.

j	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
$\operatorname{Re}(\alpha_j)$	0.477	0.156	0.616	-0.194	-0.424	-0.693	-0.693
$\operatorname{Im}(\alpha_j)$	0.879	0.988	0	0.981	0.906	0.0194	-0.0194
$r_{1,j}$	(0, 0)	(0,1)	(0, 0)	(0, 0)	(0, -1)	(0, 0)	(0, 0)
$r_{2,j}$	(-2, -3)	(0, 0)	(0, 0)	(1, 1)	(-1, -2)	(-1, -2)	(1, 2)

Besides the complex volumes, there is an important element of the trace field associated to each point on the character variety called the 1-loop invariant. This is related to the Reidermeister torsion and given in this example by

$$\delta = -12\xi^6 + 15\xi^5 + 31\xi^4 - 74\xi^3 + 133\xi^2 - 66\xi - 74,$$

where $p(\xi) = 0$ with p of equation (2.1). The seven complex volumes (modulo $(2\pi i)^2$) and 1-loop invariants with corresponding generator of an embedding of the trace field are given numerically by

$$\begin{split} & V_{\rho_1} = 20.297 \dots, & \delta_{\rho_1} = -11.578 \dots, \\ & \xi_{\rho_1} = -2.2411 \dots, \\ & V_{\rho_2} = -6.7857 \dots, & \delta_{\rho_2} = -12.636 \dots \\ & \xi_{\rho_2} = -0.43760 \dots, \\ & V_{\rho_3} = 39.362 \dots, \\ & V_{\rho_3} = 39.362 \dots, \\ & V_{\rho_4} = 9.2837 \dots, \\ & \xi_{\rho_4} = 1.3348 \dots, \\ & V_{\rho_5} = 2.1292 \dots, \\ & \xi_{\rho_5} = 1.3483 \dots, \\ & V_{\rho_6} = 4.8678 \dots - i1.3985 \dots, \\ & \xi_{\rho_6} = 0.36981 \dots - i1.4410 \dots, \\ & V_{\rho_7} = 4.8678 \dots + i1.3985 \dots, \\ & \xi_{\rho_7} = 0.36981 \dots + i1.4410 \dots \end{split}$$

In terms of representations, ρ_3 corresponds to an $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ representation as the corresponding roots of p and pp are real, while ρ_6 and ρ_7 are conjugate $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ representations as both the corresponding roots of p and pp are imaginary giving the geometric and anti-geometric connections respectively, which have $\operatorname{Re}(iV_{\rho_6}) = -\operatorname{Re}(iV_{\rho_7}) = \operatorname{Vol}(4_1(-1,2))$. The rest are all $\operatorname{SU}(2)$ representations as the corresponding roots of p are real but those of pp are imaginary. We will often denote ξ as the generator of the field defined by $p(\xi) = 0$ and use ρ_i when we specify an embedding into \mathbb{C} .

2.2 The WRT invariant

The WRT invariant [67] is given as a sum over the coloured Jones polynomial [52, 53, 66] of a framed link representing the three-manifold. In the case of $4_1(-1, 2)$, we have a nice formula for the coloured Jones polynomial of 4_1 and therefore it is best to use a surgery formula even if it is not integral surgery. This formula was given by Beliakova–Blanchet–Lê in [10] and they show that the WRT invariant – normalised by a factor of (1 - q) observed in [56] – of $4_1(-1, 2)$ is given as an element of Habiro ring by

$$\operatorname{III}(q) = \sum_{0 \le \ell \le k} \alpha_{k,\ell}(q) = \sum_{0 \le \ell \le k} (-1)^k q^{-\frac{1}{2}k(k+1) + \ell(\ell+1)} \frac{(q;q)_{2k+1}}{(q;q)_\ell(q;q)_{k-\ell}}.$$
(2.4)

This formula will be our starting point. As this is an element of the Habiro ring, we can formally evaluate at $q = e^{\hbar}$ so that

$$\operatorname{III}(e^{\hbar}) = -\hbar - \frac{25}{2}\hbar^2 - \frac{1621}{6}\hbar^3 - \frac{195601}{24}\hbar^4 - \frac{37907101}{120}\hbar^5 + \cdots$$

Using this normalisation of the WRT invariant, which matches some of the conventions used in [56], we note that

$$\mathrm{III}(1) = 0.$$

This is of absolutely fundamental importance for relating various conjectures [14, 75] on the asymptotics of WRT invariants as described in Section 3.1 and we will come back to it later. The *q*-hypergeometric expression (2.4) has a natural *q*-holonomic module associated to it generated by

$$III_{m,n}(q) = \sum_{0 \le \ell \le k} \alpha_{k,\ell}(q) q^{mk+n\ell} = \sum_{0 \le \ell \le k} (-1)^k q^{-\frac{1}{2}k(k+1) + \ell(\ell+1) + mk+n\ell} \frac{(q;q)_{2k+1}}{(q;q)_\ell(q;q)_{k-\ell}}.$$

Noting that

$$(1 - q^{k+1-\ell})\alpha_{k+1,\ell}(q) = -q^{-k-1}(1 - q^{2k+2})(1 - q^{2k+3})\alpha_{k,\ell}(q), (1 - q^{\ell+1})\alpha_{k,\ell+1}(q) = q^{2\ell+2}(1 - q^{k-\ell})\alpha_{k,\ell}(q),$$
(2.5)

we can sum both sides to determine relations between $\coprod_{m,n}(q)$ for various m, n. This q-holonomic module is rank eight. The dependence on m is of most interest and using standard q-holonomic techniques it is not hard to show that

$$q^{2m+2} III_{m,n}(q) + (q^{m+1} + q^{m+2}) III_{m+1,n}(q) + (-q^{2m+4} - q^{2m+5} - q^{2m+6} - q^{2m+7} - q^{m+2} + 1) III_{m+2,n}(q) + (q^{n+m+3} - q^{m+3} - 2q^{m+4} - q^{m+5} - 1) III_{m+3,n}(q) + (q^{2m+7} + q^{2m+8} + 2q^{2m+9} + q^{2m+10} + q^{2m+11} + q^{m+4} + q^{m+5}) III_{m+4,n}(q) + (-q^{n+m+5} - q^{n+m+6}q^{m+6} + q^{m+7}) III_{m+5,n}(q) + (-q^{2m+11} - q^{2m+12} - q^{2m+13} - q^{2m+14} - q^{m+7}) III_{m+6,n}(q) + q^{n+m+8} III_{m+7,n}(q) + q^{2m+16} III_{m+8,n}(q) = 0.$$
(2.6)

Taking the classical limit $(q \to 1, q^m \to 1, \coprod_{m+j,n}(q) \to z^j)$ of the above equation gives a polynomial equation

$$z^{8} + z^{7} - 5z^{6} + 8z^{4} - 4z^{3} - 4z^{2} + 2z + 1$$

= $(z - 1)(z^{7} + 2z^{6} - 3z^{5} - 3z^{4} + 5z^{3} + z^{2} - 3z - 1) = 0.$

The field defined by the degree 7 polynomial is of course the trace field of $4_1(-1,2)$ indeed $7\xi^6 + 2\xi^5 - 11\xi^4 + 28\xi^3 - 42\xi^2 - 10\xi + 6$ with $p(\xi) = 0$ is a solution. This factorisation could suggest a refinement of this equation. One can in fact show that

$$q^{2m+2} III_{m,n}(q) + (q^{2m+4} + q^{m+1} + q^{m+2}) III_{m+1,n}(q) + (-q^{2m+7} - q^{2m+5} - q^{2m+4} + q^{m+3} + 1) III_{m+2,n}(q) + (-q^{2m+9} - q^{2m+7} - q^{2m+6} + q^{m+n+3} - q^{m+5} - q^{m+4} - q^{m+3}) III_{m+3,n}(q) + (q^{2m+10} + q^{2m+9} + q^{2m+7} + q^{m+n+4} - q^{m+6}) III_{m+4,n}(q)$$

$$+ (q^{2m+12} + q^{2m+11} + q^{2m+9} - q^{m+n+6} + q^{m+6}) \amalg_{m+5,n}(q) + (-q^{2m+12} - q^{m+n+7}) \amalg_{m+6,n}(q) - q^{2m+14} \amalg_{m+7,n}(q) = (1-q).$$

These q-difference equations are related to those constructed in [73, Theorem 1] and come from this particular surgery presentation of the manifold. The vector space associated to closed manifolds – which was shown to be an invariant – is then expected to agree with the module coming from skein theory of [37]. There it has been shown that the module for $4_1(-1, 2)$ has rank at most eight and using Theorem 4.1 we can show that it has rank exactly eight as mentioned in [37, Example 3.3].

Proposition 2.1. The $\mathbb{Q}(q)$ -vector space $\operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{Q}(q)}{\{\operatorname{III}_{m,n} \mid m, n \in \mathbb{Z}\}}$ has dimension eight.

Proof. Firstly, using the q-holonomic relations, we can show that $\text{Span}_{\mathbb{Q}(q)}\{\text{III}_{m,n} \mid m, n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ is equal to $\text{Span}_{\mathbb{Q}(q)}\{\text{III}_{m,0} \mid m \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ and that this has dimension at most eight. Then using a simple extension of the asymptotics of Theorem 4.1 to the case $\text{III}_{m,0}(q)$ one can show that $\text{III}_{m,0}(q)/\text{III}_{0,0}(q) \to z^m$ as $q \to 1$ where $q = \mathbf{e}(1/(n + 1/2))$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ say and where z makes the order seven polynomial factor of equation (2.2) vanish. Therefore, the leading asymptotics span at least a seven dimensional space and give rise to a q-holonomic module, which is just the homogeneous part of equation (2.2). If $\text{III}_{m,0}(q)$ for $m = 0, \ldots, 7$ satisfy a relation then the leading asymptotics must. This relation must therefore be a multiple of the homogeneous part of equation (2.2). However, the WRT invariant satisfies the inhomogeneous version and therefore $\text{III}_{m,0}(q)$ for $m = 0, \ldots, 7$ cannot satisfy a homogeneous equation. Therefore, the dimension is at least eight.

2.3 The \widehat{Z} series

In [46], Gukov and Manolescu give a construction of a two variable series associated to knot complements. This two variable series has variables x and q where |q| < 1 is the variable replacing roots of unity and x behaves like $x = q^N$, where N represents the colour of the coloured Jones polynomial [52, 66]. This series is computed by solving the \hat{A} -polynomial associated to the knot as a q-series and choosing initial conditions coming from the expansion of the coloured Jones polynomial [7, 58, 68]. Using this two variable series, Gukov and Manolescu propose a surgery formula similar to [10], which conjecturally leads to invariants of closed three-manifolds. For $4_1(-1, 2)$, they compute [46, Table 10],

$$\widehat{Z}(q) = -q^{1/2} \left(1 - q + 2q^3 - 2q^6 + q^9 + 3q^{10} + q^{11} - q^{14} - 3q^{15} + \cdots \right).$$
(2.7)

This q-series will be seen to come from the specialisation of a solution of the q-difference equation (2.6) associated to the WRT invariant of $4_1(-1,2)$. Indeed, it is a natural q-series that pairs with $\operatorname{III}(q)$. In particular, consider α from equation (2.4) as a function

$$\alpha: \ \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{Q}(q) \qquad \text{s.t.} \qquad \alpha_{k,\ell}(q) = \begin{cases} \frac{(-1)^k q^{-\frac{1}{2}k(k+1) + \ell(\ell+1)}(q;q)_{2k+1}}{(q;q)_{\ell}(q;q)_{k-\ell}} & \text{if } 0 \le \ell \le k, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Equations (2.5) still hold for α with this extended domain. Moreover, equations (2.5) completely determine the module. Therefore, it is natural to ask whether there is another solution to equations (2.5). Indeed, there is another solution given by

$$\beta: \ \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{Q}(q)$$

s.t.
$$\beta_{k,\ell}(q) = \begin{cases} \frac{(-1)^{k+\ell} q^{\frac{1}{2}3k(k+1) + \frac{1}{2}\ell(\ell+1) + k+1}(q;q)_{-\ell-1}}{(q;q)_{-2k-2}(q;q)_{k-\ell}} & \text{if } \ell \le k \le -1\\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

For positive $0 \le k \le \ell$, we have

$$\beta_{-k-1,-\ell-1}(q) = (-1)^{k+\ell} q^{\frac{1}{2}3k(k+1) + \frac{1}{2}\ell(\ell+1) - k} \frac{(q;q)_{\ell}}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{\ell-k}}.$$

We see that the sum of these terms is convergent when |q| < 1. Indeed, we find that

$$Z_{0,0}(q) = \sum_{k,\ell\in\mathbb{Z}} \beta_{k,\ell}(q) = \sum_{0\le k\le\ell} (-1)^{k+\ell} q^{\frac{1}{2}3k(k+1)+\frac{1}{2}\ell(\ell+1)-k} \frac{(q;q)_{\ell}}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{\ell-k}}$$
$$= 1 - q + 2q^3 - 2q^6 + q^9 + 3q^{10} + q^{11} - q^{14} - 3q^{15} + \cdots$$
(2.8)

We will define more generally

$$Z_{m,n}(q) = \sum_{k,\ell\in\mathbb{Z}} \beta_{k,\ell}(q) q^{mk+n\ell}$$

=
$$\sum_{0\le k\le\ell} (-1)^{k+\ell} q^{\frac{1}{2}3k(k+1)+\frac{1}{2}\ell(\ell+1)-(m+1)k-m-n\ell-n} \frac{(q;q)_{\ell}}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{\ell-k}}.$$

We see that up to a factor of $-q^{1/2}$, this is the \widehat{Z} -series associated to $4_1(-1,2)$ [46] given in equation (2.7). We can use a formula for the two variable series of Gukov-Manolescu found by Park [32, 65] to prove the equality. Indeed, following the notation of [46, 65], we have

$$\Xi_{4_1}(x;q) = \left(x^{1/2} - x^{-1/2}\right) \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-1)^k \frac{q^{k(k+1)/2}}{(x;q)_{k+1}(x^{-1};q)_{k+1}}$$
$$= \sum_{k,j,\ell=0}^{\infty} \left(x^{k+j+\ell+1/2} - x^{k+j+\ell+3/2}\right) \binom{k+j}{j}_q \binom{k+\ell}{\ell}_{q^{-1}},$$

and so

$$F_{4_1}(x;q) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\Xi(x,q) - \Xi(x^{-1},q) \right),$$

= $\frac{1}{2} \sum_{k,j,\ell=0}^{\infty} \left(x^{k+j+\ell+1/2} - x^{k+j+\ell+3/2} - x^{-k-j-\ell-1/2} + x^{-k-j-\ell-3/2} \right)$
 $\times \left(\binom{k+j}{j}_q \binom{k+\ell}{\ell}_{q^{-1}} \right).$

Then, using the surgery formula in [46], where for $\mathcal{L}_{-1/2}^{(0)}(x^u q^v) = q^{2u^2+v}$

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{Z}(q) &= q^{3/8} \mathcal{L}_{-1/2}^{(0)} F_{4_1}(x;q) \\ &= q^{3/8} \sum_{k,j,\ell=0}^{\infty} \left(q^{2(k+j+\ell+3/4)^2} - q^{2(k+j+\ell+7/4)^2} - q^{2(k+j+\ell+1/4)^2} + q^{2(k+j+\ell+5/4)^2} \right) \\ &\times \left(\binom{k+j}{j}_q \binom{k+\ell}{\ell}_{q^{-1}} \right) \\ &= -q^{1/2} \left(1 - q + 2q^3 - 2q^6 + q^9 + 3q^{10} + q^{11} - q^{14} - 3q^{15} + \cdots \right). \end{aligned}$$

Proposition 2.2. Let

$$\widehat{Z}_m(q) = q^{3/8} \sum_{k,j,\ell=0}^{\infty} \left(q^{2(k+j+\ell+3/4)^2} - q^{2(k+j+\ell+7/4)^2} - q^{2(k+j+\ell+1/4)^2} + q^{2(k+j+\ell+5/4)^2} \right)$$

$$\times \binom{k+j}{j}_q \binom{k+\ell}{\ell}_{q^{-1}} q^{-mk-m}.$$

We have the following identity:

$$\widehat{Z}_m(q) = -q^{1/2} Z_{m,0}(q),$$
 in particular, $\widehat{Z}(q) = -q^{1/2} Z_{0,0}(q).$

Proof. One can show using holonomic function techniques [74] that \widehat{Z}_m satisfies the q-difference equation (2.6) with n = 0. Therefore, as both are power series in q^{-m} and the q-difference equations are second order in q^m , if the coefficients of q^{-m} and q^{-2m} agree this proves the result. The first of these equalities is given by

$$-q^{-1/8}\sum_{j,\ell=0}^{\infty} \left(q^{2(j+\ell+3/4)^2} - q^{2(j+\ell+7/4)^2} - q^{2(-j-\ell-1/4)^2} + q^{2(-j-\ell-5/4)^2}\right) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^j q^{j(j+1)/2},$$

which can be proved by direct computation and similarly for the second.

3 Asymptotics

Recently, volume conjectures have been introduced for quantum invariants of closed hyperbolic three-manifolds [14]. Moreover, Witten's asymptotic expansion conjecture [75] states that the WRT invariant should be expressed as a sum of oscillating asymptotic series of polynomial growth. As in the case of knots, these conjectures have been proved for some families of hyperbolic closed 3-manifolds [13, 63] including our example of interest $4_1(-1, 2)$ but remain open in general. On the other hand, the \hat{Z} invariants predicted in [46, 49] had conjectural radial limits to WRT invariants. We will study the asymptotics of both of these invariants and see that they are related by quantum modularity. This will extend the volume conjecture for WRT invariants. For the q-series, it will in fact give a counterexample to the conjectured radial limits and provide a reformulation consistent with the previous examples.

3.1 Volume conjectures and asymptotic series

To get a feeling for the behaviour of the WRT invariant, it is best to simply compute. Consider the following values of the WRT invariant:

$$\begin{split} & \mathrm{III}\left(\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{1000}\right)\right) = -6.3258\ldots + 14.804\ldots \mathbf{i}, \\ & \mathrm{III}\left(\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{1000+1/2}\right)\right) = (1.6433\ldots + 0.067579\ldots \mathbf{i}) \times 10^{98}, \\ & \mathrm{III}\left(\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{1000+1/3}\right)\right) = (1.0551\ldots + 0.87759\ldots \mathbf{i}) \times 10^{98}. \end{split}$$

The immediate observation is the order of magnitude shift. The behaviour of the first two values is expected from Witten's asymptotic expansion conjecture [75] and Chen-Yang's volume conjecture for WRT invariants [14]. The third value is predicted from a generalisation of the second. Indeed, notice that

$$\operatorname{III}\left(\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{1000+1/2}\right)\right)\mathbf{e}\left(-\frac{V_{\rho_{7}}}{(2\pi\mathrm{i})^{2}}(1000+1/2)\right) = -22.044\ldots + 22.943\ldots\mathrm{i},$$
$$\operatorname{III}\left(\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{1000+1/3}\right)\right)\mathbf{e}\left(-\frac{V_{\rho_{7}}}{(2\pi\mathrm{i})^{2}}(1000+1/3)\right) = -26.465\ldots + 7.6613\ldots\mathrm{i}.$$

More generally, we have the following observation which is in fact a theorem.²

²See Theorem 4.1 and its proof in Section 4.2 for a proof of a stronger statement.

Theorem 3.1. For $r \in \mathbb{Q} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$, we have

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{\log\left(\operatorname{III}\left(\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{k+r}\right)\right)\mathbf{e}\left(-\frac{V_{\rho_{7}}}{(2\pi \mathrm{i})^{2}}(k+r)\right)\right)}{k+r} = 0.$$

This theorem is a slight generalisation of the Chen–Yang volume conjecture [14]. However, as in [63], we can go further and find a full asymptotic expansion. Indeed, numerically (using extrapolation methods described for example in [44, 73, 79]) one finds that there is some $X(r) \in \mathbb{Z}[\mathbf{e}(-r)]$ such that³

$$\operatorname{III}\left(\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{k+r}\right)\right) \sim X(r)\,\mathbf{e}(3/8)\,\sqrt{k+r}\,\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{V_{\rho_{7}}}{(2\pi\mathrm{i})^{2}}(k+r)\right)\Phi^{(\rho_{7})}\left(\frac{2\pi\mathrm{i}}{k+r}\right),\tag{3.1}$$

where

$$\Phi^{(\rho_7)}(\hbar) = a_0^{\rho_7} + a_1^{\rho_7}\hbar + a_2^{\rho_7}\hbar^2 + \dots = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\delta_{\rho_7}}} \left(1 + A_1^{\rho_7}\hbar + A_2^{\rho_7}\hbar^2 + \dots \right)$$

is a factorially divergent series with $A_i \in F$. The first two values A_i (for more see Appendix D) are given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} 24\delta_{\rho_{7}}^{3}A_{1}^{\rho_{7}}\\ 1152\delta_{\rho_{7}}^{6}A_{2}^{\rho_{7}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1497746 & 3014838521575\\ 1345119 & 2732414541176\\ -3675733 & -7414786842283\\ 2082815 & 4197826806919\\ -839488 & -1690529009777\\ -283405 & -574198051621\\ 383432 & 771765277669 \end{pmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\\xi_{7}\\\xi_{7}^{2}\\\xi_{7}^{3}\\\xi_{7}^{4}\\\xi_{7}^{5}\\\xi_{7}^{6} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} -158.75 \dots - i57.225 \dots\\ 84862 \dots + i924.76 \dots \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.2)

Indeed, X(1/2) = 2 and for $x = \frac{2\pi i}{1000+1/2}$

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathrm{III}(\exp(x))| &= 1.6447 \dots \times 10^{98}, \\ |\mathrm{III}(\exp(x)) - 2\mathbf{e}(3/8)\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{\mathcal{V}_{\rho_{7}}}{2\pi\mathrm{i}x}\right)\sqrt{\frac{2\pi\mathrm{i}}{\delta_{\rho_{7}}x}} \Big| &= 1.1735 \dots \times 10^{95}, \\ |\mathrm{III}(\exp(x)) - 2\mathbf{e}(3/8)\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{\mathcal{V}_{\rho_{7}}}{2\pi\mathrm{i}x}\right)\sqrt{\frac{2\pi\mathrm{i}}{\delta_{\rho_{7}}x}}(1 + A_{1}^{\rho_{7}}x) \Big| &= 1.2530 \dots \times 10^{92}, \\ |\mathrm{III}(\exp(x)) - 2\mathbf{e}(3/8)\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{\mathcal{V}_{\rho_{7}}}{2\pi\mathrm{i}x}\right)\sqrt{\frac{2\pi\mathrm{i}}{\delta_{\rho_{7}}x}}(1 + A_{1}^{\rho_{7}}x + A_{2}^{\rho_{7}}x^{2}) \Big| &= 3.9674 \dots \times 10^{89}. \end{aligned}$$

We will explore the function X(r) in Section 4.1. However, those familiar with [81] will surely guess what the function is. The numbers A_i can be computed from a formal Gaussian integration [25], which is obtained from a conjectural surgery formula of the series discussed in [21]. Although these agree for this example, their topological invariance has not been established. The invariance of the series in [21] for knots was only recently proved in [38]. Recall the notation of [38],

$$\psi_{\hbar}(x,z) := \exp\left(-\sum_{\substack{k,\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} \\ k+\frac{\ell}{2} > 1}} \frac{B_k x^{\ell} \hbar^{k+\frac{\ell}{2}-1}}{\ell! k!} \operatorname{Li}_{2-k-\ell}(z)\right) \in 1 + \hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathbb{Q}\left[z, (1-z)^{-1}\right] [x] \left[\!\left[\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}}\right]\!\right],$$

³We take $x_n \sim C^n n^d (A_0 + A_1 n^{-1} + A_2 n^{-2} + \cdots)$ when $C^{-n} n^{-d} x_n - \sum_{k=0}^K A_k n^{-k} = o(n^K)$ for all K.

where $B_k = B_k(0)$ are the Bernoulli numbers and for $f_{\hbar}(x,z) \in \mathbb{Q}(z)[x] \llbracket \hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \rrbracket$

$$\begin{split} \langle f_{\hbar}(x,z) \rangle_{x,\Lambda} &:= \left. \exp\left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} \left(\Lambda^{-1}\right)_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}}\right) f_{\hbar}(x,z) \right|_{x=0} \\ &= \left. \frac{\int e^{-\frac{1}{2}x^{t}\Lambda x} f_{\hbar,z}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x}{\int e^{-\frac{1}{2}x^{t}\Lambda x} \, \mathrm{d}x} \in \mathbb{Q}(z) \llbracket \hbar \rrbracket. \end{split}$$

Using this, we can define⁴ for each embedding of the trace field ρ_1, \ldots, ρ_7 and corresponding solutions (3.5) to equations (3.4)

$$\begin{split} \Phi_m^{(\rho_j)}(\hbar) &:= z_j^m \frac{\exp(-m\hbar)}{\sqrt{\delta_{\rho_j}}} \langle \exp\left(-mx_1\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} + x_2\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \psi_\hbar(2x_1, X_{1,j}^2) \psi_\hbar(x_2, X_{2,j}) \\ & \times \psi_\hbar\left(-x_1 + x_2, X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}\right) \rangle_{(x_1, x_2), \Lambda}, \\ \Lambda &= \begin{pmatrix} -2 + 2\operatorname{Li}_0(X_{1,j}^2) + \operatorname{Li}_0(X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}) & -1 - \operatorname{Li}_0(X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}) \\ -1 - \operatorname{Li}_0(X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}) & \operatorname{Li}_0(X_{2,j}) + \operatorname{Li}_0(X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}) \end{pmatrix}. \end{split}$$

This corresponds to formally applying the saddle point method to the integral of equation (5.1). We can also define

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{\Phi}_m^{(\rho_0)}(\hbar) &:= \mathrm{III}_{m,0}(\exp(\hbar)) \\ &= -\hbar - \frac{25}{2}\hbar^2 + \left(-12m - \frac{1621}{6}\right)\hbar^3 + \left(-6m^2 - 510m - \frac{195601}{24}\right)\hbar^4 + \cdots, \end{aligned}$$

and $V_{\rho_0} = 0$, the asymptotic series associated to the trivial connection ρ_0 . Using similar notation to [42], we can take extended formal power series

$$\widehat{\Phi}_m^{(\rho_j)}(\hbar) = \exp(\mathcal{V}_{\rho_j}/\hbar) \Phi_m^{(\rho_j)}(\hbar).$$

These extended series can be put into an 8×8 matrix indexed by m and ρ . This matrix gives a Wronskian solving the q-difference equation (2.6) when $q = e^{\hbar}$. To simplify notation, let

$$\widehat{\Phi}^{(\rho_j)}(\hbar) = \widehat{\Phi}_0^{(\rho_j)}(\hbar).$$

This collection of series is consistent with the conjectured arithmetic nature of perturbative quantum invariants for discrete character varieties [23, 27], which states that $\Phi^{(\rho_j)}$ for j > 0 are all Galois conjugates of $\Phi^{(\rho_7)}$. These calculations give us a way to find the asymptotics of the $\operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(1/k))$ using Galois conjugation. Indeed, as predicted by Witten's asymptotic expansion conjecture, we have the following theorem, which to leading order appeared in [13] while to all orders expected in upcoming work of [6].

Theorem 3.2 ([6, 13]). For $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ as $k \to \infty$,

$$\operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(1/k)) \sim \sum_{\rho \in \{\rho_0, \rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_4, \rho_5\}} \mu_{\rho} k^{d_{\rho}} \widehat{\Phi}^{(\rho)}(2\pi \mathrm{i}/k),$$

where $d_{\rho_j} = 1/2$, $\mu_{\rho_j} = (-1)^j \mathbf{e}(-1/8)$ and $\Phi^{(\rho_j)}$ are the Galois conjugates of $\Phi^{(\rho_7)}$, and finally a term corresponding to the trivial connection on M, which has $d_{\rho_0} = 0$, $\mu_{\rho_0} = 1$.



Figure 2. Plots of the WRT invariant of $4_1(-1,2)$ against the first order approximation in Witten's asymptotic expansion conjecture where $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathbf{e}(x) = \exp(2\pi i x)$.

The comparison between the leading order and the series is given in Figure 2. Figure 2 seems to be a good match however the relative error is actually only a decimal or two. However, a more detailed numerical analysis can be applied. Indeed, we find that for $x = \frac{2\pi i}{1000}$,

$$\begin{split} |\mathrm{III}(\exp(x))| &= 16.099\dots, \\ \left|\mathrm{III}(\exp(x)) - \sum_{\rho \in \{\rho_0, \rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_4, \rho_5\}} \mu_\rho \left(\frac{2\pi \mathrm{i}}{x}\right)^{d_\rho} \exp\left(\frac{\mathrm{V}_\rho}{2\pi \mathrm{i}x}\right) a_0^\rho\right| &= 0.019710\dots, \\ \left|\mathrm{III}(\exp(x)) - \sum_{\rho \in \{\rho_0, \rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_4, \rho_5\}} \mu_\rho \left(\frac{2\pi \mathrm{i}}{x}\right)^{d_\rho} \exp\left(\frac{\mathrm{V}_\rho}{2\pi \mathrm{i}x}\right) \left(a_0^\rho + a_1^\rho x\right)\right| &= 0.00048434,\dots \\ \left|\mathrm{III}(\exp(x)) - \sum_{\rho \in \{\rho_0, \rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_4, \rho_5\}} \mu_\rho \left(\frac{2\pi \mathrm{i}}{x}\right)^{d_\rho} \exp\left(\frac{\mathrm{V}_\rho}{2\pi \mathrm{i}x}\right) \left(a_0^\rho + a_1^\rho x + a_2^\rho x^2\right)\right| &= 6.5311\dots \times 10^{-5}. \end{split}$$

The form of these volume conjectures make them seem closely related. We will find that this is indeed the case and the best description is through quantum modularity discussed in Section 4.

3.2 Behaviour of the coefficients

Using various extrapolation methods, I could compute around 110 coefficients of the asymptotic series as exact numbers. With these values, we can compute the asymptotics of the coefficients. These asymptotic series are expected to be resurgent [27] and are therefore expected to have very precise behaviour. This behaviour allows the use of optimal truncation and using this we can find the first few sub-leading terms. Numerically, we find that for $a_k^{\rho} = A_k^{\rho}/\sqrt{\delta_{\rho}}$

$$a_k^{\rho_j} \sim \sum_{i \neq j} \frac{M_{j,i}}{2\pi \mathrm{i}} \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \frac{\Gamma(k-\ell)}{(\mathrm{V}_{\rho_j} - \mathrm{V}_{\rho_i})^{k-\ell}} a_\ell^{\rho_i},$$

where

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} ? & ? & ? & 0 & ? & 1 & 1 \\ ? & ? & ? & ? & 0 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & ? & ? & ? & ? & 1 & 1 \\ ? & ? & ? & ? & 0 & -1 & -1 \\ ? & ? & ? & ? & 1 & 1 \\ ? & ? & ? & 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ ? & ? & 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

(3.3)

⁴There is an ambiguity of a sign due to the $\sqrt{\delta}$ but this can be chosen and then used consistently.

The question marks appear as these contributions are too small to see numerically with something like optimal truncation. These will be computed via a different approach in Section 6. We can perform a similar analysis to find that for the trivial connection

$$\operatorname{III}(e^{\hbar}) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k^{\rho_0} \hbar^k = -\hbar - \frac{25}{2} \hbar^2 - \frac{1621}{6} \hbar^3 - \frac{195601}{24} \hbar^4 + \cdots,$$

and numerically we observe that

$$a_k^{\rho_0} \sim \sum_{i=1}^7 \frac{M_{0,i}}{\sqrt{-2\pi}} \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \frac{\Gamma(k-\ell+1/2)}{(0-V_i)^{k-\ell+1/2}} a_\ell^{\rho_i},$$

where

$$M_{0,\cdot} = \begin{pmatrix} ? & ? & -1 & ? & 0 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The leading order of this expansion was noticed originally by S. Garoufalidis in a note he gave me when I started work on this subject. These asymptotics illustrate the well-known lack of symmetry where the trivial connection sees the others connections while the others do not see the trivial.⁵

As predicted by resurgence [27], we see that the Borel transform of these series appears to be convergent with radius of convergence given by the difference between two volumes. Taking Padé approximants along with these asymptotics then seem to give rise to functions with endless analytic continuation.

3.3 The constant terms at all roots of unity

As advocated in [22, 41, 42, 81], we can in fact extract more information. In particular, we get asymptotic series at each root of unity. These asymptotic series can be analogously computed using Gaussian integration. However, we will not deal with detailed analysis of these coefficients to large order and they are expected to behave much in the same way as the coefficients for the series associated to q = 1. However, we will be interested in the constants of these asymptotics series. These are constructed in a similar way to those in [42]. We use the solutions to

$$0 = (1 - X_2) (1 - X_1^{-1} X_2) - X_1,$$

$$0 = (1 - X_1^2)^2 - X_1^2 X_2 (1 - X_1^{-1} X_2).$$
(3.4)

These have solutions with respect to our generator of the trace field

$$X_{1,j} = -3 + 11\xi_{\rho_j} + 20\xi_{\rho_j}^2 - 15\xi_{\rho_j}^3 + 6\xi_{\rho_j}^4 - 2\xi_{\rho_j}^5 - 4\xi_{\rho_j}^6,$$

$$X_{2,j} = -9 + 19\xi_{\rho_j} + 76\xi_{\rho_j}^2 - 52\xi_{\rho_j}^3 + 20\xi_{\rho_j}^4 - 4\xi_{\rho_j}^5 - 13\xi_{\rho_j}^6.$$
(3.5)

Then letting

$$\Delta = -257 + 806\xi + 947\xi^2 - 749\xi^3 + 331\xi^4 - 133\xi^5 - 213\xi^6, \tag{3.6}$$

the constants of the asymptotic series can be computed (or here defined) for $\zeta = \mathbf{e}(N/M)$ and $j = 1, \ldots, 7$ as follows:

$$\Phi_{N/M,m}^{(\rho_j)}(0) := \frac{-\mathrm{i}}{M\varepsilon(\zeta)} \frac{\left(1 - X_{1,j}^2\right)^{3/2} (1 - X_{2,j}) \left(1 - X_{1,j}^{-1} X_{2,j}\right)}{\sqrt{\Delta} D_{\zeta}(X_{2,j}) D_{\zeta}(X_{1,j}^2) D_{\zeta}(X_{1,j}^{-1} X_{2,j})}$$

⁵This is not surprising from the perspective of the q-holonomic modules where the non-trivial series actually give rise to a rank seven q-holonomic module and the trivial is an inhomogeneous extension.

$$\times \sum_{k,\ell \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}} \frac{\zeta^{k^2 + k\ell - mk + \ell} X_1^{\frac{2k + \ell - m}{M}} X_{2,j}^{\frac{k+1}{M}}}{(\zeta X_{2,j}^{1/M}; \zeta)_{\ell} (\zeta X_{1,j}^{2/M}; \zeta)_{2k} (\zeta X_{1,j}^{-1/M} X_{2,j}^{1/M}; \zeta)_{\ell - k}},$$
(3.7)

where

$$\varepsilon(\zeta) = \sqrt{-\mathrm{i}} \prod_{\ell=1}^{\mathrm{ord}(\zeta)-1} (1-\zeta^{\ell})^{\frac{1}{2}-\frac{\ell}{\mathrm{ord}(\zeta)}} \quad \text{and} \quad D_{\zeta}(x) = \prod_{j=1}^{\mathrm{ord}(\zeta)} (1-\zeta^{j}x)^{\frac{j}{\mathrm{ord}(\zeta)}-\frac{1}{2}}$$

is the multiplier system of the Dedekind η -function and the cyclic dilogarithm respectively. Then we can check the asymptotics of these coefficients to find they behave in the same way as those of the WRT invariant shown in equation (3.1),

$$\Phi_{-1/x,m}^{(\rho_j)}(0) \sim \mathbf{e} \left(-\frac{\mathbf{V}_{\rho_j}}{(2\pi \mathbf{i})^2 \mathrm{denom}(x) \mathrm{numer}(x)} \right) X^{(\rho_j)}(x) \widehat{\Phi}_{0,m}^{(\rho_6)} \left(-\frac{2\pi \mathbf{i}}{x} \right), \tag{3.8}$$

for some periodic functions $X^{(\rho_j)}(x) = X^{(\rho_j)}(x+1)$. In this case, those familiar with [42] will already guess what these functions are while others will have to wait for Section 4.4.

3.4 Radial asymptotics of \widehat{Z}

Based on extensive examples for non-hyperbolic manifolds [15, 46, 49, 51, 56], it has been conjectured that there should exist q-series invariants of closed manifolds referred to as \hat{Z} and that their radial asymptotics at roots of unity should recover the WRT invariant of the same manifold [46]. This asymptotic equivalence property does no uniquely define the q-series as there can of course be lower order corrections. An important point to note is that for non-hyperbolic manifolds all of the Chern–Simons values or complixified volumes at flat connections are real numbers. Therefore, radial asymptotics also determine the asymptotics on angles. This is not the case for manifolds with hyperbolic pieces and therefore we could expect new phenomenon. This appears already for the example $4_1(-1, 2)$. For $4_1(-1, 2)$, we saw in Proposition 2.2 that up to a factor of $-q^{1/2}$ the series $\hat{Z}(q)$ is given by

$$Z_{0,0}(q) = \sum_{0 \le k \le \ell} (-1)^{k+\ell} q^{\frac{1}{2}3k(k+1) + \frac{1}{2}\ell(\ell+1) - k} \frac{(q;q)_{\ell}}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{\ell-k}}$$

We can apply similar methods used later in Section 4.2 and the outline of the proof of Theorem 4.5 to compute the radial asymptotics of $\widehat{Z}(q)$, that is the asymptotics for $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ as $\tau \to 0$. Doing this, we find the following theorem.⁶

Theorem 3.3. For $\tau \to i\infty$ with $\tau \in i\mathbb{R}$ and $\tilde{q} = \mathbf{e}(-1/\tau)$ and $q = \mathbf{e}(\tau)$, we have

$$Z_{0,0}(\tilde{q}) \sim \mathbf{e}(3/8) \sqrt{\frac{\tau}{\delta_{\rho_3}}} \mathbf{e}\left(\frac{\mathbf{V}_{\rho_3} - 4\pi^2}{(2\pi \mathbf{i})^2}\tau\right) \Phi^{(\rho_3)}\left(\frac{2\pi \mathbf{i}}{\tau}\right).$$

Indeed, we can compare with some numerics and find

$$2\pi \frac{\log(Z_{0,0}(\mathbf{e}(10^{-7}\mathrm{i})))}{10^7} = 0.11620\dots, \qquad 4\pi^2 - \mathrm{V}_{\rho_3} = 0.11620\dots$$

We see that $1 = o\left(q^{-1}\mathbf{e}\left(-\frac{V_{\rho_3}}{(2\pi i)^2}\tau\right)\right)$ and therefore we cannot⁷ take the radial limit of \widehat{Z} .

⁶See Appendix B for an outline of the proof.

⁷This is known to some experts and while this was given in detail here, numerical observations were also noted and communicated to me by S. Gukov and M. Mariño.



Figure 3. Plots of the logarithm of the coefficients of \hat{Z} on the left and the error in the asymptotics on the right.

These asymptotics can be used to understand the asymptotics of the coefficients $\overline{Z}(q)$ as a q-series. Indeed, letting

$$Z_{0,0}(q) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n q^n$$

we can explore the behaviour of c_n . One can take the log of the first ten thousand coefficients and find behaviour like \sqrt{n} as seen on the left of Figure 3. This behaviour is expected for q-series with asymptotics at roots of unity of the shape of Theorem 3.3 and one can quickly find that

$$c_n \sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{-2\delta_{\rho_3}n}} \exp\left(2\sqrt{(4\pi^2 - V_{\rho_3})n}\right) \left(1 + O(n^{-1/2})\right),$$

as can be somewhat seen on the right of Figure 3. This kind of statement can be proved using the asymptotics of $Z_{0,0}(q)$ at roots of unity and the circle method of Hardy-Ramanujan. However, we won't give details here. For those interested, see, for example, [40, Theorem 6.1] or [24].

4 Quantum modularity

The volume conjecture of Kashaev [54], has been refined in many ways. One of the important refinements was the introduction of modularity [81]. Here the remarkable property was found that no matter how you approach a root of unity, quantum invariants will have the same asymptotic series however only after dividing by the same invariant evaluated at a root of unity obtained from a Möbius transformation. More recently, this was refined [42] to the point that conjectural analytic lifts of the asymptotic series were proposed and related to Borel resummation [30]. This is well understood for knots and we can transfer much of this into the case of closed manifolds.

4.1 Quantum modularity of the WRT invariant

The asymptotics of the Kashaev invariant of a knot are best understood via the quantum modularity conjecture [81]. Therefore, let us start in a similar manner to [81] and list of a few values of this not so mysterious function X(r) from equation (3.1). We have the following equalities:

$$X(1/2) = \operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(-1/2)) = 2,$$



Figure 4. Plots of the logarithm of the WRT invariant and its modular quotient for the first ten thousand rational numbers in (0, 1) and ordered by denominators.

$$X(1/3) = \operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(-1/3)) = 1 - \mathbf{e}(-1/3),$$

$$X(1/4) = \operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(-1/4)) = 1 - \mathbf{e}(-1/4),$$

$$X(1/5) = \operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(-1/5)) = 2 - \mathbf{e}(-1/5) + 2\mathbf{e}(-2/5) + 2\mathbf{e}(-3/5),$$

$$X(1/6) = \operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(-1/6)) = 1 - \mathbf{e}(-1/6),$$

$$X(1/7) = \operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(-1/7)) = 2 - 2\mathbf{e}(-1/7) - \mathbf{e}(-2/7) + \mathbf{e}(-3/7),$$

$$X(1/8) = \operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(-1/8)) = 3 - 3\mathbf{e}(-1/8).$$

This equality persists for r with larger denominator and in fact we have the following theorem.

Theorem 4.1. The WRT invariant for $4_1(-1, 2)$ is a quantum modular form in the sense of [81]. That is, for $r \in \mathbb{Q} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ as $k \to \infty$,

$$\operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(1/(k+r))) \sim \operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(-(k+r)))\mathbf{e}(3/8)\sqrt{\frac{k+r}{\delta_{\rho_7}}}\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{V_{\rho_7}}{(2\pi\mathrm{i})^2}(k+r)\right)\Phi^{(\rho_7)}\left(\frac{2\pi\mathrm{i}}{k+r}\right).$$

This theorem is proved in Section 4.2. To get a feeling for this result, we can form similar plots to those in [81]. These are given in Figure 4. Notice that compared with the plots in [81, Figures 3 and 4] the second is behaving much worse than one could potentially hope. This is related to the fact that the volume of 4_1 is larger than the volume of $4_1(-1,2)$. Notice that around x = 0 the plot becomes better behaved. With a more detailed plot it would become clear that the right plot is smooth from the left and right of each rational point while also being discontinuous at each rational. We will see that the refined modularity [42] discussed in Section 4.4 will give rise to functions that satisfy much better analytic properties and one can compare with Figure 6, which is a similar figure to that given in [42, Figures 1 and 2].

Notice that Theorem 4.1 actually extends to the case that $r \in \mathbb{Z}$. We know from Witten's asymptotic expansion conjecture that the left-hand side grows polynomially while the right-hand side vanishes as $\mathrm{III}(1) = 0$. Therefore, in the r = 0 case, Theorem 4.1 above states that the left-hand side is dominated by $\mathbf{e}(V_{\rho_7}/(2\pi i)^2 k)$. Already the form of Witten's asymptotic expansion conjecture and this link suggests that there could be an improvement to this result by including sub-exponential corrections.

Following [42], we can indeed develop a conjectural improvement of this result. To do this, we would like to turn the asymptotic series $\Phi^{(\rho)}$ into an analytic function. To do this we can use the sequence of Borel transformation, Padé approximation and Laplace transformation [12]. Let $s_{2N}(\Phi)$ be the Laplace transform of the [N/N] Padé approximate of the Borel transform. With 200 coefficients of $\Phi^{(\rho)}$ we can numerically compute to around order 10^{-40} at $2\pi i/100$. Indeed, the worst convergence is from $\Phi^{(\rho_0)}$ and the difference between the numerical values using 200 and 198 coefficients is

$$s_{200}(\Phi^{(\rho_0)})(2\pi i/100) - s_{198}(\Phi^{(\rho_0)})(2\pi i/100) = (4.8831\ldots + 3.0178\ldots i) \times 10^{-40}, \qquad (4.1)$$

which give a lower bound for the numerical error. Numerically it appears roughly that

$$\log |s_N(\Phi^{(\rho_0)})(2\pi i/100) - s_{500}(\Phi^{(\rho_0)})(2\pi i/100)| \sim -6.3\sqrt{N},\\ \log |s_N(\Phi^{(\rho_0)})(2\pi i/200) - s_{500}(\Phi^{(\rho_0)})(2\pi i/200)| \sim -8.8\sqrt{N}.$$

The values of the various numerical Borel–Padé–Laplace transforms are given by

$$\begin{split} s_{200} \left(\Phi^{(\rho_0)} \right) &(2\pi i/100) = 0.022362 \dots - 0.042136 \dots i, \\ \mathbf{e}(3/8) \sqrt{100} \exp \left(V_{\rho_1} 100/2\pi i \right) s_{200} \left(\Phi^{(\rho_1)} \right) (2\pi i/100) = -0.70748 \dots - 2.8524 \dots i, \\ \mathbf{e}(-1/8) \sqrt{100} \exp \left(V_{\rho_2} 100/2\pi i \right) s_{200} \left(\Phi^{(\rho_2)} \right) (2\pi i/100) = 1.0653 \dots - 2.6036 \dots i, \\ \mathbf{e}(3/8) \sqrt{100} \exp \left(V_{\rho_3} 100/2\pi i \right) s_{200} \left(\Phi^{(\rho_3)} \right) (2\pi i/100) = -0.95412 \dots + 0.53897 \dots i, \\ \mathbf{e}(-1/8) \sqrt{100} \exp \left(V_{\rho_4} 100/2\pi i \right) s_{200} \left(\Phi^{(\rho_4)} \right) (2\pi i/100) = 2.9304 \dots + 2.3781 \dots i, \\ \mathbf{e}(3/8) \sqrt{100} \exp \left(V_{\rho_5} 100/2\pi i \right) s_{200} \left(\Phi^{(\rho_5)} \right) (2\pi i/100) = -0.55386 \dots - 4.2697 \dots i, \\ \mathbf{e}(3/8) \sqrt{100} \exp \left(V_{\rho_6} 100/2\pi i \right) s_{200} \left(\Phi^{(\rho_6)} \right) (2\pi i/100) = (1.0359 \dots + 0.31226 \dots i) \times 10^{-9}, \\ \mathbf{e}(3/8) \sqrt{100} \exp \left(V_{\rho_7} 100/2\pi i \right) s_{200} \left(\Phi^{(\rho_7)} \right) (2\pi i/100) = (2.2618 \dots + 0.58777 \dots i) \times 10^{10}. \end{split}$$

If we sum over the SU(2) flat connections as predicted by Witten's conjecture (with μ_{ρ} , d_{ρ} as in Theorem 3.2), we find that

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{III}(\mathbf{e}(1/100)) &= 2.7567\ldots - \mathrm{i}7.3897\ldots,\\ \mathrm{III}(\mathbf{e}(1/100)) - \sum_{\rho \in \{\rho_0, \rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_4, \rho_5\}} \mu_{\rho} 100^{d_{\rho}} \exp(\mathrm{V}_{\rho} 100/2\pi \mathrm{i}) s_{200} (\Phi^{(\rho)}) (2\pi \mathrm{i}/100)\\ &= 1.0359\ldots 10^{-9} + \mathrm{i}3.1226\ldots 10^{-10}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, we find that additionally summing over the exponentially small contribution connection,

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(1/100)) &- \sum_{\rho \in \{\rho_0, \rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_4, \rho_5, \rho_6\}} \mu_{\rho} 100^{d_{\rho}} \exp(\mathrm{V}_{\rho} 100/2\pi \mathrm{i}) s_{200} \left(\Phi^{(\rho)}\right) (2\pi \mathrm{i}/100) \\ &= 6.1973 \times 10^{-39} + \mathrm{i} 1.8705 \times 10^{-38}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.2)$$

Notice that equation (4.2) vanishes to the order of the error in equation (4.1). These numerics lead to the following conjecture where $s(\Phi^{(\rho)})$ is the Borel resummation of $\Phi^{(\rho)}$.

Conjecture 4.2. For $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$,

$$\operatorname{III}(\mathbf{e}(1/k)) = \sum_{\rho \in \{\rho_0, \rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_4, \rho_5, \rho_6\}} \mu_{\rho} k^{d_{\rho}} \exp\left(\mathbf{V}_{\rho} k/2\pi \mathbf{i}\right) s\left(\Phi^{(\rho)}\right)(2\pi \mathbf{i}/k).$$

This seems to be in contrast to Witten's asymptotic expansion conjecture where we only expect SU(2) flat connections to appear. However, as already noted in [27] and seen in Section 3.2, the asymptotic series associated to the SU(2) flat connections contain contributions from the other $SL_2(\mathbb{C})$ flat connections, which leads to the series ρ_6 appearing as an exponentially small correction (which of course does not contradict the conjecture).

With some more experimentation one can naturally extend this conjecture as follows.

Conjecture 4.3. For $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ and $r \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$, there exist functions $X_{\rho} \colon \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\operatorname{III}\left(\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{k+r}\right)\right) = \sum_{\rho} X_{\rho}(r) \mu_{\rho}(k+r)^{d_{\rho}} \exp\left(\frac{\mathbf{V}_{\rho}(k+r)}{2\pi \mathrm{i}}\right) s\left(\Phi^{(\rho)}\right) \left(\frac{2\pi \mathrm{i}}{k+r}\right),$$

and $X_{\rho}(r) \in \mathbb{Z}[\mathbf{e}(-r)].$

The first few values of the functions $X_{\rho}(r)$ are given in the following table:

r	1	1/2	1/3	1/4	1/5
$X_{\rho_0}(r)$	1	1	1	1	1
$X_{\rho_1}(r)$	1	1	$-1 - e(\frac{1}{3})$	1	$-2-2e(\frac{2}{5})$
$X_{\rho_2}(r)$	1	1	$-1 - e(\frac{1}{3})$	-1 - 2i	$-2-\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{5}\right)-\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{3}{5}\right)$
$X_{\rho_3}(r)$	0	0	$1+2\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{3}\right)$	-2i	$-1-\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{5}\right)-2\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{2}{5}\right)-\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{3}{5}\right)$
$X_{\rho_4}(r)$	1	1	$2 + 2e(\frac{1}{3})$	-1 + 2i	$1-\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{5}\right)+\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{2}{5}\right)$
$X_{\rho_5}(r)$	1	1	$2 - e(\frac{1}{3})$	1	$3 + \mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{5}\right) + \mathbf{e}\left(\frac{2}{5}\right) + \mathbf{e}\left(\frac{3}{5}\right)$
$X_{\rho_6}(r)$	1	-1	1	i	$2-\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{3}{5}\right)$
$X_{\rho_7}(r)$	0	2	$2 + \mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{3}\right)$	1 + i	$3 + \mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{5}\right) + 3\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{2}{5}\right) + 3\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{3}{5}\right)$

Assuming this conjecture, one can numerically compute the values of $X_{\rho}(r)$ for rational numbers with denominators up to a few hundred. With this data one can recognise these functions as combinations of $\coprod_{m,n}(\mathbf{e}(-r))$. However, these formulae can be quite complicated if not in the correct form. Indeed, it is better to study the function \coprod in more detail to guess the correct formulae. This is done in the next Section 4.2.

4.2 Stationary phase and proof of Theorem 4.1

This section will describe the proof of the quantum modularity conjecture for $4_1(-1,2)$. For knots, Bettin and Drappeau gave a proof of the quantum modularity conjecture for a collection of simple hyperbolic knots in [11]. We can apply a similar method to prove quantum modularity of the WRT invariant. This can further be used to guess the functions appearing with the conjectural Borel resummation formulae of Conjecture 4.3. Firstly, we can rewrite the WRT invariant as a sum over the positive cone as

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{III}(q) &= \sum_{0 \le \ell \le k} (-1)^k q^{-\frac{1}{2}k(k+1) + \ell(\ell+1)} \frac{(q;q)_{2k+1}}{(q;q)_\ell(q;q)_{k-\ell}} \\ &= \sum_{\ell,j=0}^\infty (-1)^{j+\ell} q^{-\frac{1}{2}j(j+1) - j\ell + \ell(\ell+1)/2} \frac{(q;q)_{2j+2\ell+1}}{(q;q)_\ell(q;q)_j}. \end{split}$$

Then consider the elements

$$w_{m,n,p}(q) = \sum_{\ell,j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{j+\ell} q^{-\frac{1}{2}j(j+1)-j\ell+\ell(\ell+1)/2+mj+n\ell} \frac{(q;q)_{2j+2\ell+p}}{(q;q)_{\ell}(q;q)_{j}},$$

where

$$w_{m,n+m,1}(q) = \mathrm{III}_{m,n}(q).$$

Using the quantum modular properties of the q-Pochhammer symbol, i.e., the analytic properties of the Faddeev quantum dilogarithm discussed a little in Appendix A, we can analyse the asymptotic behaviour of $\operatorname{III}(q)$. The main idea is to rewrite the Pochhammer at $(\tilde{q}; \tilde{q})_n$ as $(q; q)_k$ times a functions with good analytic properties and known asymptotics. In particular, for $r = a/c \in \mathbb{Q}$ and f from equation (A.1), we have

$$\begin{split} & \mathrm{III}(\mathbf{e}(-1/r)) = \sum_{0 \leq \ell, 0 \leq j}^{2\ell+2j \leq a} (-1)^{j+\ell} \frac{\mathbf{e}(\frac{1}{2r}j(j+1) + \frac{j\ell}{r} - \frac{1}{2r}\ell(\ell+1))(\mathbf{e}(-\frac{1}{r});\mathbf{e}(-\frac{1}{r}))_{2j+2\ell+1}}{(\mathbf{e}(-\frac{1}{r});\mathbf{e}(-\frac{1}{r}))_{\ell}(\mathbf{e}(-\frac{1}{r});\mathbf{e}(-\frac{1}{r}))_{j}} \\ &= \sum_{0 \leq \ell, 0 \leq j}^{2\ell+2j \leq a} (-1)^{j+\ell} \frac{\mathbf{e}(\frac{r}{2}(\frac{j}{r})^{2} + r\frac{j}{r}\frac{\ell}{r} - \frac{r}{2}(\frac{\ell}{r})^{2} + \frac{j}{2r} - \frac{\ell}{2r})(\mathbf{e}(r);\mathbf{e}(r))_{\lfloor\frac{j}{2}j+2\ell+1}]\mathbf{e}(f(2j+2\ell+1,r))}{(\mathbf{e}(r);\mathbf{e}(r))_{\lfloor\frac{j}{r}\rfloor}\mathbf{e}(f(\ell,r))\mathbf{e}(f(j,r))} \\ &= \sum_{0 \leq \ell, 0 \leq j}^{2\ell+2j \leq a} \mathbf{e}\left(\frac{r}{2}\left(\frac{j}{r} - \left\lfloor\frac{j}{r}\right\rfloor\right)^{2} + r\left(\frac{j}{r} - \left\lfloor\frac{j}{r}\right\rfloor\right)\left(\frac{\ell}{r} - \left\lfloor\frac{\ell}{r}\right\rfloor\right) - \frac{r}{2}\left(\frac{\ell}{r} - \left\lfloor\frac{\ell}{r}\right\rfloor\right)^{2} \\ &+ \frac{r}{2}\left(\frac{j}{r} - \left\lfloor\frac{j}{r}\right\rfloor\right) - \frac{r}{2}\left(\frac{\ell}{r} - \left\lfloor\frac{\ell}{r}\right\rfloor\right)\right) \\ &\times (-1)^{\lfloor\frac{j}{r}\rfloor + \lfloor\frac{r}{r}}\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{-r}{2}\left\lfloor\frac{j}{r}\right\rfloor^{2} - r\left\lfloor\frac{j}{r}\right\rfloor\right) \left(\frac{\ell}{r}\right\rfloor + \frac{r}{2}\left\lfloor\frac{\ell}{r}\right\rfloor^{2} + \frac{r}{2}\left\lfloor\frac{j}{r}\right\rfloor - \frac{r}{2}\left\lfloor\frac{\ell}{r}\right\rfloor\right) \\ &\times \mathbf{e}\left(\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{j}{r} - \left\lfloor\frac{j}{r}\right\rfloor\right) - \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\ell}{r} - \left\lfloor\frac{\ell}{r}\right\rfloor\right)\right) \frac{(\mathbf{e}(r);\mathbf{e}(r))_{\lfloor\frac{j+2+2\ell+1}{r}}\mathbf{e}(f(2j+2\ell+1,r))}{(\mathbf{e}(r);\mathbf{e}(r))_{\lfloor\frac{j}{r}\rfloor}\mathbf{e}(f(\ell,r))\mathbf{e}(f(j,r))} \\ &= \sum_{R=0}^{3} \sum_{0 \leq L, 0 \leq J}^{2L+2J+R < c} (-1)^{J+L}\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{-r}{2}J^{2} - rJL + \frac{r}{2}L^{2} + \frac{r}{2}J - \frac{r}{2}L\right) \frac{(\mathbf{e}(r);\mathbf{e}(r))_{2J+2L+R}}{(\mathbf{e}(r);\mathbf{e}(r))_{L}(\mathbf{e}(r);\mathbf{e}(r))} \\ &\times \sum_{(x,y) \in [0,1)^{2}\cap(\frac{1}{r}\mathbb{Z}^{2}-(J,L))}^{2\ell+2R+1} \frac{\mathbf{e}(f(2r+2ry+1,r))}{\mathbf{e}(f(rx,r))\mathbf{e}(f(ry,r))} \\ &\times \mathbf{e}\left(\frac{r}{2}x^{2} + rxy - \frac{r}{2}y^{2} + \frac{r}{2}x - \frac{r}{2}y + \frac{1}{2}x - \frac{1}{2}y\right), \end{aligned}$$

where we used the substitution

$$J = \left\lfloor \frac{j}{r} \right\rfloor, \qquad L = \left\lfloor \frac{\ell}{r} \right\rfloor, \qquad x = \frac{j}{r} - \left\lfloor \frac{j}{r} \right\rfloor, \qquad y = \frac{\ell}{r} - \left\lfloor \frac{\ell}{r} \right\rfloor,$$

and the fact, from equation (A.2), that for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have

$$f(rx + nr, r) = f(rx, r).$$

Importantly,

$$\mathbf{e}(rx) = \mathbf{e}\left(-r\left\lfloor\frac{j}{r}\right\rfloor\right) = \mathbf{e}(-rJ), \qquad \mathbf{e}(ry) = \mathbf{e}\left(-r\left\lfloor\frac{\ell}{r}\right\rfloor\right) = \mathbf{e}(-rL).$$

Therefore, we can exchange these terms between the sums over L, J and the sums over x, y. In particular, for $(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ we have

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{III}(\mathbf{e}(-1/r)) &= \sum_{R=0}^{3} \sum_{0 \le L, 0 \le J}^{2L+2J+R < c} (-1)^{J+L} \mathbf{e} \left(\frac{-r}{2} J^2 - rJL + \frac{r}{2} L^2 + \frac{r}{2} J - \frac{r}{2} L + arJ + brL \right) \\ &\times \frac{(\mathbf{e}(r); \mathbf{e}(r))_{2J+2L+R}}{(\mathbf{e}(r); \mathbf{e}(r))_L (\mathbf{e}(r); \mathbf{e}(r))_J} \sum_{(x,y) \in [0,1)^2 \cap \left(\frac{1}{r} \mathbb{Z}^2 - (J,L)\right)}^{R \le 2x+2y \le R+1} \frac{\mathbf{e}(f(2rx+2ry+1,r))}{\mathbf{e}(f(rx,r))\mathbf{e}(f(ry,r))} \end{split}$$



Figure 5. The regions R that arise from the stationary phase approximation.

×
$$\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{r}{2}x^{2} + rxy - \frac{r}{2}y^{2} + \frac{r}{2}x - \frac{r}{2}y + \frac{1}{2}x - \frac{1}{2}y + \alpha rx + \beta ry\right).$$

This form of the expression makes it clear the asymptotic expansions come from a stationary phase approximation applied to the sum

$$\sum_{\substack{(x,y)\in[0,1)^2\cap\left(\frac{1}{r}\mathbb{Z}^2-(J,L)\right)\\-\frac{r}{2}y^2+\frac{r}{2}x-\frac{r}{2}y+\frac{1}{2}x-\frac{1}{2}y+\alpha rx+\beta ry}} \mathbf{e}\left(f(2rx+2ry+1,r)-f(rx,r)-f(ry,r)+\frac{r}{2}x^2+rxy\right)$$
(4.3)

As r tends to infinity, this sum is approximated⁸ by the integral

$$\int \int_{R} \mathbf{e} \left(f(2rx + 2ry + 1, r) - f(rx, r) - f(ry, r) + \frac{r}{2}x^{2} + rxy - \frac{r}{2}y^{2} + \frac{r}{2}x - \frac{r}{2}y + \frac{1}{2}x - \frac{1}{2}y + \alpha rx + \beta ry \right) \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y,$$

where R indexes the regions depicted in Figure 5. Noting that from equation (A.4) we have

$$f(rx,r) = \frac{r}{(2\pi i)^2} \operatorname{Li}_2(\mathbf{e}(-x)) + \frac{r}{24} + O(r^0),$$

we see that the critical points of the integrand are determined by the stationary points of

$$V_{\alpha,\beta}(x,y) = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \operatorname{Li}_2(\mathbf{e}(-2x-2y)) - \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \operatorname{Li}_2(\mathbf{e}(-x)) - \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \operatorname{Li}_2(\mathbf{e}(-y)) - \frac{1}{24} + \frac{1}{2}x^2 + xy - \frac{1}{2}y^2 + \frac{1}{2}x - \frac{1}{2}y + \alpha x + \beta y.$$
(4.4)

These satisfy equations

$$0 = \frac{2}{2\pi i} \log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-2x - 2y)) - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-x)) + x + y + \frac{1}{2} + \alpha,$$

$$0 = \frac{2}{2\pi i} \log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-2x - 2y)) - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-y)) + x - y - \frac{1}{2} + \beta.$$
(4.5)

Letting $X = \mathbf{e}(x), Y = \mathbf{e}(y)$, we find equations

$$\frac{\left(1-X^{-2}Y^{-2}\right)^{2}}{\left(1-X^{-1}\right)}XY = -1, \qquad \frac{\left(1-X^{-2}Y^{-2}\right)^{2}}{\left(1-Y^{-1}\right)}XY^{-1} = -1.$$
(4.6)

⁸See the proof of Theorem 4.1.

The solutions to these equations are given by

$$X = 10 - 19\xi - 76\xi^2 + 52\xi^3 - 20\xi^4 + 4\xi^5 + 13\xi^6,$$

$$Y = -10 + 24\xi + 87\xi^2 - 59\xi^3 + 23\xi^4 - 5\xi^5 - 15\xi^6.$$

Given any logarithm for (X, Y) we can choose an α , β which give rise to a solution to equation (4.5). For example, consider the solution associated to the 3rd embedding of the trace field

$$(x_3, y_3) = (0.0081372...i, 1.0000... + 0.0090947...i).$$

We find that

$$2 + \alpha_3 = \frac{2}{2\pi i} \log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-2x_3 - 2y_3)) - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-x_3)) + x_3 + y_3 + \frac{1}{2} + \alpha_3,$$

$$-1 + \beta_3 = \frac{2}{2\pi i} \log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-2x_3 - 2y_3)) - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-y_3)) + x_3 - y_3 - \frac{1}{2} + \beta_3.$$

Choosing $(\alpha_3, \beta_3) = (-2, 1)$, we find that

$$V_{-2,1}(x_3, y_3) - \frac{1}{4\pi^2} V_3 = -1.$$

Therefore, associated to this solution to equation (4.5) we get four elements of the Habiro ring

$$w^{(x_3,y_3,R)}(q) = q^{V_{-2,1}(x_3,y_3) - \frac{1}{4\pi^2} V_3} w_{\alpha_3,\beta_3,R}(q) = q^{-1} w_{-2,1,R}(q).$$

Considering small solutions to equation (4.5), we can numerically find formulae for X_{ρ} summarised in the following conjecture.

Conjecture 4.4. The functions X_{ρ} in Conjecture 4.3 are given by the following elements of the Habiro ring

$$\begin{aligned} X_{\rho_1}(q) &= w_{0,2,0}(q), \\ X_{\rho_2}(q) &= w_{-1,0,0}(q), \\ X_{\rho_3}(q) &= q^{-1}w_{-1,0,1}(q) + w_{-1,2,1}(q) + q^{-1}w_{-2,1,3}(q), \\ X_{\rho_4}(q) &= w_{0,1,0}(q), \\ X_{\rho_5}(q) &= w_{-1,1,0}(q), \\ X_{\rho_6}(q) &= w_{-1,1,0}(q) + q^{-1}w_{-2,0,1}(q), \\ X_{\rho_7}(q) &= w_{-1,1,1}(q). \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.7)$$

These elements can all be written in terms the $III_m(q) = III_{m,0}(q)$. Firstly, let

$$P(q)(1-q)q^{4} =$$
(4.8)

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & q^3 + 2q^2 & -q^3 - q^2 & -2q^5 - q^4 & q^8 + 2q^5 & q^{10} + q^9 + q^7 & -q^{10} - q^8 & -q^{12} \\ 1 & q^3 + 2q^2 & q^4 - q^3 - q^2 & -2q^5 - 2q^4 & q^7 + 2q^5 & q^9 + q^8 + q^7 & -q^9 - q^7 & -q^{11} \\ q & q^4 + q^3 + q^2 & -q^3 & -q^7 - 2q^6 & q^8 + 2q^6 & q^{10} + q^9 + q^8 & -q^{10} - q^8 & -q^{12} \\ 0 & -q^2 + q & -q^4 + q^3 & q^5 - q^3 & -q^5 + q^4 & -q^7 + q^6 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 2q^3 + q^2 & q^5 - q^3 - q^2 & -q^7 - q^6 - 3q^5 & 2q^6 + q^5 & q^{10} + q^9 + q^8 & -q^9 - q^8 & -q^{12} \\ 1 & 2q^3 + q^2 & q^5 + q^4 & -q^7 - q^6 - 3q^5 & q^6 + 2q^5 & q^{10} + q^9 + q^8 & -q^9 - q^8 & -q^{12} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -q^5 + q^4 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 2q^3 + q^2 & q^5 - q^3 - q^2 & -q^7 - q^6 - 3q^5 & q^6 + 2q^5 & q^{10} + q^9 + q^8 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -q^5 + q^4 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 2q^3 + q^2 & q^5 - q^3 - q^2 & -q^7 - q^6 - 3q^5 & q^6 + 2q^5 & q^{10} + q^9 + q^8 \\ -q^7 - q^6 & -q^9 - q^8 & -q^{12} \\ \end{pmatrix}$$

Then we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} X_{\rho_0}(q) & X_{\rho_1}(q) & X_{\rho_2}(q) & X_{\rho_3}(q) & X_{\rho_4}(q) & X_{\rho_5}(q) & X_{\rho_6}(q) & X_{\rho_7}(q) \end{pmatrix}^t$$

$$= P(q) \begin{pmatrix} III_{-3}(q) & III_{-2}(q) & III_{-1}(q) & III_{0}(q) & III_{1}(q) & III_{2}(q) & III_{3}(q) & III_{4}(q) \end{pmatrix}^t.$$

$$(4.9)$$

Proof of Theorem 4.1. We need to use standard analysis of asymptotic properties of sums. The first step is to apply a summation method to express the sum as an integral. Then one applies a stationary phase approximation to the integral. The main thing that needs to be checked is that the contributions from the boundaries are negligible and that one can deform the original contour of integration to a contour suitable for the stationary phase approximation.

Firstly, recall $V_{\alpha,\beta}(x,y)$ from equation (4.4). Then, using standard properties of the Bloch-Wigner dilogarithm, as $x \to \infty$

$$Im(Li_2(\mathbf{e}(x))) = \arg(1 - \mathbf{e}(x)) \log |\mathbf{e}(x)| + O(1).$$

Therefore, breaking into the cases of Im(x), Im(y) tending to $\pm \infty$, we can show that for various limits $\mathbf{e}(V_{\alpha,\beta}(x,y)\pm x\pm y)\to 0$, where the extra x, y come with signs so that they have positive imaginary part. Therefore, letting

$$s_{\alpha,\beta}(x,y,r) = \mathbf{e} \bigg(f(2rx+2ry+1,r) - f(rx,r) - f(ry,r) + \frac{r}{2}x^2 + rxy \\ - \frac{r}{2}y^2 + \frac{r}{2}x - \frac{r}{2}y + \frac{1}{2}x - \frac{1}{2}y + \alpha rx + \beta ry \bigg),$$

we can apply the Abel–Plana summation method [64, Section 8.3] to the sum from equation (4.3) to find that for i = 0, 1, 2, 3

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in[0,1)^2\cap\left(\frac{1}{r}\mathbb{Z}^2-(J,L)\right)}^{i\leq 2x+2y\leq i+1} s_{\alpha,\beta}(x,y,r) = \iint_{R_i} s_{\alpha,\beta}(x,y,r) \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y + T_{\alpha,\beta}(J,L,r), \tag{4.10}$$

where T is given by integrals over a subset of the boundary ∂R_i and the imaginary axis above it with integrand $s_{\alpha,\beta}$ divided by $e^{2\pi x} - 1$ for various arguments x.

We will see that the asymptotics of $\iint_R s_{-1,1}(x, y, r) dxdy$ can be determined by the saddle point method. However, first we need to see that the boundary makes a negligible contribution to the integral. In order to see this notice that at the vertices the imaginary part of $V_{\alpha,\beta}(x,y)$ vanishes, i.e., for all $x, y \in \{0, \frac{1}{2}, 1\}$ we have $\operatorname{Im}(V_{\alpha,\beta}(x,y)) = 0$. The initial integrals over ∂R_i have integrands that take values that are larger than $O(\exp(-V_{\rho_6}r/2\pi i))$ however there is a cancellation. See Figure 7.

To show that the integrals in a neighbourhood of the boundary are in fact exponentially small, we simply choose a parametrisation with endpoints in the regions where the $V_{-1,1}$ is exponentially small. The we deform the contours so they become exponentially small. See Lemma B.2. We see that these integrals are $o(\exp(-V_{\rho_6}r/2\pi i))$ as $r \to \infty$. We can apply similar analysis for the other boundaries and this can also be used to see that the boundary terms $T_{-1,1}(J, L, r)$ coming from Abel–Plana summation will all be $o(\exp(-V_{\rho_6}r/2\pi i))$ as $r \to \infty$.

One can similarly show that by deformations of the contours

$$\iint_{R_i} s_{-1,1}(x, y, r) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y = o(\exp(-V_{\rho_6} r/2\pi \mathrm{i})) \qquad \text{for} \quad i = 0, 2, 3.$$

Again see Lemma B.2. Then finally we see that above region R_1 the integrand $s_{-1,1}$ has a critical point given by $(x_6, y_6) = (0.33675... - 0.0027718...i, 0.55471... + 0.014062...i)$ given by the

sixth embedding of equation (4.6). We can deform the contour over this region by steepest descent. This can be done everywhere until the contour is exponentially small or hits a critical point. The only critical point over this region is (x_6, y_6) . Then applying stationary phase to the integral of these integrals we find that they have critical point at exactly (x_6, y_6) and the resulting asymptotics are determined by a formal Gaussian integration around this critical point as claimed.

4.3 Quantum modularity of \widehat{Z}

We can describe a similar version of quantum modularity for $Z_{0,0}(q)$ from equation (2.8) as for the WRT invariant given in Theorem 4.1. Here, instead of taking radial asymptotics, we take asymptotics that behave in a similar way to the WRT invariant. That is, we take asymptotics as τ tends to ∞ horizontally. This has the affect that for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have $q^n = o(\tau)$. Therefore, the asymptotics behaviour of $Z_{0,0}(\tilde{q})$ could contain corrections with powers of q that would have been exponentially small when τ went to i ∞ on some angle or vertically. Indeed, this can be observed numerically. We have the following numerics:⁹

$$Z_{0,0}(\mathbf{e}(-1/(1000+\mathrm{i}))) = (3.3121\dots - 0.69001\dots\mathrm{i}) \times 10^{97},$$

$$\mathbf{e}(-1/8)\sqrt{\frac{1000+\mathrm{i}}{\delta_{\rho_6}}} \mathbf{e}\left(-\frac{\mathrm{V}_{\rho_6}}{(2\pi\mathrm{i})^2}(1000+\mathrm{i})\right) s_{100}(\Phi^{(\rho_6)}) \left(-\frac{2\pi\mathrm{i}}{1000+\mathrm{i}}\right)$$

$$= (3.3183\dots - 0.69130\dots\mathrm{i}) \times 10^{97}.$$

Then we find that

$$Z_{0,0}(\mathbf{e}(-1/(1000+i)))\mathbf{e}(1/8)\sqrt{\frac{\delta_{\rho_6}}{1000+i}}\mathbf{e}\left(\frac{V_{\rho_6}}{(2\pi i)^2}(1000+i)\right)s_{100}(\Phi^{(\rho_6)})\left(-\frac{2\pi i}{1000+i}\right)^{-1}$$

= 0.99813...
= 1 - 0.0018674...
= 1 - $\mathbf{e}(1000+i) + 1.3025... \times 10^{-8}$
= 1 - $\mathbf{e}(1000+i) + 2\mathbf{e}(1000+i)^3 - 8.4823... \times 10^{-17}$
= 1 - $\mathbf{e}(1000+i) + 2\mathbf{e}(1000+i)^3 - 2\mathbf{e}(1000+i)^6 + 2.7775... \times 10^{-25}.$

Continuing one can find the right-hand side is, up to exponentially small corrections, given by the q-series $Z_{0,0}(\mathbf{e}(1000 + \mathbf{i}))$. We can apply a similar analysis as we did in the proof of Theorem 4.1 to obtain the following theorem.

Theorem 4.5. The \widehat{Z} -invariant computed in [46] for $4_1(-1,2)$ is a quantum modular form in the sense of [81]. That is, for $y \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}$ as $x \to \infty$,

$$\frac{Z_{0,0}(\mathbf{e}(-1/(x+\mathrm{i}y)))}{Z_{0,0}(\mathbf{e}(x+\mathrm{i}y))} \sim \mathbf{e}(-1/8) \sqrt{\frac{x+\mathrm{i}y}{\delta_{\rho_6}}} \mathbf{e}\left(-\frac{\mathrm{V}_{\rho_6}}{(2\pi\mathrm{i})^2}(x+\mathrm{i}y)\right) \Phi^{(\rho_6)}\left(-\frac{2\pi\mathrm{i}}{x+\mathrm{i}y}\right).$$

Outline of proof. Here we describe the adjustments one needs to make to the analysis done in Section 4.2 to the case when τ is in the upper half plane as opposed to a rational number. The main difference here is that the sum now has infinitely many terms for finite τ . Firstly, writing

$$Z_{0,0}(q) = \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^j q^{k(2k+1)+jk+\frac{1}{2}j(j+1)} \frac{(q;q)_{k+j}}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_j},$$

⁹We use the numerical Borel resummation here, however, one could replace this with a truncation or an optimal truncation.

we see that for $k, j > |\tau|^{1+\epsilon}$ for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ then the summand is o(1) as $\mathbf{e}(-|\tau|^{2+2\epsilon}/\tau) = o(1)$ for $\operatorname{Im}(\tau) > 0$. Therefore, We can replace the sum by a finite sum with the same asymptotics for fixed τ restricting $k, j < |\tau|^{1+\epsilon}$. Then one can apply the same arguments of Section 4.2 while using the same function f from equation (A.1), which is also defined for $\operatorname{Im}(\tau) > 0$ and satisfies the important equation (A.3).

While we saw in Section 3.4 that the radial asymptotics of the $Z_{0,0}$ are given by the asymptotic series $\Phi^{(\rho_3)}$, we can find the WRT invariant or in more detail the asymptotic series $\Phi^{(\rho_0)}$ as an exponentially small correction. Indeed, we find that

$$\widehat{Z}(\mathbf{e}(i/1000)) = 3.7315... \times 10^8,$$

$$\widehat{Z}(\mathbf{e}(i/1000)) - \sqrt{100}\mathbf{e}(-1000i) \exp(V_{\rho_3}100/2\pi) s_{200}(\Phi^{(\rho_3)})(2\pi/100) = 0.011693...$$

$$2s_{200}(\Phi^{(\rho_0)})(2\pi/100) = 0.011693...$$

Therefore, while this example disagrees with the original conjecture on the radial asymptotics of $Z_{0,0}$, the series $Z_{0,0}$ sees contributions from the trivial connection,¹⁰ which can be exponentially small.

4.4 Refined quantum modularity

The quantum modularity conjecture [81] for hyperbolic knots was refined in [42]. That work showed how these examples of quantum modular forms could be viewed as giving rise to cocycles in some non-commutative cohomology of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$. Indeed, for usual modular forms $f: \mathfrak{h} \to \mathbb{C}^N$ we have a transformation formula such that for $\gamma = [a, b; c, d] \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$

$$f\left(\frac{a\tau+b}{c\tau+d}\right) = \rho_{\gamma}f(\tau)\mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(\tau),$$

where $\rho: \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{GL}_N(\mathbb{C})$ a representation and $\mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(\tau)$ an automorphy factor. The representation ρ can be viewed as an element of the non-commutative group cohomology where $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ acts trivially on $\operatorname{GL}_N(\mathbb{C})$

$$H^{1}(\mathrm{SL}_{2}(\mathbb{Z}), \mathrm{GL}_{N}(\mathbb{C})) = \{ \rho \colon \mathrm{SL}_{2}(\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathrm{GL}_{N}(\mathbb{C}) \mid \rho(\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}) = \rho(\gamma_{1})\rho(\gamma_{2}) \}.$$

While examples of quantum invariants coming from hyperbolic manifolds will never give rise to functions f with this structure they do give something very similar. In particular, Garoufalidis–Zagier noticed that quantum invariants of hyperbolic knots gave rise to f and Ω such that

$$f\left(\frac{a\tau+b}{c\tau+d}\right) = \Omega_{\gamma}(\tau)f(\tau)\mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(\tau),$$

where f is a function from the upper and lower half planes and the rationals to \mathbb{C}^N , and for each $\gamma = [a, b; c, d] \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$, we have $\Omega_{\gamma} \colon \mathbb{C}_{\gamma} \to \mathrm{GL}_N(\mathbb{C})$ is holomorphic where $\mathbb{C}_{\gamma} = \mathbb{C} \setminus \frac{1}{c} \mathbb{R}_{\leq -d}$ if $c \neq 0$ and $\mathbb{C}_{\gamma} = \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ if c = 0, and

$$\Omega_{\gamma_1\gamma_2}(\tau) = \Omega_{\gamma_1}(\gamma_2 \cdot \tau)\Omega_{\gamma_2}(\tau),$$

¹⁰Note that there is an additional factor of 2 appearing in front of the asymptotics of the trivial connection, which indicates that it would be natural to halve $Z_{0,0}$. Integrability is often wanted for the function \hat{Z} as it is hoped this will lead to a categorification however these factors of 2 could be related to those found in [48] related to $-1/2 = \zeta(0) = 1 + 1 + 1 + \cdots$.

where $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ acts as usual via Möbius transformations. We see that this Ω now gives rise to an element of a more interesting twisted group cohomology valued in $N \times N$ matrices of analytic functions ω_N analytic on a simply connected dense domain

$$H^{1}(\mathrm{SL}_{2}(\mathbb{Z}),\omega_{N}) := \frac{\{\Omega \colon \mathrm{SL}_{2}(\mathbb{Z}) \to \omega_{N} \mid \Omega_{\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}}(\tau) = \Omega_{\gamma_{1}}(\gamma_{2} \cdot \tau)\Omega_{\gamma_{2}}(\tau)\}}{\{\Omega_{\gamma}(\tau) \sim g(\gamma \cdot \tau)^{-1}\Omega_{\gamma}(\tau)g(\tau) \mid g \in \omega_{N}\}}.$$

Often $\mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(\tau)$ can be written as $h(\tau)^{-1}h(\gamma\tau)$ and therefore it appears that Ω would often be trivial in the first cohomology group. It does become a coboundary when we restrict the domains of Ω , however, as defined it is not in general a coboundary. This is because f is only defined for away from the irrational reals. This is the most important property of quantum modularity. Our examples will be functions that give rise to an analytic continuation to a simply connected dense domain of \mathbb{C} . This is summarised in the following definition.

Definition 4.6 (matrix valued quantum modular form). We say that a function $f: \mathfrak{h} \cup \mathbb{Q} \cup \overline{\mathfrak{h}} \to \operatorname{GL}_N(\mathbb{C})$ is a matrix valued quantum modular form with automorphy factor \mathbf{j} if for all $\gamma = [a, b; c, d] \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ the function

$$\Omega_{\gamma}(\tau) := f\left(\frac{a\tau+b}{c\tau+d}\right) \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(\tau)^{-1} f(\tau)^{-1}$$
(4.11)

extends to an analytic function for $\tau \in \mathbb{C}_{\gamma}$.

This definition has a variety of examples. The first interesting example came from the figureeight knot.

Example 4.7 (figure-eight knot). There is a matrix valued function associated to the figureeight knot. The function at rationals appeared in the work of Garoufalidis–Zagier [33, 42] and for the upper and lower half plane various other works [30, 32, 34, 41]. This was also discussed in [73]. Consider the, functions for $|q| \neq 1$

$$\begin{split} g_m(q) &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-1)^k \frac{q^{k(k+1)/2+km}}{(q;q)_k^2}, \\ G_m(q) &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-1)^k \frac{q^{k(k+1)/2+km}}{(q;q)_k^2} \left(m - 2E_1(q) + \sum_{\ell=1}^k \frac{1+q^j}{1-q^j} \right), \\ \mathfrak{G}_m(q) &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-1)^k \frac{q^{k(k+1)/2+km}}{(q;q)_k^2} \left(\frac{1}{8} \left(2m - 4E_1(q) + 2\sum_{\ell=1}^k \frac{1+q^j}{1-q^j} \right)^2 - \frac{1}{24} + \sum_{\ell=1}^k \frac{q^\ell}{(1-q^\ell)^2} \right). \end{split}$$

Combining these into a matrix, we can define

$$\mathfrak{g}_{m}(q) = \begin{pmatrix} g_{m}(q) & G_{m}(q) & \mathfrak{G}_{m}(q) \\ g_{m+1}(q) & G_{m+1}(q) & \mathfrak{G}_{m+1}(q) \\ g_{m+2}(q) & G_{m+2}(q) & \mathfrak{G}_{m+2}(q) \end{pmatrix}$$

For $q = \mathbf{e}(N/M)$ with N and M coprime, and for j = 1, 2

$$X_j = \frac{1}{2} + (-1)^j \frac{\sqrt{-3}}{2}$$

consider the functions

$$J_{j,m}(q) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}} \frac{(-1)^k q^{k(k+1)/2 + km} X_j^{(k-m)/M + 1/2M}}{\prod_{\ell=0}^{M-1} (1 - q^{1+k+\ell} X_j^{1/M})^{2(1+\ell+k)/M - 1}}$$

 and

$$J_{0,m}(q) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-1)^k q^{-k(k+1)/2 - km - m} (q;q)_k^2$$

Combining these into a matrix we define

$$\mathfrak{g}_m(q) = \begin{pmatrix} J_{0,m}(q) & J_{1,m}(q) & J_{2,m}(q) \\ J_{0,m+1}(q) & J_{1,m+1}(q) & J_{2,m+1}(q) \\ J_{0,m+2}(q) & J_{1,m+2}(q) & J_{2,m+2}(q) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Finally, take the automorphy factor for $\gamma = [a, b; c, d] \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$

$$\mathbf{j}(\tau;\gamma) = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & (c\tau+d) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & (c\tau+d)^2 \end{pmatrix} & \text{if } \tau \in \mathfrak{h} \cup \overline{\mathfrak{h}}, \\ \begin{pmatrix} (c\tau+d)^{3/2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{e}(\lambda_{\gamma}(\tau) \mathbf{V}_{4_1}/(2\pi \mathbf{i})^2) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \mathbf{e}(-\lambda_{\gamma}(\tau) \mathbf{V}_{4_1}/(2\pi \mathbf{i})^2) \end{pmatrix} & \text{if } \tau \in \mathbb{Q}, \end{cases}$$

where $V_{4_1} = 2i \operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{Li}_2(\mathbf{e}(1/6))) = 2.02988...i$ is the complexified volume of the figure-eight knot and $\lambda_{\gamma}(r/s) = c/(s(cr + ds))$ is the cocycle defined in [42, equation (24)]. Then \mathfrak{g} is a matrix valued quantum modular form, a theorem proved in the previously cited works [30, 32, 33, 34, 41, 42, 73].

One of the main results of this current work is that the same holds for a matrix associated to half surgery on the figure-eight knot. Firstly, we define the following $q^{\pm 1}$ -series with $(q^{-1}; q^{-1})_{\infty} = (q; q)_{\infty}^{-1}, (x; q^{-1})_{\infty} = (qx; q)_{\infty}^{-1}$ and $E_k(q^{-1}) = -E_k(q)$ defined in equation (C.1):

With these q-series define

$$(\mathbf{Z}_m(q))_{i,j} = \begin{cases} Z_{m+i-1}^{(j+1-\delta_{j,1}-\delta_{j,2})}(q) & \text{if } |q| < 1, \\ Z_{m+i-1}^{(j+1-\delta_{j,1})}(q) & \text{if } |q| > 1, \end{cases}$$

where $(q^{-1}; q^{-1})_{\infty} = (q; q)_{\infty}^{-1}$ and $(x; q^{-1})_{\infty} = (qx; q)^{-1}$ for |q| < 1 and $x \notin q^{\mathbb{Z}}$. Let $\mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(\tau)$ be the automorphy factor generated by

when $\tau \notin \mathbb{R}$ and χ is the characteristic function. For $\tau \in \mathbb{Q}$, consider the equations (3.4) with solutions (3.5). Recalling Δ and X from equations (3.6) and (3.5), we define functions at roots

of unity $q = \mathbf{e}(N/M)$

$$III_{m}^{(j)}(q) = \frac{-\mathrm{i}}{M\varepsilon(q)} \sqrt{\frac{\left(1 - X_{1,j}^{2}\right)^{2} (1 - X_{2,j}) \left(1 - X_{1,j}^{-1} X_{2,j}\right)}{\Delta_{\rho_{j}}}}$$
(4.13)

$$\times \sum_{k,\ell \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}} \frac{q^{k^2 + k\ell - mk + \ell} X_{1,j}^{\frac{2k+\ell-m}{M}} X_{2,j}^{\frac{k+1}{M}} \prod_{i=0}^{M-1} (1 - q^{i+1+\ell-k} X_{1,j}^{-1/M} X_{2,j}^{1/M})^{-(i+1+\ell-k)/M - 1/2}}{\prod_{i=0}^{M-1} (1 - q^{i+1+\ell} X_{2,j}^{1/M})^{(i+1+\ell)/M - 1/2} \prod_{i=0}^{M-1} (1 - q^{i+1+2k} X_{1,j}^{2/M})^{(i+1+2k)/M - 1/2}},$$

which agree with the functions (3.7). Finally, we take

$$III_m^{(0)}(q) = \sum_{0 \le \ell \le k} (-1)^k q^{-\frac{1}{2}k(k+1) + \ell(\ell+1) + mk} \frac{(q;q)_{2k+1}}{(q;q)_\ell(q;q)_{k-\ell}}.$$

Then for roots of unity $q = \mathbf{e}(N/M)$, we define

$$(\mathbf{Z}_m(q))_{i,j} = \coprod_{m+i-1}^{(j-1)}(q).$$

Let $\mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(\tau)$ be the automorphy factor given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & (c\tau+d)^{-1/2} \mathbf{e} \left(-\lambda_{\gamma}(\tau) \mathbf{V}_{\rho_1}/(2\pi \mathbf{i})^2 \right) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & (c\tau+d)^{-1/2} \mathbf{e} \left(-\lambda_{\gamma}(\tau) \mathbf{V}_{\rho_7}/(2\pi \mathbf{i})^2 \right) \end{pmatrix}$$

when $\tau \in \mathbb{Q}$.

Theorem 4.8. The function \mathbf{Z}_m is a matrix valued quantum modular form with automorphy factor $\mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(\tau)$.

The proof of this theorem uses state integrals given in Section 5.3 and their factorisation using Lemmas 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.5, 5.6. Before, giving these details we can reflect on the pictures in Figure 4 illustrating the old version of quantum modularity. We see that by refining the original quantum modularity to a matrix valued function, we now have functions which are analytic as opposed to smooth from the left and right of every rational however discontinuous at each rational. We can plot the cocycle Ω_S of equation (4.11) at reals and see the analytic structure explicitly in the following Figure 6. This quantum modularity conjecture also gives us the answer to what the functions $X^{(\rho_j)}(q)$ from the observation (3.8) should be. Indeed, we see they should equal to $III_0^{(j)}(\mathbf{e}(x)) = \Phi_{x,0}^{(\rho_j)}(0)$.

5 The state integral

Since work of Garoufalidis-Kashaev [33, 34], we have known how to factorise certain "untrapped" state integrals at rationals and in the upper and lower half plane. Their work makes a clear connection between q-hypergeometric sums and state integrals. In particular, to get a state integral associated to a q-hypergeometric sum one needs only replace the sum by an integral and all the q-Pochhammer symbols by Faddeev's quantum dilogarithm. For example, for the figure-eight knot in Example 4.7, we have q-series

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-1)^k \frac{q^{k(k+1)/2}}{(q;q)_k^2}$$



Figure 6. Plots of the real part of the first row of the cocycle associated to $4_1(-1,2)$. Each colour is the plot for an entry of this row in order red, blue, green, purple, orange, yellow, pink, magenta. Here we cut the plot off when it gets close to 0 as there is an exponential singularity of the form $\exp(V_{\rho}/2\pi i\tau)$ and the oscillations becomes large requiring many more data points to see the smooth behaviour.

which corresponds to a state integral

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}+\mathrm{i}0} \mathbf{e} \left(-x^2/2\right) \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(x)^2 \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

Here the correspondence is obtained by replacing the sum over k by an integral over x, the $(-1)^k q^{k(k+1)}$ by $\mathbf{e}(-x^2/2)$, and $(q;q)_k^{-1}$ by $\Phi_{\mathbf{b}}(x)$. Sometimes state integrals cannot be factorised by pushing a contour to infinity such as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}+\mathrm{i}0} \mathbf{e}(-x^2) \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(x) \,\mathrm{d}x$$

which would come from the sum $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} q^{k(k+1)}(q;q)_k^{-1}$. For the *q*-series, this amounts to the fact the series does not converge when |q| > 1. This can be remedied by an "untrapping" procedure, which was found in the context of state integrals in unpublished work of Garoufalidis–Kashaev [29]. This was then found in the context of *q*-series in [73] and using both methods factorisation can be done for a much larger class of state integrals. This uses the *q*-binomial theorem and the Fourier transform of the Faddeev quantum dilogarithm.

After factorising the state integral, there is a final step to proving quantum modularity. This step involves expressing the factorisation as a quotient of two matrices. This was originally discovered in work of Garoufalidis–Zagier [41, 42] under the name quadratic relations. In terms of q-difference equations, this can be described in terms of a certain duality discussed in [39]. Once the identity is found, this step can be done automatically using q-holonomic methods of [74, 82] and checking boundary conditions.

5.1 Untrapping the *q*-series

For quantum modularity, we want functions defined for both |q| < 1 and |q| > 1. To do this, we can rewrite our functions in a way that makes a definition for $|q| \neq 1$ manifest. While there

is still choice, the quantum modularity will fix this modulo multiplication by certain modular functions. In particular, to prove quantum modularity we need to construct a state integral that factorises in terms of $\widehat{Z}_m(q)$ and similar functions. To construct such a state integral, we start with another identity for $Z_{m,n}$, which follows from the q-binomial theorem,

$$\begin{split} Z_{m,n}(q) &= \sum_{0 \le k \le \ell} (-1)^{k+\ell} q^{\frac{1}{2}3k(k+1) + \frac{1}{2}\ell(\ell+1) - (m+1)k - m - n\ell - n} \frac{(q;q)_{\ell}}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{\ell-k}} \\ &= (q;q)_{\infty} \sum_{\ell,k,j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{\ell} q^{2k(k+1) + k\ell + \frac{1}{2}\ell(\ell+1) + jk + j\ell + j - (m+n+1)k - m - n\ell - n} \frac{1}{(q;q)_j(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{\ell}} \\ &= (q;q)_{\infty}^2 \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} q^{2k(k+1) + jk + j - (m+n+1)k - m - n} \frac{1}{(q;q)_j(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{k+j-n}} \\ &= (q;q)_{\infty}^2 \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} q^{k^2 + jk + j - (m+n)k - m - n} \frac{1}{(q;q)_{j-n}(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{j-k}}. \end{split}$$

The form of this expression suggests considering the following state integral

$$\mathcal{S}_{m,m'}(\tau) = q^{-m} \tilde{q}^{m'} \int_{\mathbb{R}+i0} \int_{\mathbb{R}+i0} \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(x_2 + c_{\mathsf{b}}) \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(2x_1 + c_{\mathsf{b}}) \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(x_2 - x_1 + c_{\mathsf{b}})$$
(5.1)

$$\times \mathbf{e}(-x_1^2 - x_1 x_2 + i x_1 (m\mathsf{b} + m'\mathsf{b}^{-1}) - i x_2 (\mathsf{b} + \mathsf{b}^{-1})) \, \mathrm{d}x_1 \mathrm{d}x_2.$$

This state integral factorises into bilinear combinations of the following q-series and \tilde{q} series. Indeed, it is "untrapped" in the sense that pushing the contour of integration to $(i\infty, i\infty)$ the integral tends to zero.

5.2 Factorisation and the non-abelian connections

In a series of works [30, 34, 41], the asymptotic series of non-abelian connections associated to the figure-eight knot were considered. These works gave a 2×2 matrix valued quantum modular form. This missed a contribution from the trivial connection, which was included in [32, 73] giving a 3×3 matrix valued quantum modular form. This structure is paralleled for the invariants associated to the manifold $4_1(-1,2)$. Therefore, our first piece of quantum modularity gives rise to a 7×7 matrix valued quantum modular form.

Lemma 5.1. We have the following identity for $q = \mathbf{e}(\tau)$, $\tilde{q} = \mathbf{e}(-1/\tau)$:

$$S_{m,m'}(\tau) = Z_m^{(1)}(q) Z_{m'}^{(2)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + \tau Z_m^{(2)}(q) Z_{m'}^{(1)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + Z_m^{(4)}(q) Z_{m'}^{(5)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + Z_m^{(5)}(q) Z_{m'}^{(4)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + Z_m^{(6)}(q) Z_{m'}^{(6)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + Z_m^{(7)}(q) Z_{m'}^{(8)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + Z_m^{(8)}(q) Z_{m'}^{(7)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + Z_m^{(9)}(q) Z_{m'}^{(9)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}).$$

This lemma can be proved using the techniques of [34] and some details are given in Appendix C.2. This factorisation can be simplified further. In particular, we have the following lemma.

Lemma 5.2. For |q| > 1, we have

$$Z_m^{(2)}(q) = 0,$$

and for $|q| \neq 0$, excluding the case of j = 3 and |q| < 1, we have

$$q^{2m+2}Z_m^{(j)}(q) + (q^{2m+4} + q^{m+1} + q^{m+2})Z_{m+1}^{(j)}(q) + (-q^{2m+7} - q^{2m+5} - q^{2m+4} + q^{m+3} + 1)Z_{m+2}^{(j)}(q)$$

$$+ \left(-q^{2m+9} - q^{2m+7} - q^{2m+6} + q^{m+3} - q^{m+5} - q^{m+4} - q^{m+3}\right) Z_{m+3}^{(j)}(q) + \left(q^{2m+10} + q^{2m+9} + q^{2m+7} + q^{m+4} - q^{m+6}\right) Z_{m+4}^{(j)}(q) + \left(q^{2m+12} + q^{2m+11} + q^{2m+9} - q^{m+6} + q^{m+6}\right) Z_{m+5}^{(j)}(q) + \left(-q^{2m+12} - q^{m+7}\right) Z_{m+6}^{(j)}(q) - q^{2m+14} Z_{m+7}^{(j)}(q) = 2\delta_{j,1}\chi_{|q|<1}(1-q) + 2\delta_{j,3}\chi_{|q|>1}(1-q).$$

$$(5.2)$$

Note that equation (5.2) is up to a factor of 2 the same as the equation (2.2). The homogeneous order eight equation is given in equation (2.6) with n = 0. For $Z^{(1)}(q)$ with |q| < 1, this was utilised in the proof of Proposition 2.2. The proof of this lemma uses standard q-holonomic methods and essentially reproduces the basis one would obtain from the Frobenius method. Therefore, we see that the state integral satisfies a homogeneous 7-th order equation in m and m'. It is then natural to collect these series into a 7×7 Wronskian matrix, where for $i, j = 1, \ldots, 7$, we have

$$\left(\mathbf{Z}_m^{(7 \times 7)}(q) \right)_{i,j} = \begin{cases} Z_{m+i-1}^{(j+2-\delta_{j,1})}(q) & \text{if } |q| < 1, \\ Z_{m+i-1}^{(j+2-2\delta_{j,1})}(q) & \text{if } |q| > 1. \end{cases}$$

Then for the companion matrix

$$\begin{split} A^{(7\times7)}(x,q) = & \\ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ \frac{1}{q^{12}} \frac{q^3x + q + 1}{q^{13}x} & \frac{(-q^7 - q^5 - q^4)x^2 + q^3x + 1}{q^{14}x^2} & \frac{(-q^5 - q^3 - q^2)x - q - 1}{q^{10}x} & \frac{(q^6 + q^5 + q^3)x - q^2 + 1}{q^{10}x} & \frac{q^3 + q^2 + 1}{q^5} & \frac{-q^5 x - 1}{q^7x} \end{pmatrix}$$

we have

$$\mathbf{Z}_{m+1}^{(7\times7)}(q) = A^{(7\times7)}(q^m, q) \mathbf{Z}_m^{(7\times7)}(q).$$

This module is self dual in the sense of [39]. In particular, we have a gauge transformation P(x;q) whose columns respectively are given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{x^4q^{10}(2q^4+4q^3+6q^2+4q+2)+2x^3q^9+x^2q^3(2q^6+4q^5+4q^4+6q^3+4q^2+4q+2)+2)}{x^7q^{21}} \\ \frac{-2x^4q^{10}+x^2q^3(-2q^4-4q^3-4q^2-4q-2)-2}{x^6q^{15}} \\ \frac{x^2q^3(2q^2+4q+2)+2}{x^5q^{10}} \\ \frac{-2x^2q^3-2}{x^4q^6} \\ \frac{2}{x^3q^3} \\ \frac{-2}{x^2q} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$


which satisfies the equation

$$A^{(7\times7)}(x,q) = P(qx,q)A^{(7\times7)}(q^{7}x,q^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}P(x,q)^{-1}$$

This duality can be used to give rise to quadratic relations between the q-series that is most conveniently given in matrix form.

Lemma 5.3 (quadratic relations). We have the following identity:

$$\mathbf{Z}_{m}^{(7\times7)}(q)\mathbf{Z}_{-m-6}^{(7\times7)}(q^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}} = P(q^{m},q) \qquad or \qquad \mathbf{Z}_{m}^{(7\times7)}(q)^{-1} = \mathbf{Z}_{-m-6}^{(7\times7)}(q^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}P(q^{m},q)^{-1}.$$

Combining the previous Lemmas 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3, we have the following theorem.

Theorem 5.4. $\mathbf{Z}_m^{(7 \times 7)}$ is a matrix valued quantum modular form. In particular,

where $\Omega_S(\tau) = \mathcal{S}_{m,m'} P(q^{6-m'},q)^{-1}$ is holomorphic on $\mathbb{C} \smallsetminus \mathbb{R}_{\leq 0}$.

Proof. Lemma 5.1 expresses the state integral as a bilinear combination of q and \tilde{q} series. This combination is therefore analytic for $\tau \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\leq 0}$ as the state integrals are manifestly analytic on this domain. This follows from the domain of Faddeev's quantum dilogarithm. Lemma 5.2 removes one term from the bilinear combination. Then the remaining terms in the bilinear combination can be expressed as an entry of a quotient of matrices, which follows from Lemma 5.3.

5.3 Including the trivial connection

As was previously mentioned, it was shown for the figure-eight knot [32, 73] there is a natural extension of a 2×2 matrix valued quantum modular form to a 3×3 matrix valued quantum modular form. In the example of $4_1(-1, 2)$, there is a completely analogous statement. Here we see that for |q| < 1 the \hat{Z} invariant appears as a component in the factorisation. This agrees with an aspect of previous conjectures [46] on the relation between the WRT invariant and the \hat{Z} invariant.

As was illustrated in [32], Appell-Lerch type sums appear and we have a state integral with a simple additional factor of the inverse of a hyperbolic function. Here however, the computation is a little more complicated as the inverse of $\mathbf{Z}_m(q)$ is more complicated than those cases. This comes from the fact that for the inhomogeneous equations satisfied by

$$\mathbf{Z}_{m}^{\text{inhom}}(q) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ Z_{m}^{(1+2\chi_{|q|>1})}(q) & \left(\mathbf{Z}_{m}^{(7\times7)}\right)_{1,1} & \cdots & \left(\mathbf{Z}_{m}^{(7\times7)}\right)_{1,7}\\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots\\ Z_{m}^{(1+2\chi_{|q|>1})}(q) & \left(\mathbf{Z}_{m}^{(7\times7)}\right)_{7,1} & \cdots & \left(\mathbf{Z}_{m}^{(7\times7)}\right)_{7,7} \end{pmatrix}$$

is given by

$$\mathbf{Z}_{m+1}^{\mathrm{inhom}}(q) = A(x;q)\mathbf{Z}_{m}^{\mathrm{inhom}}(q)$$

with

$$A(x;q)^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \frac{-2q+2}{q^2x^2} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{-q^3x + (-q-1)}{qx} & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{(q^7 + q^5 + q^4)x^2 - q^3x - 1}{q^2x^2} & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{(q^7 + q^5 + q^4)x + (q^3 + q^2)}{x^2} & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{(-q^8 - q^7 - q^5)x + (q^4 - q^2)}{x} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -q^{10} - q^9 - q^7 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{q^{10}x + q^5}{x} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & q^{12} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}}$$

Therefore,

$$\mathbf{Z}_{m+1}^{\text{inhom}}(q)^{-1} = \mathbf{Z}_m^{\text{inhom}}(q)^{-1}A(x;q)^{-1}.$$

Let $L^{(j)}$ be given by

. .

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{Z}_{m}^{\text{inhom}}(q)^{-1} &= \\ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ L_{m}^{(1+\chi_{|q|<1})}(q^{-1}) & (\mathbf{Z}_{-m-6}^{(7\times7)}(q^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}P(q^{m},q)^{-1})_{1,1} & \cdots & (\mathbf{Z}_{-m-6}^{(7\times7)}(q^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}P(q^{m},q)^{-1})_{1,7} \\ L_{m}^{(4)}(q^{-1}) & (\mathbf{Z}_{-m-6}^{(7\times7)}(q^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}P(q^{m},q)^{-1})_{2,1} & \cdots & (\mathbf{Z}_{-m-6}^{(7\times7)}(q^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}P(q^{m},q)^{-1})_{2,7} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ L_{m}^{(9)}(q^{-1}) & (\mathbf{Z}_{-m-6}^{(7\times7)}(q^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}P(q^{m},q)^{-1})_{7,1} & \cdots & (\mathbf{Z}_{-m-6}^{(7\times7)}(q^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}P(q^{m},q)^{-1})_{7,7} \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

The matrix $P(x,q)^{-1}$ has first column

$$\begin{pmatrix} q^{15}x^5 \\ q^{13}x^5 + (\frac{1}{2}q^{10} + q^9)x^4 \\ (-q^{13} - q^{12})x^5 + q^8x^4 + \frac{1}{2}q^5x^3 \\ (-q^{11} - q^{10})x^5 + \frac{1}{2}q^8x^4 \\ q^{10}x^5 + q^7x^4 \\ q^8x^5 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then we have

$$\begin{split} L_{m+1}^{(j)}(q^{-1}) &= L_m^{(j)}(q^{-1}) + \frac{2-2q}{q^{2m+2}} \big(\mathbf{Z}_{-m-6}^{(7\times7)} (q^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}} P(q^m, q)^{-1} \big)_{1,1} \\ &= L_m^{(j)}(q^{-1}) + q^{13+3m} (2-2q) Z_{-m-6}^{(j)} (q^{-1}) \\ &+ \left(q^{11+3m} + \left(\frac{1}{2} q^8 + q^7 \right) q^{2m} \right) (2-2q) Z_{-m-5}^{(j)} (q^{-1}) \\ &+ \left(\left(-q^{11} - q^{10} \right) q^{3m} + q^{6+2m} + \frac{1}{2} q^{3+m} \right) (2-2q) Z_{-m-4}^{(j)} (q^{-1}) \\ &+ \left(\left(-q^9 - q^8 \right) q^{3m} + \frac{1}{2} q^{6+2m} \right) (2-2q) Z_{-m-3}^{(j)} (q^{-1}) \\ &+ \left(q^{8+3m} + q^{5+2m} \right) (2-2q) Z_{-m-2}^{(j)} (q^{-1}) \\ &+ q^{6+3m} (2-2q) Z_{-m-1}^{(j)} (q^{-1}). \end{split}$$

The solution to such an equation is unique up to a constant in m. For example, if we let

$$K_{m,n}^{(4)}(q) = (q;q)_{\infty}(q^{3/2};q)_{\infty} \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{(2k+1)(2k+2)/2 + (k+1/2)j - m(k+1/2) + j + (n-1)m}}{(q;q)_j(q;q)_{2k+1}(q^{3/2};q)_{k+j}(1-q^{3/2-n+k})},$$

then

$$K_{m,n}^{(4)}(q) - K_{m-1,n}^{(4)}(q) = q^{m n} Z_m^{(4)}(q).$$

Then using this function, we can compute that

$$\frac{1}{2q(1-q)}L_m^{(4)}(q) = q^3 K_{-m-6,3}^{(4)}(q) + q^2 K_{-m-5,3}^{(4)}(q) + \left(\frac{1}{2}+q\right) K_{-m-5,2}^{(4)}(q)
+ \left(-q^{-1}-1\right) K_{-m-4,3}^{(4)}(q) + K_{-m-4,2}^{(4)}(q) + \frac{1}{2}q^{-1} K_{-m-4,1}^{(4)}(q)
+ \left(-q^{-2}-q^{-1}\right) K_{-m-3,3}^{(4)}(q) + \frac{1}{2}q^{-2} K_{-m-3,2}^{(4)}(q)
+ q^{-4} K_{-m-2,3}^{(4)}(q) + q^{-3} K_{-m-2,2}^{(4)}(q) + q^{-5} K_{-m-1,3}^{(4)}(q).$$
(5.3)

This can be done for every series in equation (4.12) completely analogously and more details are given in equations (C.9)–(C.10). Taking this into account, we take the state integral

$$S_{m,m'}^{(0)}(\tau) = \frac{2 - 2\tilde{q}}{q^m \tilde{q}^{2-m'}} \int_{\mathbb{R}-i0} \int_{\mathbb{R}-i0} \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(x_2 + c_{\mathsf{b}}) \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(2x_1 + c_{\mathsf{b}}) \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(x_2 - x_1 + c_{\mathsf{b}}) \times \mathbf{e}(-x_1^2 - x_1 x_2 + \mathrm{i}x_1 (m\mathsf{b} - m'\mathsf{b}^{-1}) - \mathrm{i}x_2 (\mathsf{b} + \mathsf{b}^{-1}))$$

$$\times \left(\tilde{q}^{-3} \frac{\mathbf{e}(-6ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})}{1 - \mathbf{e}(-ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})\tilde{q}^{2}} + \tilde{q}^{-2} \frac{\mathbf{e}(-5ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})}{1 - \mathbf{e}(-ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})\tilde{q}^{2}} \right. \\ \left. + \left(\frac{1}{2} + \tilde{q}^{-1} \right) \frac{\mathbf{e}(-5ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})}{1 - \mathbf{e}(-ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})\tilde{q}} + (-\tilde{q} - 1) \frac{\mathbf{e}(-4ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})}{1 - \mathbf{e}(-ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})\tilde{q}^{2}} \right. \\ \left. + \frac{\mathbf{e}(-4ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})}{1 - \mathbf{e}(-ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})\tilde{q}} + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{q}\frac{\mathbf{e}(-4ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})}{1 - \mathbf{e}(-ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})} + (-\tilde{q}^{2} - \tilde{q})\frac{\mathbf{e}(-3ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})}{1 - \mathbf{e}(-ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})\tilde{q}^{2}} \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{q}^{2}\frac{\mathbf{e}(-3ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})}{1 - \mathbf{e}(-ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})\tilde{q}} + \tilde{q}^{4}\frac{\mathbf{e}(-2ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})}{1 - \mathbf{e}(-ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})\tilde{q}^{2}} + \tilde{q}^{3}\frac{\mathbf{e}(-2ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})}{1 - \mathbf{e}(-ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})\tilde{q}} \right. \\ \left. + \tilde{q}^{5}\frac{\mathbf{e}(-ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})}{1 - \mathbf{e}(-ix_{1}\mathbf{b}^{-1})\tilde{q}^{2}} \right) dx_{1}dx_{2}.$$
 (5.4)

The following lemma can be proved using the techniques of [34] and some details are given in Appendix C.2. We take

$$K_{m,n}^{(0)}(q) = (q;q)_{\infty}^{2} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{(n-1)(2n-1)+nj}}{(q;q)_{j}(q;q)_{2n-2}(q;q)_{n-1+j}}$$

and define $L_m^{(0)}(q)$ as in equation (5.3).

Lemma 5.5. We have the following identity:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{m,m'}^{(0)}(\tau) &= Z_m^{(1)}(q) L_{m'}^{(2)} \big(\tilde{q}^{-1}\big) + \tau Z_m^{(2)}(q) L_{m'}^{(1)} \big(\tilde{q}^{-1}\big) + \tau^2 Z_m^{(3)}(q) L_{m'}^{(0)} \big(\tilde{q}^{-1}\big) \\ &+ Z_m^{(4)}(q) L_{m'}^{(5)} \big(\tilde{q}^{-1}\big) + Z_m^{(5)}(q) L_{m'}^{(4)} \big(\tilde{q}^{-1}\big) + Z_m^{(6)}(q) L_{m'}^{(6)} \big(\tilde{q}^{-1}\big) \\ &+ Z_m^{(7)}(q) L_{m'}^{(8)} \big(\tilde{q}^{-1}\big) + Z_m^{(8)}(q) L_{m'}^{(7)} \big(\tilde{q}^{-1}\big) + Z_m^{(9)}(q) L_{m'}^{(9)} \big(\tilde{q}^{-1}\big). \end{split}$$

This can be simplified further using the following identities again following from simple q-holonomic methods.

Lemma 5.6. For $|q| \neq 1$,

$$L_m^{(0)}(q) = \chi_{|q|<1}$$

and for |q| > 1

$$L_m^{(2)}(q) = 1$$

Using the Lemmas 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.5, 5.6, and an analogous description of $L_m^{(0)}$ when q is a root of unity gives the proof of Theorem 4.8.

6 Resurgence

The study of resurgence in relation to quantum invariants of three-manifolds was initiated in [27]. Recently, a proposal for a complete description of the resurgent structure was given in [30, 32]. That work gives a conjectural, but complete, understanding of both the Borel resummation and the Stokes constants. The first being given by the state integrals of Andersen–Kashaev and the second by the 3d index of Dimofte–Gaiotto–Gukov [20]. For the case of closed manifolds neither of these invariants are known but there are conjectural proposals [26]. Regardless, the methods in [30, 32] can be applied and one can construct a state integral that conjecturally gives the Borel resummation of the asymptotic series $\Phi^{(\rho)}$ and give q-series as generating functions of Strokes constants. Both of these invariants are given as a product of two pieces. These are all built from a matrix **Z**. The Borel resummation and Stokes constants respectively are conjectured [30, 48] to be roughly of the shape " $\mathbf{Z}(\tilde{q})\mathbf{Z}(q)^{-1}$ " and " $\mathbf{Z}(q)\mathbf{Z}(q^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}$ ". In the example of $4_1(-1, 2)$, we illustrate how these conjectures should be given precisely.

6.1 Borel resummation

We can find the quantum modular behaviour for $\tau \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ and $\tau \in \mathbb{R}_{<0}$ numerically by using Borel-Padé-Laplace. This can be done with q-series, functions at roots of unity, or q^{-1} series. There are no Stokes lines on the reals, or equivalently they have zero Stokes constants there (as can be numerically seen in the bottom right 2×2 block of M in equation (3.3)), so we only need to do this once in this example. Numerical computations lead to the functions X_{ρ} of equation (4.7). We can write this in terms of the module associated to equation (2.6) with n = 0. This is stored in the matrix P(q) of equations (4.8) and (4.9). Assuming the conjectures [27] that the asymptotic series $\Phi_m^{(\rho)}$ are Borel resummable, we let $s(\widehat{\Phi})$ represent the Borel resummation of the 8×8 matrix of asymptotic series indexed by $m = 0, \ldots, 7$ by ρ_0, \ldots, ρ_7 . Considering the eight by eight matrix of q series, we find numerically the conjectural identities.

Conjecture 6.1. For τ with small just above the positive reals (region I),

$$\mathbf{Z}_0(\tilde{q}) = s(\widehat{\Phi})(-1/\tau)S_{\mathrm{I}}(q),$$

where

as τ on a small angle just above the negative reals (region II),

$$\mathbf{Z}_0(\tilde{q}) = s(\widehat{\Phi})(-1/\tau)S_{\mathrm{II}}(q),$$

where

$$S_{\rm II}(q) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} P(q) \mathbf{Z}_{-3}(q)$$

as τ on a small angle just below the negative reals (region III),

$$\mathbf{Z}_0(\tilde{q}) = s(\widehat{\Phi})(-1/\tau)S_{\mathrm{III}}(q),$$

where

$$S_{\rm III}(q) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} P(q) \mathbf{Z}_{-3}(q)$$

$$\times \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \tau^{-1} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \tau^{-1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \tau^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \tau^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \tau^{-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

as τ on a small angle just below the positive reals (region IV),

$$\mathbf{Z}_0(\tilde{q}) = s(\widehat{\Phi})(-1/\tau)S_{\mathrm{IV}}(q),$$

where

Of course, these equations are between matrices and therefore we can invert them. This allows us to use these equations to give conjectural formulae for the Borel resummation as a product of q and \tilde{q} series weighted by powers of τ . These conjectures are analogous to those in [30, 32] on the Borel transform. Moreover, using the analytic properties of the state integrals, we see that the Borel resummation on various rays have analytic continuation to a cut plane. This means that they can be compared on the upper half plane or the lower half plane.

6.2 Stokes matrices

Using the previous Conjecture 6.1 for the Borel resummation, we can compute the Stokes phenomenon between these regions and find agreement with equation (3.3). Assuming various conjectures on the behaviour of the Stokes phenomenon [30], we can compute the generating series of Stokes matrices as quotients of these matrices. Indeed, to go from region II to region I we must multiply $s(\hat{\Phi})$ by $S_{\rm II}(q)S_I(q)^{-1}$. This then stores the Stokes constants the upper half plane in the matrix of q-series

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{S}_{-}(q) &= S_{\mathrm{II}}(q)S_{\mathrm{I}}(q)^{-1} - I \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 + q + 3q^2 & -q - 2q^2 & 1 + q & -q^2 & q + 2q^2 & -1 - q + q^2 & -1 + 3q^2 & -1 + 3q^2 \\ q - q^2 & q^2 & -q - q^2 & 0 & -q^2 & q + q^2 & q & q \\ -1 + 2q + q^2 & -q - q^2 & 1 & -q^2 & q + q^2 & -1 + q^2 & -1 + q + 2q^2 - 1 + q + 2q^2 \\ 1 - 2q - q^2 & q + q^2 & -1 & q^2 & -q - q^2 & 1 - q^2 & 1 - q - 2q^2 & 1 - q - 2q^2 \\ -q + q^2 & -q^2 & q + q^2 & 0 & q^2 & -q - q^2 & 1 - q - 2q^2 & 1 - q - 2q^2 \\ -q + q^2 & -q^2 & q + q^2 & 0 & q^2 & -q - q^2 & -q & -q \\ 1 - 3q - q^2 & q & -1 + q + 2q^2 & q^2 & -q & 1 - q - 3q^2 & -2q - 3q^2 & -2q - 3q^2 \\ 1 - 3q - q^2 & q & -1 + q + 2q^2 & q^2 & -q & 1 - q - 3q^2 & -2q - 3q^2 & -2q - 3q^2 \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ O(q^3). \end{split}$$

The Stokes constants in the lower half plane are analogously stored by

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{S}_{+}(q) &= S_{\mathrm{IV}} \left(q^{-1} \right) S_{\mathrm{III}} \left(q^{-1} \right)^{-1} - I \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -q - 2q^2 & q^2 & -q - q^2 & q + q^2 & -q^2 & -q & -q \\ -1 & 1 + q & -q - q^2 & 1 & -1 & q + q^2 & 1 - q - 2q^2 & 1 - q - 2q^2 \\ -q + q^2 & -q^2 & 0 & -q^2 & q^2 & 0 & -q^2 & -q^2 \\ -q - q^2 & q + 2q^2 & -q^2 & q + q^2 & -q - q^2 & q^2 & q & q \\ -2q^2 & -1 - q + q^2 & q + q^2 & -1 + q^2 & 1 - q^2 & -q - q^2 - 1 + q + 3q^2 - 1 + q + 3q^2 \\ 2q^2 & 1 - 3q^2 & -q & 1 - q - 2q^2 - 1 + q + 2q^2 & q & -2q - 3q^2 & -2q - 3q^2 \\ q + 2q^2 & 1 - 3q^2 & -q & 1 - q - 2q^2 - 1 + q + 2q^2 & q & -2q - 3q^2 & -2q - 3q^2 \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ O(q^3). \end{split}$$

More precisely, to compute the Stokes constants from these matrices one must factorise the above q-series into elementary Stokes automorphism [30, equations (66)–(68)] associated to each argument and take the logarithm, which can be done to any order in q given that these elementary pieces are unipotent. Factorising these matrices, we find that

$$I + \mathsf{S}_{-}(q) =$$

We can read off the Stokes constants from the entries of the matrices appearing in this factorisation.

6.3 The 3d index

In [20], remarkable q-series invariants of three-manifolds were proposed. These were then shown invariant under certain 2–3 moves when the associated q-series were convergent. Using state integrals, [35] showed that this is a true topological invariant of the manifold. As with many three-manifold invariants, the 3d index is built from gluing together pieces associated to tetrahedra. This piece is the so called tetrahedral index and given in a certain basis by the q-series

$$\mathcal{I}_{\Delta}(m,e;q) = \sum_{n=\max(-e,0)}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{q^{n(n+1)/2 - (n+\frac{1}{2}e)m}}{(q;q)_n(q;q)_{n+e}}$$

Using Neumann–Zagier data of an ideal triangulation [62] of a manifold M that supports an angle structure [28], the 3d index of [20] can be defined by taking

$$\mathcal{I}_M(m,e;q) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^r} q^{\frac{1}{2}\nu \cdot k} \prod_{j=1}^N \mathcal{I}_\Delta((dm-be)_j - B_j \cdot k, (-cm+ae)_j + A_j \cdot k;q),$$

where r is the number of tetrahedra minus the number of cusps, $m, e \in \mathbb{Z}^{N-r}$, $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in M_{N-r,N}(\mathbb{Z})$ give the gluing equations for the cusps, and $A, B \in M_{r,N}(\mathbb{Z})$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{Z}^r$ give the gluing equations for the edges. It was conjectured [30, 43, 57] that the Stokes constants of asymptotic series associated to knots were related to the 3d index. It is natural to attempt to understand if a similar story could hold for closed 3-manifolds.

Recently, a surgery formula was proposed for the 3d index [26]. This proposal does not enjoy a proof of topological invariance, unlike the 3d index for knots. However, there is some numerical evidence [26] of topological invariance. Using the computation of the Stokes constants from Section 6.2 and the conjecture of [30, Conjecture 2], we have a natural guess for the 3d index of $4_1(-1,2)$ given by

$$1 + \mathsf{S}_{+}^{(\rho_6,\rho_6)}(q) = 1 - 2q - 3q^2 + 3q^4 + 10q^5 + 14q^6 + 22q^7 + 20q^8 + 14q^9 + \cdots$$

Therefore, we can compare¹¹ with the proposal of [26]. For the knot 4_1 , we take $\alpha = [1,0]$, $\beta = [0,-1]$, $\gamma = [-1,0]$, $\delta = [1,0]$, A = [-1,-1], B = [1,1], $\nu = 0$. We will use the notation of [26], so that for $m, e \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $[a,b;c,d] \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{K}^{\mathrm{SO}(3)}(m, e, c, d; q) &:= \frac{1}{2} (-1)^{am+2be} \left(\delta_{cm+2de,0} \left(q^{\frac{am+2be}{2}} - q^{-\frac{am+2be}{2}} \right) - \delta_{|cm+2de|,2} \right), \\ \mathcal{I}_{S^3 \smallsetminus \mathbf{4_1}}^{(\mu,\lambda)}(m, e; q) &= \sum_{e_1 \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{I}_\Delta(m - e_1, m + e - e_1; q) \mathcal{I}_\Delta(e - e_1, -e_1; q), \\ \mathcal{I}_{4_1(-1,2)}(q) &:= \sum_{m, e \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{K}^{\mathrm{SO}(3)}(m, e, -1, 2; q) \mathcal{I}_{S^3 \smallsetminus \mathbf{4_1}}^{(\mu,\lambda)}(m, e; q) \\ &= 1 - 2q - 3q^2 + 3q^4 + 10q^5 + 14q^6 + 22q^7 + 20q^8 + 14q^9 + \cdots . \end{aligned}$$

As can be seen, this expansion agrees with the expansion of $1 + S_{+}^{(\rho_6,\rho_6)}(q)$ where we recall that ρ_6 is the geometric connection. This gives more numerical evidence for the proposals of both [26, 30].

¹¹Upon posting the original version of this work on the arXiv, I received an email from Dongmin Gang with a question of whether the Stokes constants matched their 3d index, which for this manifold was given $1 - 2q - 3q^2 + 3q^4 + 10q^5 + 14q^6 + \cdots$.

A Modularity of the *q*-Pochhammer symbol

The q-Pochhammer symbol satisfies various modularity properties that it inherits from the Faddeev quantum dilogarithm. A fantastic description of Faddeev's quantum dilogarithm is given in [3, Appendix A] however we will include some additional formulae that we will need. There are three different formulae for the Faddeev quantum dilogarithm on various domains. Using the notation $\tau = \mathbf{b}^2$, $c_{\mathbf{b}} = \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}(\mathbf{b} + \mathbf{b}^{-1})$ and the standard $q = \mathbf{e}(\tau)$ and $\tilde{q} = \mathbf{e}(-1/\tau)$, we have (when defined)

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(x) &= \exp\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}+i0} \frac{\exp(-2ixw)}{4\sinh(\mathsf{b}w)\sinh(\mathsf{b}^{-1}w)} \frac{\mathrm{d}w}{w}\right) = \left(-q^{1/2}\exp(2\pi\mathsf{b}x);q\right)_{-\lfloor\operatorname{Im}(\mathsf{b}^{-1}x+i\frac{\mathsf{b}^{-2}}{2})+\frac{1}{2}\rfloor} \\ &\times \exp\left(\mathsf{b}^{2}\int_{i\mathbb{R}+0} \frac{\log\left(1+\tilde{q}^{-1/2}\mathbf{e}(-w)\exp(2\pi\mathsf{b}^{-1}x)\right)}{1-\mathbf{e}(-\mathsf{b}^{2}w)}\mathrm{d}w\right) \\ &= \frac{\left(-q^{1/2}\exp(2\pi\mathsf{b}x);q\right)_{\infty}}{\left(-\tilde{q}^{1/2}\exp(2\pi\mathsf{b}^{-1}x);\tilde{q}\right)_{\infty}}. \end{split}$$

These can be proved to be equivalent where their domains overlap by use of the residue theorem. For example, when $|\operatorname{Im}(x)| < \operatorname{Im}(c_{\mathsf{b}})$ and $\operatorname{Im}(\tau) > 0$ the first and the last equation can be shown equal as

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}+i0} \frac{\exp(-2ixw)}{4\sinh(bw)\sinh(b^{-1}w)} \frac{dw}{w} &= -\int_{i\mathbb{R}+0} \frac{\mathbf{e}\left(-ixw + (\mathbf{b} + \mathbf{b}^{-1})w/2\right)}{(1 - \mathbf{e}(bw))(1 - \mathbf{e}(b^{-1}w))} \frac{dw}{w} \\ &= 2\pi i \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(\operatorname{Res}_{w=k\mathbf{b}} + \operatorname{Res}_{w=k\mathbf{b}^{-1}}\right) \frac{\mathbf{e}\left(-ixw + (\mathbf{b} + \mathbf{b}^{-1})w/2\right)}{(1 - \mathbf{e}(bw))(1 - \mathbf{e}(b^{-1}w))} \frac{dw}{w} \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (-1)^k \tilde{q}^{k/2} \frac{\mathbf{e}\left(-kix\mathbf{b}^{-1}\right)}{k(1 - \tilde{q}^k)} - (-1)^k q^{k/2} \frac{\mathbf{e}(-kix\mathbf{b})}{k(1 - q^k)} \\ &= -\log\left(-\tilde{q}^{1/2}\exp(2\pi \mathbf{b}^{-1}x);\tilde{q}\right)_{\infty} + \log\left(-q^{1/2}\exp(2\pi \mathbf{b}x);q\right)_{\infty}, \end{split}$$

where the last line follows from the equation [80, Proposition 2]

$$-\log(x;q)_{\infty} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^k}{k(1-q^k)}.$$

Then for the second and last when $\operatorname{Re}(b^2) > 0$ and $\operatorname{Im}(b^2) > 0$, we use the integral for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$-\int_{-i\mathsf{b}^{-1}x+\frac{\mathsf{b}^{-2}}{2}-\frac{1}{2}-n}^{i\infty}\frac{2\pi \mathrm{i}}{1-\mathsf{e}(-\mathsf{b}^{2}w)}\mathrm{d}w=\mathsf{b}^{-2}\log(1+q^{1/2+n}\exp(2\pi\mathsf{b}x)).$$

We see that for the principle branch of the logarithm

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{b}^{2} \int_{\mathbf{i}\mathbb{R}+0} \frac{\log(1+\tilde{q}^{-1/2}\mathbf{e}(-w)\exp(2\pi\mathbf{b}^{-1}x))}{1-\mathbf{e}(-\mathbf{b}^{2}w)} dw \\ &= -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{w=k\mathbf{b}^{-2}} \frac{\log(1+\tilde{q}^{-1/2}\mathbf{e}(-w)\exp(2\pi\mathbf{b}^{-1}x))}{1-\mathbf{e}(-\mathbf{b}^{2}w)} \frac{dw}{\mathbf{b}^{-2}} \\ &- \sum_{n=-\lfloor\operatorname{Im}(\mathbf{b}^{-1}x+\mathbf{i}\frac{\mathbf{b}^{-2}}{2})+\frac{1}{2}\rfloor} \int_{-\mathbf{i}\mathbf{b}^{-1}x+\frac{\mathbf{b}^{-2}}{2}-\frac{1}{2}-n}^{\mathbf{i}\infty} \frac{2\pi\mathbf{i}}{1-\mathbf{e}(-\mathbf{b}^{2}w)} \frac{dw}{\mathbf{b}^{-2}} \\ &= -\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \log(1+\tilde{q}^{1/2+k}\exp(2\pi\mathbf{b}^{-1}x)) + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \log(1+q^{1/2+n}\exp(2\pi\mathbf{b}x)) \end{split}$$

$$-\sum_{n=0}^{-\lceil \operatorname{Im}(\mathsf{b}^{-1}x+\mathrm{i}\frac{\mathsf{b}^{-2}}{2})+\frac{1}{2}\rceil} \log(1+q^{1/2+n}\exp(2\pi\mathsf{b}x))$$

= $-\log(-\tilde{q}^{1/2}\exp(2\pi\mathsf{b}^{-1}x);\tilde{q})_{\infty} + \log(-q^{1/2}\exp(2\pi\mathsf{b}x);q)_{\infty}$
 $-\log(-q^{1/2}\exp(2\pi\mathsf{b}x);q)_{-\lfloor\operatorname{Im}(\mathsf{b}^{-1}x+\mathrm{i}\frac{\mathsf{b}^{-2}}{2})+\frac{1}{2}\rfloor}.$

These various descriptions can be used to show that $\Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(x)$ extends to a meromorphic function for $\mathsf{b}^2 \in \mathbb{C} \smallsetminus \mathbb{R}_{\leq 0}$ with simple poles and zeros determined by

$$\Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(x)^{\pm} = 0$$
 if and only if $x \in \mp (c_{\mathsf{b}} + \mathrm{ib}\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} + \mathrm{ib}^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}).$

Therefore, for $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\operatorname{Im}(b^2) > 0$ we have

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}\Big(\mathrm{i}\Big(\frac{1}{2}\Big)\mathsf{b} + \mathrm{i}\Big(-k - \frac{1}{2}\Big)\mathsf{b}^{-1}\Big)\Phi_{\mathsf{b}}\Big(\mathrm{i}\Big(\frac{1}{2}\Big)\mathsf{b} + \mathrm{i}\Big(-\frac{1}{2}\Big)\mathsf{b}^{-1}\Big)^{-1} \\ &= \frac{(q;q)_{\infty}}{\left(\tilde{q}^{k+1};\tilde{q}\right)_{\infty}}\frac{\langle\tilde{q};\tilde{q}\rangle_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty}} = (\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{k} \\ &= \mathsf{b}(q;q)_{\lfloor\operatorname{Re}(\mathsf{b}^{-2})k\rfloor}\exp\bigg(\frac{2\pi\mathrm{i}}{24\mathsf{b}^{2}} - \frac{\pi\mathrm{i}}{4} + \frac{2\pi\mathrm{i}\mathsf{b}^{2}}{24} + \mathsf{b}^{2}\int_{\mathrm{i}\mathbb{R}+0}\frac{\log\big(1 - \tilde{q}^{k}\mathsf{e}(-w)\big)}{1 - \mathsf{e}\big(-\mathsf{b}^{2}w\big)}\mathrm{d}w\bigg), \end{split}$$

and given the analyticity of the quantum dilogarithm and the Pochhammer symbols the first and second line hold for all $b^2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\leq 0}$. Therefore, let

$$f(k;\tau) = \frac{\tau}{24} - \frac{1}{8} + \frac{1}{24\tau} + \frac{\tau}{2\pi i} \int_{i\mathbb{R}+0} \frac{\log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-k/\tau - w))}{1 - \mathbf{e}(-\tau w)} dw.$$
 (A.1)

This function is meromorphic in k and τ for $\operatorname{Re}(k/\tau) \notin \mathbb{Z}$ and satisfies the periodicity

$$f(k+\tau;\tau) = f(k;\tau). \tag{A.2}$$

Then we can write

$$(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_k = (q;q)_{\lfloor \operatorname{Re}(k/\tau) \rfloor} \mathbf{e}(f(k;\tau)).$$
(A.3)

We can determine the asymptotics of f by considering the equation

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\tau}{2\pi\mathrm{i}} \int_{\mathrm{i}\mathbb{R}+0} \frac{\log(1-\mathrm{e}(-k/\tau-w))}{1-\mathrm{e}(-\tau w)} \mathrm{d}w = \frac{\tau}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}+\mathrm{i}0}^{\infty} \frac{\log(1-\exp(-2\pi\mathrm{i}k/\tau+2\pi w))}{1-\exp(2\pi\tau w)} \mathrm{d}w \\ &= \frac{\tau}{2\pi} \int_{0+\mathrm{i}0}^{\infty} \frac{\log(1-\exp(-2\pi\mathrm{i}k/\tau+2\pi w))}{1-\exp(2\pi\tau w)} \mathrm{d}w \\ &\quad -\frac{\tau}{2\pi} \int_{0-\mathrm{i}0}^{\infty} \frac{\log(1-\exp(-2\pi\mathrm{i}k/\tau-2\pi w))}{1-\exp(-2\pi\tau w)} \mathrm{d}w \\ &= \frac{\tau}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \log(1-\exp(-2\pi\mathrm{i}k/\tau-2\pi w)) \mathrm{d}w + \frac{1}{4\pi\mathrm{i}} \log(1-\exp(-2\pi\mathrm{i}k/\tau)) \\ &\quad +\frac{\tau}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\log(1-\exp(-2\pi\mathrm{i}k/\tau+2\pi w)) - \log(1-\exp(-2\pi\mathrm{i}k/\tau-2\pi w))}{1-\exp(2\pi\tau w)} \mathrm{d}w \\ &= \frac{\tau}{(2\pi\mathrm{i})^2} \operatorname{Li}_2(\mathrm{e}(-k/\tau)) + \frac{1}{2(2\pi\mathrm{i})} \log(1-\exp(-2\pi\mathrm{i}k/\tau)) \\ &\quad +\frac{\mathrm{i}\tau}{2\pi\mathrm{i}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\log(1-\exp(-2\pi\mathrm{i}k/\tau+2\pi w)) - \log(1-\exp(-2\pi\mathrm{i}k/\tau-2\pi w))}{1-\exp(2\pi\tau w)} \mathrm{d}w. \end{split}$$

This can be used to show that

$$f(k\tau,\tau) = \frac{\tau}{(2\pi i)^2} \operatorname{Li}_2(\mathbf{e}(-k)) + \frac{\tau}{24} + O(\tau^0).$$
(A.4)

B Asymptotic methods

In this appendix, we will provide more details on the proofs of the various theorems on asymptotics. In particular we will give more details on Theorems 3.3 and 4.1. In upcoming work with Fantini, more refined methods are developed, which allow for even stronger results so we only outline these older methods.

B.1 Outline of the proof of Theorem 3.3

In this appendix, we will gives a few details on the proof of Theorem 3.3. This involves very similar arguments as the next Appendix B.2. For $\tilde{q} = \mathbf{e}(i/r)$ for $r \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$, we can rewrite the sum

$$\sum_{0 \le k \le \ell} (-1)^{k+\ell} \frac{\tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{2}3k(k+1) + \frac{1}{2}\ell(\ell+1) - k}(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{\ell}}{(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{2k}(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{\ell-k}} = \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^j \frac{\tilde{q}^{k(2k-1) + jk + \frac{1}{2}j(j+1)}(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{k+j}}{(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{2k}(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{j}}$$

with the Faddeev quantum dilogarithm and explicitly f from equation (A.1)

$$\sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\frac{2\pi}{r}\left(\frac{i}{2}rj + k(2k-1) + jk + \frac{1}{2}j(j+1) - rif(k+j;i/r) + rif(2k;i/r) + rif(j;i/r)\right)\right).$$

Notice that when k, j > 2r the summand is $O(\exp(-2\pi r))$. Therefore, this sum is asymptotic, up to $O(\exp(-2\pi r))$, to

$$\sum_{\substack{x,y \in \frac{1}{r}\mathbb{Z} \cap [0,2]^2 \\ -\operatorname{i} f(xr+yr; \operatorname{i}/r) + \operatorname{i} f(2xr; \operatorname{i}/r) + \operatorname{i} f(yr; \operatorname{i}/r) \end{pmatrix}} \exp\left(-2\pi \left(\frac{\operatorname{i}}{2}ry + x(2xr-1) + yxr + \frac{1}{2}y(yr+1) - \operatorname{i} f(xr+yr; \operatorname{i}/r) + \operatorname{i} f(2xr; \operatorname{i}/r) + \operatorname{i} f(yr; \operatorname{i}/r) \right)\right).$$

Using Abel–Plana summation, this sum is asymptotic to an integral with an appropriate parametrisation

$$\int_{0}^{2} \int_{0}^{2} \exp\left(-2\pi \left(\frac{i}{2}ry + x(2xr - 1) + yxr + \frac{1}{2}y(yr + 1) - if(xr + yr; i/r) + if(2xr; i/r) + if(yr; i/r)\right)\right) dxdy.$$

Therefore, we are interested in the behaviour of the function

$$W(x,y) = 2x^{2} + yx + \frac{1}{2}y^{2} - \frac{1}{2}y - \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^{2}}\operatorname{Li}_{2}(\mathbf{e}(-x-y)) + \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^{2}}\operatorname{Li}_{2}(\mathbf{e}(-2x)) + \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^{2}}\operatorname{Li}_{2}(\mathbf{e}(-y)) + \frac{1}{24}.$$

This has one critical point on this branch given by $(x_3, y_3) = (0.0081371i, -0.017231i)$. One can show that on the set $x \in [0, 1]$

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{1}{(2\pi\mathrm{i})^2}\operatorname{Li}_2(\mathbf{e}(-x))\right)$$

attains one maximum at x = 1/2 given by

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2}\operatorname{Li}_2(-1)\right) = \frac{1}{48},$$

with minima at x = 0, 1 given by

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{1}{(2\pi \mathrm{i})^2}\operatorname{Li}_2(1)\right) = -\frac{1}{24}$$

With this, we see that for $x, y \in [0, 2]$

$$W(x,y) \ge 2x^2 + yx - \frac{1}{8} - \frac{1}{48} - \frac{1}{24} - \frac{1}{24} + \frac{1}{24},$$

and for y > 1.25, we have

$$W(x,y) \ge 0.$$

Therefore, taking a parametrisation with end points beginning in the region where W is greater than or equal to zero and using Fubini's theorem, we can deform the contour by the steepest descent of W fixing the real parts of x, y. In the region where $W(x, y) \geq W(x_3, y_3) =$ $0.0029434... = (V_{\rho_3} - 4\pi^2)/(2\pi i)^2$. This deformation then passes through the critical point (x_3, y_3) where the integrand attains its maximum. Indeed, all possible critical points are located at \mathbb{Z}^2 translates of the following numbers and besides (x_3, y_3) they do not contribute:

$$\begin{array}{l} (0.00813711\ldots i, -0.0172319\ldots i),\\ (0.5+0.350548\ldots i, 0.5-0.141931\ldots i),\\ (-0.199662\ldots i, 0.5+0.0835868\ldots i),\\ (0.5-0.042154\ldots i, 0.5+0.146002\ldots i),\\ (-0.111324\ldots i, 0.5-0.0478456\ldots i),\\ (0.336754\ldots -0.00277186\ldots i, 0.108538\ldots -0.0112903\ldots i),\\ (-0.336754\ldots -0.00277186\ldots i, -0.108538-0.0112903\ldots i). \end{array}$$

B.2 More details on Theorem 4.1

In this appendix, we will provide some more details on the proof of Theorem 4.1. These methods are well known and see [63] for another relevant example of these methods. We wish to apply a stationary phase approximation to the integral of equation (4.10). The integrand has exponential behaviour as $r \to \infty$ and the behaviour is determined by the function $V_{\alpha,\beta}$ of equation (4.4). The size of the growth is determined by $\operatorname{Im}(V_{\alpha,\beta})$. To begin with, we want to understand the regions where the size of $\operatorname{Im}(V_{\alpha,\beta})$ is larger than $\operatorname{Im}\left(-\frac{V_{\rho_6}}{(2\pi i)^2}\right)$. This is depicted in Figure 7 and we prove explicitly this is true on the green regions.

Lemma B.1. The region U depicted in green in Figure 7 given by

$$U = \begin{cases} 2x + 2y \in [0.05, 0.33] + \mathbb{Z} \quad or \\ x \in [0.67000, 0.95000] + \mathbb{Z} \quad or \\ x, y \in [0, 0.025] \quad or \\ x \in [0.95, 1], \quad y \in [0, 0.025] \quad or \\ x \in [0.95, 1], \quad y \in [0.95, 1] \quad or \\ x \in [0.95, 1], \quad y \in [0.025, 0.075], \quad 2x + 2y \le 2.05 \quad or \\ x, y \in [0.49250, 1] \quad or \\ x \in [0.5, 1], \quad 2x + 2y \in [-0.15, 0.5] + \mathbb{Z} \quad or \\ y \in [0.5, 1], \quad 2x + 2y \in [-0.15, 0.5] + \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$



Figure 7. The regions R that arise from the stationary phase approximation. In red we have numerically computed the regions where $\operatorname{Im}(V_{\alpha,\beta})$ is larger than $\operatorname{Im}\left(-\frac{V_{\rho_6}}{(2\pi i)^2}\right)$ and in green is the region with an explicit proof that it is smaller given in Lemma B.1. The four regions A, B, C, D give the connected components of the complement of the set U depicted in green. Note the very small red bumps on the boundary in the regions C and D.

satisfies the property that for $(x, y) \in U$

$$\operatorname{Im}\left(\frac{V_{-1,1}(x,y)}{(2\pi i)^2} + \frac{V_{\rho_6}}{(2\pi i)^2}\right) > 0.$$

Proof. Firstly, we have

$$-\frac{V_{\rho_6}}{(2\pi i)^2} = 0.12330 - 0.035425i.$$

Let

$$D(x) = \operatorname{Im}\left(\frac{\operatorname{Li}_2(\mathbf{e}(-x))}{(2\pi \mathrm{i})^2}\right).$$

Then

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x}D(x) = -\frac{\log(2\sin(\pi x))}{2\pi}, \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}x^2}D(z) = -\frac{\cot(\pi x)}{2}$$

has two stationary points at 1/6, 5/6 for $x \in [0, 1]$ and achieves maximum and minimum values

$$Im(Li_2(e(\pm 1/6)) = \pm 1.0149...)$$

Therefore, one can compute

$$D(0.05) + 0.035425 = 0.052608 \dots > 0.051418 \dots = D(1/6),$$

$$D(0.33) + 0.035425 = 0.052854 \dots > 0.051418 \dots = D(1/6).$$

Therefore, for $2x + 2y \in [0.05, 0.33] + \mathbb{Z}$ or $x, y \in [0.67000, 0.95000]$, we see that

$$D(2x+2y) - D(x) - D(y) > -0.035425.$$

For $x, y \in [0, 0.025]$, we see that

$$D(2x+2y) - D(x) - D(y) + 0.035425 > 0.035425 - 2D(0.025) = 0.012735.$$

For $x \in [0.95, 1]$ and $y \in [0, 0.025]$, we see that

$$D(2x+2y) - D(x) - D(y) + 0.035425 > 0.035425 - D(0.1) - D(0.025) = 0.00068087.$$

For $x \in [0.95, 1]$, $y \in [0.025, 0.075]$ and $2x + 2y \le 2.05$, we have

$$D(2x+2y) - D(x) - D(y) + 0.035425 > 0.035425 - D(0.0500) - D(0.025) = 0.0068973$$

For $x, y \in [0.49250, 1]$, we see that

$$D(2x + 2y) - D(x) - D(y) + 0.035425 > 0.035425 - D(1/6) - 2D(0.0075)$$

= 3.5615 × 10⁻⁵.

If $y \in [0.5, 1]$ and $2x + 2y \in [-0.15, 0.5] + \mathbb{Z}$, then

$$D(2x+2y) - D(x) - D(y) + 0.035425 > 0.035425 - D(1/6) = 0.0097162.$$

Let four regions A, B, C, D give the connected components of the complement of the set U depicted in green.

Lemma B.2. The integral of equation (4.10) with $\alpha = -1$, $\beta = 1$ over the region B, C, or D are $o(-V_{\rho_6}r/(2\pi i)^2)$.

Proof. We will prove this by illustrating that the contours can be explicitly deformed,

$$V_{-1,1}(x,y) = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \operatorname{Li}_2(\mathbf{e}(-2x-2y)) - \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \operatorname{Li}_2(\mathbf{e}(-x)) - \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \operatorname{Li}_2(\mathbf{e}(-y)) - \frac{1}{24} + \frac{1}{2}x^2 + xy - \frac{1}{2}y^2 - \frac{1}{2}x + \frac{1}{2}y.$$

Therefore,

$$\frac{\partial V_{-1,1}}{\partial x} = \frac{2}{2\pi i} \log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-2x - 2y)) - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-y)) + x + y - \frac{1}{2},$$

$$\frac{\partial V_{-1,1}}{\partial y} = \frac{2}{2\pi i} \log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-2x - 2y)) - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \log(1 - \mathbf{e}(-x)) + x - y + \frac{1}{2}.$$

Firstly, we will check the conditions for region B. We see that

$$\operatorname{Im}\left(i\frac{\partial V_{-1,1}}{\partial y} - i\frac{\partial V_{-1,1}}{\partial x}\right) = \frac{1}{2\pi}\operatorname{arg}(1 - \mathbf{e}(-x)) - \frac{1}{2\pi}\operatorname{arg}(1 - \mathbf{e}(-y)) - 2\operatorname{Re}(y) + 1.$$

For $\operatorname{Re}(x)$, $\operatorname{Re}(y) \in (0, 1/2)$, $\operatorname{Im}(x) \leq 0$, and $\operatorname{Im}(y) \geq 0$, we find that

$$0 \le \frac{1}{2\pi} \arg(1 - \mathbf{e}(-x))),$$

-1 < $-\frac{1}{2\pi} \arg(1 - \mathbf{e}(-y))) - 2\operatorname{Re}(y).$

Therefore, for these conditions $x, y \in [0, 1/2]$ deforming the contour in the direction the (-i, i) direction will always increase the imaginary part of $V_{-1,1}(x, y)$, and therefore we see that the integral over the region B can be deformed to an integral that is $o(-V_{\rho_6}r/(2\pi i)^2)$.

Secondly, for region C, we find for $\operatorname{Re}(x) \in [0.05, 1/2)$ and $\operatorname{Im}(x) \ge 0$

$$-\frac{1}{2\pi}\arg(1-\mathbf{e}(-x))) \ge -0.45$$

Moreover, for $y \in [0.95, 1)$ and $\operatorname{Re}(x) \in [0.05, 1/2)$ and $\operatorname{Im}(x) \ge 0$, we find

$$\frac{2}{2\pi}\arg(1-\mathbf{e}(-2x-2y))) > 0,$$

therefore, we find

$$\operatorname{Im}\left(i\frac{\partial V}{\partial x}\right) = \frac{2}{2\pi} \arg(1 - \mathbf{e}(-2x - 2y)) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \arg(1 - \mathbf{e}(-x)) + \operatorname{Re}(x) + y - \frac{1}{2} \ge 0.05.$$

This implies that flowing a contour near the region C by increasing the imaginary part of x in this region will always increase the imaginary part of $V_{-1,1}$. Therefore, we see that we can deform the contour in this direction. Therefore, for large enough Im(x), we see this will have positive imaginary part hence this contributes nothing to the asymptotics. Almost identical computation go through for the region D with x and y interchanged.

Lemma B.3. The integral of equation (4.10) with $\alpha = -1$, $\beta = 1$ over the region A can be computed by stationary phase approximation at the critical point (x_6, y_6) .

Proof. We deform the contour over region A by steepest ascent with respect to the function $\operatorname{Im}(V_{-1,1}(x,y))$ fixing the real parts of (x,y). In that region, there is only one critical point with real part contained in A given by (x_6, y_6) . Therefore, on deforming the contour, we find that is passes through the critical point, where it attains it minimum value given by $\operatorname{Im}\left(-\frac{V_{\rho_6}}{(2\pi i)^2}\right)$. Therefore, we can apply stationary phase to the integral of equation (4.10) at this point.

C Details of state integral factorisations

To deal with the state integrals, we use the notation

$$\Phi(z;\tau) = \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{i} z \mathsf{b}^{-1} + c_{\mathsf{b}}) = \frac{(q \mathbf{e}(z);q)_{\infty}}{(\mathbf{e}(z/\tau);\tilde{q})_{\infty}}.$$

Recall that for a positive integer ℓ , the Eisenstein series are defined by

$$E_{\ell}(q) = \frac{\zeta(1-\ell)}{2} + \sum_{s=1}^{\infty} s^{\ell-1} \frac{q^s}{1-q^s},$$
(C.1)

where $\zeta(s)$ is the Riemann zeta function, analytic for |q| < 1 and extended to |q| > 1 by the symmetry $E_{\ell}(q^{-1}) = -E_{\ell}(q)$. These Eisenstein series can be used with polylogarithms to describe an expansion of the infinite Pochhammer symbol.

Lemma C.1 ([34, 41]). We have identities in $\mathbb{Q}[\![q, \epsilon]\!]$, where we use $(q^{-1}; q^{-1})_{\infty} = (q; q)_{\infty}^{-1}$ and $(x; q^{-1})_{\infty} = (qx; q)_{\infty}^{-1}$,

$$\frac{(qe^{\varepsilon};q)_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \frac{1}{(qe^{\varepsilon};q)_{m}} = \frac{1}{(q;q)_{m}} \sqrt{\frac{-\varepsilon}{1-\exp(\varepsilon)}} \exp\left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_{\ell}(q) - \sum_{n=1}^{m} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(q^{n})\right) \frac{\varepsilon^{\ell}}{\ell!}\right),$$

$$\frac{(q^{-1}e^{\varepsilon};q^{-1})_{\infty}}{(q^{-1};q^{-1})_{\infty}} \frac{1}{(q^{-1}e^{\varepsilon};q^{-1})_{m}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(q^{-1};q^{-1})_{m}} \frac{-1}{\varepsilon} \sqrt{\frac{-\varepsilon}{1-\exp(\varepsilon)}} \exp\left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_{\ell}(q^{-1}) - \sum_{n=1}^{m} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(q^{-n})\right) \frac{\varepsilon^{\ell}}{\ell!}\right).$$

C.1 At rationals

We can take the formula for the WRT invariant

$$III_m(q) = \sum_{0 \le \ell \le k} (-1)^k q^{-\frac{1}{2}k(k+1) + \ell(\ell+1) + mk} \frac{(q;q)_{2k+1}}{(q;q)_\ell(q;q)_{k-\ell}},$$

and naturally take the state integral

$$\int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} \int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} \frac{\mathbf{e}(-z_1(z_1+1+\tau)/2\tau + z_3(z_3+1+\tau)/\tau + z_1(m+m'/\tau))}{\Phi(z_3;\tau)^{-1}\Phi(z_1-z_3;\tau)^{-1}\Phi(2z_1+1+\tau;\tau)} \mathrm{d}z_1 \mathrm{d}z_3.$$

We can rewrite this integral by first sending $z_1 \mapsto -z_1, z_3 \mapsto -z_3$ and using the inversion relation for the quantum dilogarithm [3, Appendix A],

$$q^{-1-m}\tilde{q}^{1+m'}$$
(C.2)

$$\times \iint_{(-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0}))^2} \frac{\mathbf{e}(3z_1(z_1+1+\tau)/2\tau + z_3(z_3+1+\tau)/2\tau - z_1(m+1+(m'+1)/\tau))}{\Phi(z_3-z_1;\tau)^{-1}\Phi(2z_1;\tau)^{-1}\Phi(z_3;\tau)} \mathrm{d}z_1\mathrm{d}z_3.$$

Suppose that $\tau = N/M \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$. Then we can use the fundamental lemma of [33, Lemma 2.1] to factorise this state integral. However, we can use the Fourier transform formula for the quantum dilogarithm [3, Appendix A] to expand the Faddeev dilogarithm in $\Phi(z_3; \tau)$, and then again to contract the integral over z_3 . With these steps, one can show that this integral is given by

$$\mathcal{S}_{m,m'} = q^{-m} \tilde{q}^{m'} \\ \times \int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} \int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} \frac{\mathbf{e} \left(z_1^2 / \tau + z_1 z_2 / \tau + z_1 (-m - m' / \tau) + z_2 (1 + 1 / \tau) \right)}{\Phi(z_2; \tau)^{-1} \Phi(2z_1; \tau)^{-1} \Phi(z_2 - z_1; \tau)^{-1}} \mathrm{d} z_1 \mathrm{d} z_2.$$

This integral expression has various benefits and in particular has a direction at infinity where the two dimensional contour can be pushed with vanishing contribution. However, we do not need this for the factorisation at rationals. We can explicitly use the fundamental lemma of [33, Lemma 2.1] to factorise this state integral. This gives the following lemma analogous to Lemma 5.1 but for $\tau \in \mathbb{Q}$. Lemma 5.3 also holds for $\tau \in \mathbb{Q}$ and together they give Theorem 5.4 for $\tau \in \mathbb{Q}$.

Lemma C.2. We have the following identity for $q = \mathbf{e}(\tau)$, $\tilde{q} = \mathbf{e}(-1/\tau)$ with $\tau = N/M$ with coprime $M, N \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\mathcal{S}_{m,m'}(\tau) = \sum_{j=1}^{7} \mathbf{e} \left(-\frac{\mathbf{V}_{\rho_j}}{(2\pi \mathbf{i})^2 M N} \right) \mathrm{III}_m^{(j)}(q) \mathrm{III}_{m'}^{(j)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}).$$
(C.3)

Proof. Indeed, if we take $f_i(z_1, z_2)$ to be quotients of the integrand with $z_i \mapsto z_i + N$ in the numerators, then

$$f_{1}(z_{1}, z_{2}) = \frac{\mathbf{e}((z_{1}+N)^{2}/\tau + (z_{1}+N)z_{2}/\tau + (z_{1}+N)(-m-m'/\tau) + z_{2}(1+1/\tau))}{\Phi(z_{2}; \tau)^{-1}\Phi(2z_{1}+2N; \tau)^{-1}\Phi(z_{2}-z_{1}-N; \tau)^{-1}} \\ \times \frac{\Phi(z_{2}; \tau)^{-1}\Phi(2z_{1}; \tau)^{-1}\Phi(z_{2}-z_{1}; \tau)^{-1}}{\mathbf{e}(z_{1}^{2}/\tau + z_{1}z_{2}/\tau + z_{1}(-m-m'/\tau) + z_{2}(1+1/\tau))} \\ = \frac{\mathbf{e}(2Mz_{1}+Mz_{2})(1-\mathbf{e}(-Mz_{1}+Mz_{2}))}{(1-\mathbf{e}(2Mz_{1}))^{2}}.$$

Then

$$f_{2}(z_{1}, z_{2}) = \frac{\mathbf{e}(z_{1}^{2}/\tau + z_{1}(z_{2} + N)/\tau + z_{1}(-m - m'/\tau) + (z_{2} + N)(1 + 1/\tau))}{\Phi(z_{2} + N; \tau)^{-1}\Phi(2z_{1}; \tau)^{-1}\Phi(z_{2} + N - z_{1}; \tau)^{-1}} \\ \times \frac{\Phi(z_{2}; \tau)^{-1}\Phi(2z_{1}; \tau)^{-1}\Phi(z_{2} - z_{1}; \tau)^{-1}}{\mathbf{e}(z_{1}^{2}/\tau + z_{1}z_{2}/\tau + z_{1}(-m - m'/\tau) + z_{2}(1 + 1/\tau))} \\ = \frac{\mathbf{e}(Mz_{1})}{(1 - \mathbf{e}(Mz_{2}))(1 - \mathbf{e}(-Mz_{1} + Mz_{2}))}.$$

Notice that

$$f_j(z_1 + kN, z_2 + \ell N) = f_j(z_1, z_2),$$

and therefore from a generalisation of [33, Lemma 2.1] to multiple dimensions,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} \int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} \frac{\mathbf{e}(z_1^2/\tau + z_1 z_2/\tau + z_1(-m - m'/\tau) + z_2(1 + 1/\tau))}{\Phi(z_2;\tau)^{-1}\Phi(2z_1;\tau)^{-1}\Phi(z_2 - z_1;\tau)^{-1}} \mathrm{d}z_1 \mathrm{d}z_2 \\ &= \left(\int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} - \int_{N-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})}\right)^2 \frac{\mathbf{e}(z_1^2/\tau + z_1 z_2/\tau + z_1(-m - m'/\tau) + z_2(1 + 1/\tau)) \mathrm{d}z_1 \mathrm{d}z_2}{\Phi(z_2;\tau)^{-1}\Phi(2z_1;\tau)^{-1}\Phi(z_2 - z_1;\tau)^{-1}} \\ &\times \frac{1}{\left(1 - \frac{\mathbf{e}(2Mz_1 + Mz_2)(1 - \mathbf{e}(-Mz_1 + Mz_2))}{(1 - \mathbf{e}(2Mz_1))^2}\right) \left(1 - \frac{\mathbf{e}(Mz_1)}{(1 - \mathbf{e}(Mz_2))(1 - \mathbf{e}(-Mz_1 + Mz_2))}\right)} \right)} \\ &= \left(\int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} - \int_{N-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})}\right)^2 \frac{\mathbf{e}(z_1^2/\tau + z_1 z_2/\tau + z_1(-m - m'/\tau) + z_2(1 + 1/\tau))}{\Phi(z_2;\tau)^{-1}\Phi(2z_1;\tau)^{-1}\Phi(z_2 - z_1;\tau)^{-1}} \\ &\times \frac{(1 - \mathbf{e}(2Mz_1))^2(1 - \mathbf{e}(Mz_2))(1 - \mathbf{e}(-Mz_1 + Mz_2)) \mathrm{d}z_1 \mathrm{d}z_2}{((1 - \mathbf{e}(2Mz_1))^2 - \mathbf{e}(2Mz_1 + Mz_2)(1 - \mathbf{e}(-Mz_1 + Mz_2)))} \right)} \\ &\times \frac{1}{\left((1 - \mathbf{e}(Mz_2))(1 - \mathbf{e}(-Mz_1 + Mz_2)) - \mathbf{e}(Mz_1)\right)}. \end{split} \tag{C.4}$$

We see that the zeros of the quantum dilogarithms now cancel with the zeros in the numerator and that the integrand has poles when

$$0 = (1 - \mathbf{e}(Mz_2))(1 - \mathbf{e}(-Mz_1 + Mz_2)) - \mathbf{e}(Mz_1),$$

$$0 = (1 - \mathbf{e}(2Mz_1))^2 - \mathbf{e}(2Mz_1 + Mz_2)(1 - \mathbf{e}(-Mz_1 + Mz_2)).$$

Therefore, considering the algebraic variety

$$0 = (1 - X_2) (1 - X_1^{-1} X_2) - X_1,$$

$$0 = (1 - X_1^2)^2 - X_1^2 X_2 (1 - X_1^{-1} X_2),$$

this can be solved exactly as notice that

$$\frac{1 - X_2}{X_1} = \frac{X_1^2 X_2}{\left(1 - X_1^2\right)^2}$$

and so

$$X_2 = \frac{\left(1 - X_1^2\right)^2}{\left(1 - X_1^2\right)^2 + X_1^3},$$

and taking

$$\xi^7 - \xi^6 - 2\xi^5 + 6\xi^4 - 11\xi^3 + 6\xi^2 + 3\xi - 1 = 0,$$

we have

$$X_{1,j} = -3 + 11\xi_j + 20\xi_j^2 - 15\xi_j^3 + 6\xi_j^4 - 2\xi_j^5 - 4\xi_j^6,$$

$$X_{2,j} = -9 + 19\xi_j + 76\xi_j^2 - 52\xi_j^3 + 20\xi_j^4 - 4\xi_j^5 - 13\xi_j^6.$$

$$x_{i,j,k} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \log(X_{i,j}) + k$$

notice that

$$(1 - \mathbf{e}(2M(z_1 + x_1/M)))^2 - \mathbf{e}(2M(z_1 + x_1/M) + M(z_2 + x_2/M)) \times (1 - \mathbf{e}(-M(z_1 + x_1/M) + M(z_2 + x_2/M))) = (1 - X_1^2 \mathbf{e}(2Mz_1))^2 - X_1^2 X_2 \mathbf{e}(2Mz_1 + Mz_2)(1 - X_1^{-1}X_2 \mathbf{e}(-Mz_1 + Mz_2)) = (4X_1^4 + (-2X_2 - 4)X_1^2 + X_2^2 X_1)2\pi \mathbf{i}Mz_1 + (-X_2X_1^2 + 2X_2^2 X_1)2\pi \mathbf{i}Mz_2 + \cdots$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$\left((1 - \mathbf{e}(M(z_2 + x_2/M)))(1 - \mathbf{e}(-M(z_1 + x_1/M) + M(z_2 + x_2/M))) - \mathbf{e}(M(z_1 + x_1/M)) \right)$$

= $\left((1 - X_2 \mathbf{e}(Mz_2))(1 - X_1^{-1}X_2 \mathbf{e}(-Mz_1 + Mz_2)) - X_1 \mathbf{e}(Mz_1) \right)$
= $\left(-X_1 + \left(-X_2^2 + X_2 \right) X_1^{-1} \right) 2\pi \mathbf{i} M z_1 + \left(-X_2 + \left(2X_2^2 - X_2 \right) X_1^{-1} \right) 2\pi \mathbf{i} M z_2 + \cdots \right)$

Then we can compute

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} 4X_1^4 + (-2X_2 - 4)X_1^2 + X_2^2X_1 & -X_2X_1^2 + 2X_2^2X_1 \\ -X_1 + (-X_2^2 + X_2)X_1^{-1} & -X_2 + (2X_2^2 - X_2)X_1^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

= -257 + 806\xi + 947\xi^2 - 749\xi^3 + 331\xi^4 - 133\xi^5 - 213\xi^6 = \Delta.

The last ingredient we need is the quantum dilogarithm at rationals. For this, we use the cyclic dilogarithm

$$D_M(x;q) = \prod_{j=1}^{M-1} (1-q^j x)^{\frac{j}{M}}$$

and have the formula [33, Theorem 1.9]

$$\Phi(z;\tau)^{-1} = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2\pi i NM} \operatorname{Li}_2(\mathbf{e}(Mz))\right) (1 - \mathbf{e}(Mz))^{\frac{z}{N} - 1} D_N(\mathbf{e}(z/\tau); \tilde{q}^{-1}) D_M(\mathbf{e}(z); q)$$

Therefore, the double integral deformed near $(x_{1,j,k}/M, x_{2,j,\ell}/M)$ gives

$$\begin{split} & \frac{\mathbf{e}\left(x_{1,j,k}^{2}/NM + x_{1,j,k}x_{2,j,\ell}/NM + x_{1,j,k}(-m/M - m'/N) + x_{2,j,\ell}(1/M + 1/N)\right)}{\Phi(x_{2,j,\ell}/M + 1 + \tau;\tau)^{-1}\Phi(2x_{1,j,k}/M + 1 + \tau;\tau)^{-1}\Phi(x_{2,j,\ell}/M - x_{1,j,k}/M + 1 + \tau;\tau)^{-1}} \\ & \times \frac{\left(1 - X_{1,j}^{2}\right)^{2}(1 - X_{2,j})\left(1 - X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}\right)}{M^{2}\Delta} \\ & = \frac{\mathbf{e}(x_{1,j,k}^{2}/NM + x_{1,j,k}x_{2,j,\ell}/NM + x_{1,j,k}(-m/M - m'/N) + x_{2,j,\ell}(1/M + 1/N))}{\left(1 - X_{1,j}^{2}\right)^{-2}(1 - X_{2,j})^{-1}\left(1 - X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}\right)^{-1}M^{2}\Delta} \\ & \times \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2\pi i NM}\operatorname{Li}_{2}(X_{2,j})\right)\left(1 - X_{2,j}\right)^{1 - \frac{x_{2,j,\ell}}{NM} - \frac{1}{M}}}{D_{N}\left(\mathbf{e}(x_{2,j,\ell}/N);\tilde{q}^{-1}\right)D_{M}(q\mathbf{e}(x_{2,j,\ell}/M);q)} \\ & \times \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2\pi i NM}\operatorname{Li}_{2}(X_{1,j}^{2})\right)\left(1 - X_{1,j}^{2}\right)^{1 - \frac{2x_{1,j,k}}{NM} - \frac{1}{M}}}{D_{N}\left(\mathbf{e}(2x_{1,j,k}/N);\tilde{q}^{-1}\right)D_{M}(q\mathbf{e}(2x_{1,j,k}/M);q)} \end{split}$$

$$\times \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{1}{2\pi \mathrm{i}NM}\operatorname{Li}_{2}(X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j})\right)\left(1-X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}\right)^{1-\frac{x_{2,j,\ell}-x_{1,j,k}}{NM}-\frac{1}{M}}}{D_{N}\left(\mathbf{e}(x_{2,j,\ell}/N-x_{1,j,k}/N);\tilde{q}^{-1}\right)D_{M}(q\mathbf{e}(x_{2,j,\ell}/M-x_{1,j,k}/M);q)}$$

Firstly, notice that

$$\begin{aligned} &-\operatorname{Li}_{2}(X_{2,j}) - \operatorname{Li}_{2}\left(X_{1,j}^{2}\right) - \operatorname{Li}_{2}\left(X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}\right) - 2\pi \mathrm{i}x_{2,j,\ell}\log(1 - X_{2,j}) \\ &- 2(2\pi \mathrm{i})x_{1,j,k}\log\left(1 - X_{1,j}^{2}\right) - 2\pi \mathrm{i}(x_{2,j,\ell} - x_{1,j,k})\log\left(1 - X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}\right) \\ &+ (2\pi \mathrm{i})^{2}x_{1,j,k}^{2} + (2\pi \mathrm{i})^{2}x_{1,j,k}x_{2,j,\ell} \\ &= -\operatorname{V}_{\rho_{j}} - 4\pi^{2}\left(k^{2} + k\ell + a_{j}k + \frac{1}{24}\right), \end{aligned}$$

where $a_j = 2, 0, 0, 1, 1, -1, 1$ for $j = 1, \dots, 7$ or

$$2\pi i a_j = -2\log(1 - X_{1,j}^2) + \log(1 - X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}) + 2\log(X_1) + \log(X_2),$$

where we note that for all j

$$0 = -\log(1 - X_{2,j}) - \log(1 - X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}) + \log(X_{1,j}).$$

Therefore, we see that

$$\mathbf{e} \left(x_{1,j,k}^2 / NM + x_{1,j,k} x_{2,j,\ell} / NM \right) \exp \left(-\frac{1}{2\pi \mathrm{i} NM} \mathrm{Li}_2(X_{2,j}) \right) (1 - X_{2,j})^{-\frac{x_{2,j,\ell}}{NM}} \\ \times \exp \left(-\frac{1}{2\pi \mathrm{i} NM} \mathrm{Li}_2(X_{1,j}^2) \right) (1 - X_{1,j}^2)^{-\frac{2x_{1,j,k}}{NM}} \\ \times \exp \left(-\frac{1}{2\pi \mathrm{i} NM} \mathrm{Li}_2(X_{1,j}^{-1} X_{2,j}) \right) (1 - X_{1,j}^{-1} X_{2,j})^{-\frac{x_{2,j,\ell} - x_{1,j,k}}{NM}} \\ = \mathbf{e} \left(-\frac{\mathrm{V}_j + \pi^2/6}{(2\pi \mathrm{i})^2 NM} \right) \mathbf{e} \left(\frac{k^2 + k\ell}{NM} \right) \mathbf{e} \left(\frac{ka_j + \ell \times 0}{NM} \right).$$

With this, using the residue and Chinese remainder theorem and the cocycle of ε , the final integral of equation (C.4) can then be shown to factorise into the bilinear sum of equation (C.3).

Including the trivial connection, we can apply the same methods to the state integral from equation (5.4) written in a similar from to equation (C.2). This has a similar outcome with some Appell–Lerch type versions of the functions $\operatorname{III}_m^{(j)}(q)$ of equation (4.13) that appear in the first column of $\mathbf{Z}_m(q)^{-1}$,

$$K_{n} III_{m}^{(j)}(q) = \frac{-\mathrm{i}}{M\varepsilon(q)} \sqrt{\frac{\left(1 - X_{1,j}^{2}\right)^{2}(1 - X_{2,j})\left(1 - X_{1,j}^{-1}X_{2,j}\right)}{\Delta_{\rho_{j}}}} \sum_{k,\ell \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}} \frac{q^{(n-1)m}}{\left(1 - q^{1-n+k}X_{1,j}^{\frac{1}{m}}\right)} \times \frac{q^{k^{2}+k\ell-mk+\ell}X_{1,j}^{\frac{2k+\ell-m}{M}}X_{2,j}^{\frac{k+1}{M}}\prod_{i=0}^{M-1}\left(1 - q^{i+1+\ell-k}X_{1,j}^{-1/M}X_{2,j}^{1/M}\right)^{-(i+1+\ell-k)/M-1/2}}{\prod_{i=0}^{M-1}\left(1 - q^{i+1+\ell}X_{2,j}^{1/M}\right)^{(i+1+\ell)/M-1/2}\prod_{i=0}^{M-1}\left(1 - q^{i+1+2k}X_{1,j}^{2/M}\right)^{(i+1+2k)/M-1/2}},$$

so that

$$K_n \coprod_m^{(j)}(q) - K_n \coprod_{m-1}^{(j)}(q) = \coprod_m^{(j)}(q)$$

Then there are some additional residues at $z_1 \in \tau \mathbb{Z}$, which then factorise into $\operatorname{III}_m(q)$ and the function 1 with a shift by $\tau^{1/2}$ compared to the other residues. This relies on the identity

$$\sum_{0 \le \ell \le k \le M/2} (-1)^k q^{-\frac{1}{2}k(k+1) + \ell(\ell+1) + mk} \frac{(q;q)_{2k+1}}{(q;q)_\ell(q;q)_{k-\ell}}$$

$$= -\sum_{M/2 \le k \le \ell+k \le M-1} (-1)^{\ell} q^{k(2k+1)+k\ell+\ell(\ell+1)/2-mk-m} \frac{(q;q)_{\ell+k}}{(q;q)_{2k-M}(q;q)_{\ell}},$$

which follows from the fact that $(q;q)_n = M(q^{-1};q^{-1})_{M-1-n}^{-1}$.

C.2 As *q*-series

In this appendix, we will outline the proofs of Lemmas 5.2, 5.1 and 5.5.

Proofs of Lemma 5.2. The proof of equation (5.2) follows from automatic q-holomorphic proofs described in [74]. The vanishing of $Z_m^{(2)}(q) = 0$ for |q| > 1 follows from the fact that there is only one non-vanishing solution that is a power series in q^{-m} . Notice that $Z_m^{(1)}(q)$ is one such solution. Therefore, the coefficient of q^{-m} determines $Z^{(2)}(q)$ in terms of $Z^{(1)}(q)$. Therefore, for |q| > 1 we want to compute

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^j}{(q;q)_j^2} \left(-\frac{1}{2} + 2E_1(q) - 2\sum_{n=1}^j \frac{q^n}{1-q^n} \right).$$

Considering the family,

$$g_p(q) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{j+jp}}{(q;q)_j^2} \left(-\frac{1}{2} - p + 2E_1(q) - 2\sum_{n=1}^j \frac{q^n}{1-q^n} \right).$$

This satisfies

$$2g_p(q) - (1 - q^p)g_{p-1}(q) = g_{p+1}(q).$$

Therefore, for p > 0 is determined by p = 0. Moreover, we see that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{j+jp}}{(q;q)_j^2} = \begin{cases} q^{p^2/4} + \cdots & \text{for } p \to \infty \text{ even,} \\ 2q^{(p^2-1)/4} + \cdots & \text{for } p \to \infty \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$

satisfies the same equation. Therefore, a combination of these vanishes for all $p \ge 0$. However,

$$g_p(q) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{j+jp}}{(q;q)_j^2} \left(2j - p - 2\sum_{n=j+1}^n \frac{q^{-n}}{1 - q^{-n}}\right)$$

implies

$$g_p(q) = \begin{cases} o(q^{p^2/4}) & \text{for } p \to \infty \text{ even,} \\ o(q^{(p^2-1)/4}) & \text{for } p \to \infty \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$

Therefore, we see that $g_p(q) = 0$ for $p \ge 0$.

The proof of Lemma 5.6 follows from similar methods.

Proofs of Lemma 5.1. From its formula in the upper half plane, we have

$$\begin{split} \Phi(z+m\tau+n;\tau) &= \frac{(q\mathbf{e}(z);q)_{\infty}}{(\mathbf{e}(z/\tau);\tilde{q})_{\infty}} \frac{1}{(q\mathbf{e}(z);q)_m} \frac{1}{\left(\tilde{q}^{-1}\mathbf{e}(z/\tau);\tilde{q}^{-1}\right)_n} \\ &= \frac{(q\mathbf{e}(z);q)_{\infty}}{(\tilde{q}\mathbf{e}(z/\tau);\tilde{q})_{\infty}} \frac{1}{1-\mathbf{e}(z/\tau)} \frac{1}{(q\mathbf{e}(z);q)_m} \frac{1}{\left(\tilde{q}^{-1}\mathbf{e}(z/\tau);\tilde{q}^{-1}\right)_n} \end{split}$$

We will now factorise the state integral $S_{m,m'}$. We will integrate over z_2 and then z_1 by pushing the contour to infinity and collecting residues. We have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} \int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} \Phi(z_{2};\tau) \Phi(2z_{1};\tau) \Phi(z_{2}-z_{1};\tau) \\ &\times \mathbf{e}(z_{1}^{2}/\tau+z_{1}z_{2}/\tau+z_{1}(-m-m'/\tau)+z_{2}(1+1/\tau)) \mathrm{d}z_{1} \mathrm{d}z_{2} \\ &= \int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} \sum_{j,j'=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{z_{2}=j\tau+j'} \frac{\mathbf{e}(2z_{1}^{2}/\tau+z_{1}z_{2}/\tau+z_{1}(1-m+(1-m')/\tau)+z_{2}(1+1/\tau))}{\Phi(z_{1}+z_{2};\tau)^{-1}\Phi(2z_{1};\tau)^{-1}\Phi(z_{2};\tau)^{-1}} \mathrm{d}z_{1} \mathrm{d}z_{2} \\ &+ \int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} \sum_{j,j'=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{z_{2}=j\tau+j'} \frac{\mathbf{e}(z_{1}^{2}/\tau+z_{1}z_{2}/\tau+z_{1}(-m-m'/\tau)+z_{2}(1+1/\tau))}{\Phi(z_{2};\tau)^{-1}\Phi(2z_{1};\tau)^{-1}\Phi(z_{2}-z_{1};\tau)^{-1}} \mathrm{d}z_{1} \mathrm{d}z_{2} \\ &= -\frac{\tau(q;q)_{\infty}}{(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{\infty}} \int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} \sum_{j,j'=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{j}\tilde{q}^{-j'}\mathbf{e}(2z_{1}^{2}/\tau+z_{1}((j+1-m)\tau+(j'+1-m'))/\tau)}{\Phi(z_{1}+j\tau+j';\tau)^{-1}\Phi(2z_{1};\tau)^{-1}(q;q)_{j}(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} \mathrm{d}z_{1} \\ &- \frac{\tau(q;q)_{\infty}}{(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{\infty}} \int_{-\mathrm{ib}(\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i0})} \sum_{j,j'=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{j}\tilde{q}^{-j'}\mathbf{e}(z_{1}^{2}/\tau+z_{1}((j-m)\tau+(j'-m'))/\tau)}{\Phi(2z_{1};\tau)^{-1}\Phi(j\tau+j'-z_{1};\tau)^{-1}(q;q)_{j}(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} \mathrm{d}z_{1} \\ &- \frac{\tau(q;q)_{\infty}}{(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{\infty}} \sum_{k,j,k',j'=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{z_{1}=\frac{k}{2}\tau+\frac{k'}{2}} \frac{q^{j}\tilde{q}^{-j'}\mathbf{e}(z_{1}^{2}/\tau+z_{1}((j-m)\tau+(j'-m'))/\tau)}{\Phi(z_{1};\tau)^{-1}\Phi(jz_{1};\tau)^{-1}(q;q)_{j}(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} \mathrm{d}z_{1} \\ &- \frac{\tau(q;q)_{\infty}}{(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{\infty}} \sum_{k,j,k',j'=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{z_{1}=\frac{k}{2}\tau+\frac{k'}{2}} \frac{q^{j}\tilde{q}^{-j'}\mathbf{e}(z_{1}^{2}/\tau+z_{1}((j-m)\tau+(j'-m'))/\tau)}{\Phi(z_{1};\tau)^{-1}\Phi(j\tau+j'-z_{1};\tau)^{-1}(q;q)_{j}(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} \mathrm{d}z_{1} \\ &- \frac{\tau(q;q)_{\infty}}{(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{\infty}} \sum_{k,j,k',j'=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{z_{1}=\frac{k}{2}\tau+\frac{k'}{2}} \frac{q^{j}\tilde{q}^{-j'}\mathbf{e}(z_{1}^{2}/\tau+z_{1}((j-m)\tau+(j'-m'))/\tau)}{\Phi(z_{1};\tau)^{-1}(q;q)_{j}(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} \mathrm{d}z_{1} \\ &- \frac{\tau(q;q)_{\infty}}{(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{\infty}} \sum_{k,j,k',j'=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{z_{1}=\frac{k}{2}\tau+\frac{k'}{2}} \frac{q^{j}\tilde{q}^{-j'}\mathbf{e}(z_{1}^{2}/\tau+z_{1}((j-m)\tau+(j'-m'))/\tau)}{\Phi(z_{1};\tau)^{-1}(q;q)_{j}(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} \mathrm{d}z_{1} \\ &- \frac{\tau(q;q)_{\infty}}{(\tilde{q};\tilde{q})_{\infty}} \sum_{k,j,k',j'=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{z_{1}=\frac{k}{2}\tau+\frac{k'}{2}} \frac{q^{j}\tilde{q}^{-j'}\mathbf{e}(z_{1}^{2}/\tau+z_{1}((j-m)\tau+(j'-m'$$

We can break up these sums into congruences. In particular, we get eight sums corresponding to $k, k' \equiv 0, 1 \pmod{2}$ in the two sums in the last equality in equation (C.5). The first of the sums with $k \equiv k' \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ is given as follows:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{k,j,k',j'=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{z_1=k\tau+k'} \frac{\Phi(z_1+j\tau+j';\tau)\Phi(2z_1;\tau)}{(q;q)_j (\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} q^j \tilde{q}^{-j'} \\ &\times \mathbf{e} \left(2z_1^2/\tau + z_1((j+1-m)\tau+(j'+1-m))/\tau\right) \mathrm{d} z_1 \\ &= \sum_{k,j,k',j'=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{z_1=0} \frac{\Phi(z_1+(k+j)\tau+(k'+j');\tau)\Phi(2z_1+2k\tau+2k';\tau)}{(q;q)_j (\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} \\ &\times \mathbf{e} (2(z_1+k\tau+k')^2/\tau+(z_1+k\tau+k')((j+1-m)\tau+(j'+1-m'))/\tau) \mathrm{d} z_1 \\ &= \sum_{k,j,k',j'=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{z_1=0} \frac{(q\mathbf{e}(z_1);q)_{\infty} (q\mathbf{e}(2z_1);q)_{\infty} q^{2k^2+kj+j+k-mk} \mathbf{e}((4k+j+1-m)z_1)}{(q\mathbf{e}(z_1);q)_{k+j} (q\mathbf{e}(2z_1);q)_{2k} (q;q)_j} \\ &\times \frac{\mathbf{e} (8\pi \mathrm{i} E_2(q) z_1^2) (\mathbf{e}(z_1/\tau);\tilde{q})_{\infty}^{-1} (\mathbf{e}(2z_1/\tau);\tilde{q})_{\infty}^{-1} \tilde{q}^{-2k'^2-k'j'-j'-k'+m'k'}}{(\tilde{q}^{-1} \mathbf{e}(z_1/\tau);\tilde{q}^{-1})_{k'+j'} (\tilde{q}^{-1} \mathbf{e}(2z_1/\tau);\tilde{q}^{-1})_{2k'}} \\ &\times \frac{\mathbf{e} ((4k'+j'+1-m')z_1/\tau) \mathbf{e} (8\pi \mathrm{i} E_2(\tilde{q}^{-1})(z_1/\tau)^2)}{(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} \mathrm{d} z_1, \end{split}$$

where we used the identity

$$8\pi i E_2(q) - 8\pi i \tau^{-2} E_2(\tilde{q}) = \frac{2}{\tau}.$$

This can now be expanded using Lemma C.1 to find

$$\sum_{k,j,k',j'=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{z_1=0} \frac{q^{2k^2+kj+j+k-mk} \mathbf{e}((4k+j+1-m)z_1) \mathbf{e}(8\pi i E_2(q)z_1^2)}{(q;q)_{k+j}(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_j}$$

$$\times \sqrt{\frac{-(2\pi i z_{1})}{1-\mathbf{e}(z_{1})}} \exp\left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_{\ell}(q) - \sum_{n=1}^{k+j} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(q^{n})\right) \frac{(2\pi i z_{1})^{\ell}}{\ell!}\right) \\ \times \sqrt{\frac{-(4\pi i z_{1})}{1-\mathbf{e}(2z_{1})}} \exp\left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_{\ell}(q) - \sum_{n=1}^{2k} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(q^{n})\right) \frac{(4\pi i z_{1})^{\ell}}{\ell!}\right) \\ \times \frac{\tilde{q}^{-2k'^{2}-k'j'-j'-k'+m'k'}\mathbf{e}((4k'+j'+1-m')z_{1}/\tau)\mathbf{e}(8\pi i E_{2}(\tilde{q}^{-1})(z_{1}/\tau)^{2})}{(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{k'+j'}(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{2k'}(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} \\ \times \frac{-1}{\sqrt{-(2\pi i z_{1}/\tau)(1-\mathbf{e}(z_{1}/\tau))}} \exp\left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_{\ell}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) - \sum_{n=1}^{k'+j'} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(\tilde{q}^{-n})\right) \frac{(2\pi i z_{1}/\tau)^{\ell}}{\ell!}\right) \\ \times \frac{-1}{\sqrt{-(4\pi i z_{1}/\tau)(1-\mathbf{e}(z_{1}/\tau))}} \exp\left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_{\ell}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) - \sum_{n=1}^{2k'} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(\tilde{q}^{-n})\right) \frac{(4\pi i z_{1}/\tau)^{\ell}}{\ell!}\right) dz_{1}.$$

Considering the q terms expanded to second order, we have

$$\sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{2k^2+kj+j+k}}{(q;q)_{k+j}(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_j} \times \exp\left(\left(4k+j-m+\frac{1}{4}-3E_1(q)+\sum_{n=1}^{k+j}\operatorname{Li}_0(q^n)+2\sum_{n=1}^{2k}\operatorname{Li}_0(q^n)\right)(2\pi i z_1) + \left(-\frac{5}{48}+\frac{3}{2}E_2(q)+\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{k+j}\operatorname{Li}_{-1}(q^n)+2\sum_{n=1}^{2k}\operatorname{Li}_{-1}(q^n)\right)(2\pi i z_1)^2 + \cdots\right).$$
(C.6)

The second of the sums with $k \equiv k' \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ is given as follows:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{k,j,k',j'=0}^{\infty} \underset{z_{1}=k\tau+k'}{\operatorname{Res}} \frac{\Phi(2z_{1};\tau)\Phi(j\tau+j'-z_{1};\tau)}{(q;q)_{j}(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} q^{j}\tilde{q}^{-j'} \\ &\times \mathbf{e} \left(z_{1}^{2}/\tau + z_{1}((j-m)\tau + (j'-m'))/\tau \right) \mathrm{d} z_{1} \\ &= \sum_{k,j,k',j'=0}^{\infty} \underset{z_{1}=0}{\operatorname{Res}} \frac{\Phi(2z_{1}+2k\tau+2k';\tau)\Phi((j-k)\tau + (j'-k')-z_{1};\tau)}{(q;q)_{j}(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} q^{j}\tilde{q}^{-j'} \\ &\times \mathbf{e} \left((z_{1}+k\tau+k')^{2}/\tau + (z_{1}+k\tau+k')((j-m)\tau + (j'-m'))/\tau \right) \mathrm{d} z_{1} \\ &= \sum_{k,j,k',j'=0}^{\infty} \underset{z_{1}=0}{\operatorname{Res}} \frac{(q\mathbf{e}(2z_{1});q)_{\infty}(q\mathbf{e}(-z_{1});q)_{\infty}q^{k^{2}+kj+j-mk}\mathbf{e}((2k+j+m)z_{1})\mathbf{e}(4\pi i E_{2}(q)z_{1}^{2})}{(q\mathbf{e}(2z_{1});q)_{2k}(q\mathbf{e}(-z_{1});q)_{j-k}(q;q)_{j}} \\ &\times \frac{(\mathbf{e}(2z_{1}/\tau);\tilde{q})_{\infty}^{-1}(\mathbf{e}(-z_{1}/\tau);\tilde{q})_{\infty}^{-1}\tilde{q}^{-k'^{2}-k'j'-j'+m'k'}\mathbf{e}((2k'+j'-m')z_{1}/\tau)}{(\tilde{q}^{-1}\mathbf{e}(2z_{1}/\tau);\tilde{q}^{-1})_{2k'}(\tilde{q}^{-1}\mathbf{e}(-z_{1}/\tau);\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'-k'}} \\ &\times \frac{\mathbf{e}(4\pi \mathrm{i} G_{2}(\tilde{q}^{-1})(z_{1}/\tau)^{2})}{(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} \mathrm{d} z_{1}. \end{split}$$

This can be expanded using Lemma C.1 and on a certain cone, we find

$$\sum_{k \le j, k' \le j'=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Res}_{z_1=0} \frac{q^{k^2+kj+j-mk} \mathbf{e}((2k+j-m)z_1) \mathbf{e}(4\pi \mathrm{i}E_2(q)z_1^2)}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{j-k}(q;q)_j} \times \sqrt{\frac{(2\pi \mathrm{i}z_1)}{1-\mathbf{e}(-z_1)}} \exp\left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_\ell(q) - \sum_{n=1}^{j-k} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(q^n)\right) \frac{(-2\pi \mathrm{i}z_1)^\ell}{\ell!}\right)$$

$$\times \sqrt{\frac{-(4\pi i z_{1})}{1-\mathbf{e}(2 z_{1})}} \exp\left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_{\ell}(q)-\sum_{n=1}^{2k} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(q^{n})\right)\frac{(4\pi i z_{1})^{\ell}}{\ell!}\right) \\ \times \frac{\tilde{q}^{-k'^{2}-k'j'-j'+m'k'}\mathbf{e}((2k'+j'-m')z_{1}/\tau)\mathbf{e}(4\pi i G_{2}(\tilde{q}^{-1})(z_{1}/\tau)^{2})}{(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{2k'}(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'-k'}(\tilde{q}^{-1};\tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} \\ \times \frac{-1}{\sqrt{(2\pi i z_{1}/\tau)(1-\mathbf{e}(-z_{1}/\tau))}}\exp\left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_{\ell}(\tilde{q}^{-1})-\sum_{n=1}^{j'-k'} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(\tilde{q}^{-n})\right)\frac{(-2\pi i z_{1}/\tau)^{\ell}}{\ell!}\right) \\ \times \frac{-1}{\sqrt{-(4\pi i z_{1}/\tau)(1-\mathbf{e}(2 z_{1}/\tau))}}\exp\left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_{\ell}(\tilde{q}^{-1})-\sum_{n=1}^{2k'} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(\tilde{q}^{-n})\right)\frac{(4\pi i z_{1}/\tau)^{\ell}}{\ell!}\right) dz_{1}.$$

Considering the q terms and expanding to second order, we find

$$\sum_{k\leq j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{k^2+kj+j-mk}}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{j-k}(q;q)_{j}} \\ \times \exp\left(\left(2k+j-m-\frac{1}{4}-E_1(q)-\sum_{n=1}^{j-k}\operatorname{Li}_0(q^n)+2\sum_{n=1}^{2k}\operatorname{Li}_{-1}(q^n)\right)(2\pi i z_1)\right. \\ \left.+\left(-\frac{5}{48}-\frac{1}{2}E_2(q)+\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{j-k}\operatorname{Li}_{-1}(q^n)+2\sum_{n=1}^{2k}\operatorname{Li}_{-1}(q^n)\right)(2\pi i z_1)^2+\cdots\right) \\ = \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{2k^2+kj+j+k-mk}}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_j(q;q)_{j+k}} \\ \times \exp\left(\left(3k+j-m-\frac{1}{4}-E_1(q)-\sum_{n=1}^{j}\operatorname{Li}_0(q^n)+2\sum_{n=1}^{2k}\operatorname{Li}_{-1}(q^n)\right)(2\pi i z_1)\right. \\ \left.+\left(-\frac{5}{48}-\frac{1}{2}E_2(q)+\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{j}\operatorname{Li}_{-1}(q^n)+2\sum_{n=1}^{2k}\operatorname{Li}_{-1}(q^n)\right)(2\pi i z_1)^2+\cdots\right)\right).$$
(C.7)

On another cone, we find

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j < k, j' < k' = 0}^{\infty} \underset{z_1 = 0}{\operatorname{Res}} \frac{q^{k^2 + kj + j - mk} \mathbf{e}((2k + j - m)z_1) \mathbf{e}(4\pi i E_2(q) z_1^2) (q^{-1}; q^{-1})_{k - j - 1}}{(q; q)_{2k}(q; q)_j} \\ & \times -\sqrt{(2\pi i z_1)(1 - \mathbf{e}(-z_1))} \exp\left(\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_\ell(q^{-1}) - \sum_{n=1}^{k-j-1} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(q^{-n})\right) \frac{(-2\pi i z_1)^\ell}{\ell!}\right) \\ & \times \sqrt{\frac{-(4\pi i z_1)}{1 - \mathbf{e}(2z_1)}} \exp\left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_\ell(q) - \sum_{n=1}^{2k} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(q^n)\right) \frac{(4\pi i z_1)^\ell}{\ell!}\right) \\ & \times \frac{\tilde{q}^{-k'^2 - k'j' - j' + m'k'} \mathbf{e}((2k' + j' - m')z_1/\tau) \mathbf{e}(4\pi i G_2(\tilde{q}^{-1})(z_1/\tau)^2)(\tilde{q}; \tilde{q})_{k' - j' - 1}}{(\tilde{q}^{-1}; \tilde{q}^{-1})_{2k'}(\tilde{q}^{-1}; \tilde{q}^{-1})_{j'}} \\ & \times \sqrt{\frac{1 - \mathbf{e}(z_1/\tau)}{-(2\pi i z_1/\tau)}} \exp\left(\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_\ell(\tilde{q}) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(\tilde{q}^n)\right) \frac{(2\pi i z_1/\tau)^\ell}{\ell!}\right) \\ & \times \frac{-1}{\sqrt{-(4\pi i z_1/\tau)(1 - \mathbf{e}(2z_1/\tau))}} \exp\left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(E_\ell(\tilde{q}^{-1}) - \sum_{n=1}^{2k'} \operatorname{Li}_{1-\ell}(\tilde{q}^{-n})\right) \frac{(4\pi i z_1/\tau)^\ell}{\ell!}\right) dz_1, \end{split}$$

and so taking the q terms and expanding to first order, we find that

$$-(2\pi i z_1) \sum_{j(C.8)$$

$$\times \exp\left(\left(2k+j-m-3/4-E_1(q)+2\sum_{n=1}^{2k}\operatorname{Li}_0(q^n)+\sum_{n=1}^{k-j-1}\operatorname{Li}_0(q^{-n})\right)(2\pi i z_1)+\cdots\right).$$

Therefore, the contribution of the sums with $k \equiv k' \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ to the residue is given by

$$Z_m^{(1)}(q)Z_{m'}^{(2)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + \tau Z_m^{(2)}(q)Z_{m'}^{(1)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}).$$

When we restrict to congruences when k or k' are odd we find simple poles and the computation is much simpler. There it is not hard to see the bilinear combinations of the series $Z_m^{(4)}(q), \ldots, Z_m^{(9)}(q)$.

Proofs of Lemma 5.5. To factorise the state integral of equation (5.4), we apply the same kind of computations to find Appell–Lerch type sums in \tilde{q}^{-1} to find Lemma 5.5. This lemma is written in terms of the following explicit *q*-series.

For n > 1, we find

$$\begin{split} K_{m,n}^{(1)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}^{2} \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{k(2k+1)+jk+j-mk+(n-1)m}}{(q;q)_{j}(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{k+j}\left(1-q^{1-n+k}\right)}, \\ K_{m,n}^{(2)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}^{2} \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{k(2k+1)+jk+j-mk+(n-1)m}}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{k+j}\left(1-q^{1-n+k}\right)} \\ &\qquad \times \left(-k-\frac{1}{2}+2E_{1}(q)-\sum_{\ell=1}^{j} \frac{q^{\ell}}{1-q^{\ell}}-\sum_{\ell=1}^{k+j} \frac{q^{\ell}}{1-q^{\ell}}\right) \\ &\qquad + (q;q)_{\infty}^{2} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=-k}^{-1} \frac{q^{k(2k+1)+jk+j-mk+(n-1)m}(q^{-1};q^{-1})_{-j-1}}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{k+j}\left(1-q^{1-n+k}\right)}, \\ K_{m,n}^{(4)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}(q^{3/2};q)_{\infty} \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{(2k+1)+jk+j-mk+(n-1)m}(q^{-1};q^{-1})_{-j-1}}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{2k+1}\left(q^{3/2};q\right)_{k+j}\left(1-q^{3/2-n+k}\right)}, \\ K_{m,n}^{(5)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}(-q;q)_{\infty} \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{j+m} \frac{q^{k(2k+1)+jk+j-mk+(n-1)m}}{(q;q)_{j}(q;q)_{2k}(-q;q)_{k+j}\left(1+q^{1-n+k}\right)}, \\ K_{m,n}^{(6)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}(-q^{3/2};q)_{\infty} \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{j+m} \frac{q^{2(2k+1)(2k+2)/2+(k+1/2)j-m(k+1/2)+j+(n-1)m}}{(q;q)_{j}(q;q)_{2k+1}\left(-q^{3/2};q\right)_{k+j}\left(1+q^{3/2-n+k}\right)}, \\ K_{m,n}^{(6)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}(q^{1/2};q)_{\infty} \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{j+m} \frac{q^{2(2k+1)(2k+2)/2+((k+1/2)-m(k+1/2)+j+(n-1)m}}{(q;q)_{j}(q;q)_{2k+1}\left(-q^{3/2};q\right)_{k+j}\left(1+q^{3/2-n+k}\right)}, \\ K_{m,n}^{(8)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}(-q;q)_{\infty} \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{j+m} \frac{q^{k(2k+1)+(j-k-1/2)-m(k+1/2)+(n-1)m}}{(-q;q)_{j-k}(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{j}\left(1-q^{3/2-n+k}\right)}, \\ K_{m,n}^{(9)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}(-q;q)_{\infty} \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{j+m} \frac{q^{k(2k+1)+(j-k)+(j-k)-mk+(n-1)m}}{(-q;q)_{j-k}(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{j}\left(1+q^{1-n+k}\right)}, \\ K_{m,n}^{(9)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}(-q;q)_{\infty} \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{j+m} \frac{q^{k(2k+1)+(j-k)k+(j-k)-mk+(n-1)m}}{(-q;q)_{j-k}(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{j}\left(1+q^{1-n+k}\right)}, \\ K_{m,n}^{(9)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}(-q^{1/2};q)_{\infty} \qquad (C.9) \\ &\qquad \times \sum_{k,j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{j+m} \frac{q^{(2k+1)(2k+2)/2+(j-k-1/2)(k+1/2)+(j-k-1/2)-m(k+1/2)+(n-1)m}}{(-q^{1/2};q)_{j-k}(q;q)_{2k+1}(q;q)_{j}\left(1+q^{3/2-n+k}\right)}, \\ K_{m,n}^{(9)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}(-q^{1/2};q)_{\infty} \qquad (C.9)$$

and for n = 1, we have

$$\begin{split} K_{m,1}^{(1)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}^{2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{k(2k+1)+jk+j-mk}}{(q;q)_{j}(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{k+j}(1-q^{k})} \\ &+ (q;q)_{\infty}^{2} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{j}}{(q;q)_{j}^{2}} \left(m - \frac{1}{2} + 2E_{1}(q) - 2\sum_{n=1}^{j} \frac{q^{n}}{1-q^{n}} \right), \\ K_{m,1}^{(2)}(q) &= (q;q)_{\infty}^{2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{k(2k+1)+jk+j-mk}}{(q;q)_{j}(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{k+j}(1-q^{k})} \\ &\times \left(-k - \frac{1}{2} + 2E_{1}(q) - \sum_{\ell=1}^{j} \frac{q^{\ell}}{1-q^{\ell}} - \sum_{\ell=1}^{k+j} \frac{q^{\ell}}{1-q^{\ell}} \right) \\ &+ (q;q)_{\infty}^{2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=-k}^{-1} \frac{q^{k(2k+1)+jk+j-mk}(q^{-1};q^{-1})_{-j-1}}{(q;q)_{2k}(q;q)_{k+j}(1-q^{k})} \\ &+ (q;q)_{\infty}^{2} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{q^{j}}{(q;q)_{j}^{2}} \left((j-m-2E_{1}(q)) \left(\frac{1}{2} - 2E_{1}(q) + 2\sum_{\ell=1}^{j} \frac{q^{\ell}}{1-q^{\ell}} \right) + 2E_{2}(q) \right). \end{split}$$

Using these functions and elementary q-holonomic methods, one can prove that for j = 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, we have

$$\frac{1}{2q(1-q)}L_{m}^{(j)}(q) = q^{3}K_{-m-6,3}^{(j)}(q) + q^{2}K_{-m-5,3}^{(j)}(q) + \left(\frac{1}{2}+q\right)K_{-m-5,2}^{(j)}(q) \\
+ \left(-q^{-1}-1\right)K_{-m-4,3}^{(j)}(q) + K_{-m-4,2}^{(j)}(q) + \frac{1}{2}q^{-1}K_{-m-4,1}^{(j)}(q) \\
+ \left(-q^{-2}-q^{-1}\right)K_{-m-3,3}^{(j)}(q) + \frac{1}{2}q^{-2}K_{-m-3,2}^{(j)}(q) \\
+ q^{-4}K_{-m-2,3}^{(j)}(q) + q^{-3}K_{-m-2,2}^{(j)}(q) + q^{-5}K_{-m-1,3}^{(j)}(q).$$
(C.10)

Then to finish the proof consider

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{2-2\tilde{q}}{q^m\tilde{q}^{2-m'}} \int_{\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i}0} \int_{\mathbb{R}-\mathrm{i}0} \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(x_2+c_{\mathsf{b}}) \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(2x_1+c_{\mathsf{b}}) \Phi_{\mathsf{b}}(x_2-x_1+c_{\mathsf{b}}) \\ &\times \mathbf{e} \left(-x_1^2 - x_1 x_2 + i x_1 (m\mathsf{b}-m'\mathsf{b}^{-1}) - \mathrm{i} x_2 \big(\mathsf{b}+\mathsf{b}^{-1}\big) \big) \frac{1}{1-\mathbf{e} \left(-\mathrm{i} x_1 \mathsf{b}^{-1}\right) \tilde{q}^n} \mathrm{d} x_1 \mathrm{d} x_2 \end{aligned}$$

Has a similar residue formula as that in equation (C.5). Then using the expansions in equation (C.6), equation (C.7), and equation (C.8) we see that the corresponding congruence sums with $k \equiv k' \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ leads to a contribution

$$Z_m^{(1)}(q)K_{m',n}^{(2)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + \tau Z_m^{(2)}(q)K_{m',n}^{(1)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + \tau^2 Z_m^{(3)}(q)K_{m',n}^{(0)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}).$$

Then the odd congruences give the other contributions

$$Z_{m}^{(4)}(q)K_{m',n}^{(5)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + Z_{m}^{(5)}(q)K_{m',n}^{(4)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + Z_{m}^{(6)}(q)K_{m',n}^{(6)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + Z_{m}^{(7)}(q)K_{m',n}^{(8)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + Z_{m}^{(8)}(q)K_{m',n}^{(7)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}) + Z_{m}^{(9)}(q)K_{m',n}^{(9)}(\tilde{q}^{-1}).$$

Combining these into the full integral in equation (5.4) giving $S_{m,m'}^{(0)}(\tau)$ and using equation (C.10) completes the proof.

D Numerical data

D.1 Coefficients of asymptotic series

Let

$$\delta_{\rho}^{3k} D_k A_k^{\rho} = v_k \cdot \left(1, \xi_{\rho}, \dots, \xi_{\rho}^6\right),$$

where A_k^{ρ} are the coefficients of the formal series $\Phi^{(\rho)}(h)$ and D_k is the universal denominator [42, Section 9] or A144618 of [69]. Compare this with equation (3.2). Then we have the first ten coefficients given by

$$v_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1497746\\ 1345119\\ -367573\\ 2028215\\ -83948\\ -83948\\ 38342 \end{pmatrix}, v_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 3014838521575\\ 2732414541176\\ -7414786842283\\ -1497826806919\\ -160052009777\\ -574198051621\\ 71765277669 \end{pmatrix}, v_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 32075969439962558848\\ 29072051320986984192\\ -78890163112729764262\\ 44663022669399364904\\ -17986303087279219088\\ -6109213574944197629\\ 8211237042735127719 \end{pmatrix}, \\ v_4 = \begin{pmatrix} 98903732906139198096381046\\ 89641412486672113132053947\\ -243251651355458316156314530\\ 137714936589966968925726953\\ -55459634015776148007047322\\ -18837283785124500422973646\\ 25318706488062016968836637 \end{pmatrix}, v_5 = \begin{pmatrix} 373656849964771673102447848336968\\ 33866394040845044869070558619624\\ -919001166686457533093349035199303\\ 520285008027629237579984234248816\\ -9052568277348439646928982915706\\ -16393034163228924750267101508267352380866\\ -438170291786657171757720239835038734160\\ 562921148838583830479979865516354877439 \end{pmatrix}, v_5 = \begin{pmatrix} 21989671118201887803945372073321048495066\\ 1939304163228924750267101508267352338046\\ -4188170291786657171757720239835038734160\\ 5629211488385838304799798655163554877439 \end{pmatrix}, v_5 = \begin{pmatrix} 2105966719757284961290031145280652338046\\ -4188170291786657171757720239835038734160\\ 5629211488385838304799798655163554877439 \end{pmatrix}, v_5 = \begin{pmatrix} 210596751712842126880757622733914347865250452751\\ 259236596749649220227333394401704977477415\\ 25923659674964922027333394407104977477415\\ 200751489052648379128268740205002933651138008\\ -269824902145113475694954495714866370536391072 \end{pmatrix}, v_5 = \begin{pmatrix} 785068551753725112218001620111973623952147096632968703\\ 711546996317316237545794264680557120599871459754\\ -14952478223719590502933762631467259375223066597537\\ -193085995773726313641718529915337408557153663340057576033\\ , 40222156636833263386454057594264680557120599871459754\\ -149524782237195905029337626076299518100563265867143\\ 2007739685517376511221844643992753184725397522350496575376033\\ , 4022215663683326338645407579426480557120599871459754\\ -1495247822371959002933762607629518110056326587143\\ 2007739685511387637661595777180512855287809993190388945538\\ \end{pmatrix}$$

 $v_{10} = \begin{pmatrix} 55773889227532732828184524484609228876938777009880981456945186409638709\\ 50550672631241763416652769995927583211210706476150220837684914984478733\\ -137174707963638567039716829430329426944220354934166406966672359632621335\\ 77660341053862422297075354814431049552802650479442395163628006479192885\\ -31274850769300096685615679903427192732422153751016963837955145275755771\\ -10622739406361023735394438986275519058827807031940355968987688901516933\\ 14277749599073307932548287383306128369126364441142578078536796870888011 \end{pmatrix}$

The one hundredth coefficient is given by v_{100} with integral coefficients

$(v_{100})_1 =$	$-114556048165446096903495795730947849708437279660658295476857439604114304994175860750170\\ 2226219399306807433289133146923592607781713175774346292294872664755350832771967051497175\\ 1334313782984397480690877472331622677387425915948755657272716966854004507060650209013241\\ 6569706356532192405608071940707397415719345482190248035899758781995872272394920146262330\\ 1698548060290220636218128535516038952334985685437490687755438347915422766743031977132921\\ 3292609804728940391733411498064054755102595914134649830076930702285202226549672024572442\\ 2741333959931616255085383320293741396945674084219989034366072333443935961567195438650179\\ 5926711644098970714058781335872578746020301408937843017961016290954258605034585621333384\\ 7322147861563730543658684156317706213094956485020905848674804554490149990732271461422778\\ 2281287274267428053381108128078094921230370426655504834857948597417043431844274571507595\\ 077515850057994343342$
$(v_{100})_2 =$	$-103827890952986718569282719960333743848174227847715178535429357211487930754122543256928\\6364771358135387050255871031142739581927289814480155391971798017173295004155625332050227\\4552419760012000843565268420484614969812367355718817073566254303660362148101472318443023\\7150076080342818946875553065491550558002582449943712909886590635148221826112420724177028\\0730359573816938240186730714475732140488169600119347794067930446705057263186951018406293\\5294030444393780222067546014674431986945472501721336924732896437921205013780082295797140\\1420996854491250153954071321269813883064162338546674074075232238975129219946201764336834\\6043667303157009459477632965305685142276803043428619047097428173800728222713337389236249\\3915728398979584622063083634277443950368540162602226327517742165963822258371902591576445\\3326882617264326027274951309060728350395424921219472167658345935987680321999223347050252\\920811379128326403892$
$(v_{100})_3 =$	$2817481920340295055281346730690472644380317933071702198598981495233282399086191435667449\\ 6318545087786559340588181231963365406120047446514342724006236372067633836753208996888304\\ 7784544580349968001472287099983364797488008832833025087828779817376659479276529487964064\\ 979952588638387832085373606586061574114040261055267296172055845675881830691974456608354\\ 9748482145914988717471723321568151130409397730543067106720446514892664882995860806845723\\ 4843124130079766196008201885611511607802526887254002686408169780007566008120907107167410,\\ 1792661774536529007063128316059331914983920449666700983429133272838450621725348999813875\\ 4427982048981672947342450227940868000582847370423943946310831419318625881988514349327639\\ 3750477411195956944990997115743753860437766714701707838664070755329703657474544852901710\\ 1459110753136357107434769089560412327126660393670228149990349172522970297062571687376935\\ 84071673080459868758$
$(v_{100})_4 =$	$-159509438798818852740403948954708034054610961555102441028658317201518481964882236020489\\4526799952567533755570836430393792790381924179609668417088998737430330219980796803695379\\331211035601153747277576518037473884376948479404263447779033249131945734424222789257153\\0202729885176121344727985617671903426889715715344945581792699129500328034897328362210132\\7517218122563497996549327492790306206127518554631425135318382559197078897066162615676358\\1770094267848826178566510687812386156251320318287628107064688818880045911108107159895752\\8030213030069261610567623973995227099703139785973985230453804758568537620851861601286735\\9763828390894194681264188506211920648451232529446588028801054008025311995957596039694674\\7094507748532691760075874182877531587172664832988050640411901221776807894698254871948954\\205160941423176311415222124483893024657022227712989459209968500846202161763328423193297\\355797112560595448063$
$(v_{100})_5 =$	$642365694900557963560238004483474580595400805042244975754218123766223193530381351794282\\ 6345530520200575928837990407786626073345472662850049121938319972295907828869161004930804\\ 7993144584499473846590267810548893831624583994913266780345038302207654608206078395361455\\ 704040726035674181107482925791692575102636492178988314066490354946561780131889416228616\\ 0129263647153160879755569142812948767636047073193357707155704484393729503906526211820999\\ 9030240478071441375193637129884062811997809370516862524875910273528679367653302910891415,\\ 1009779756107707217696125995167983346647078858750106017345906644337215675333990670042745\\ 9925628867181510009160177921849999665405522221961363954722660010756647216901550860112516\\ 1431002630893268513862917464594248805266993199441672822494617884430439806978212793583385\\ 8904767686962286325345777540345688304253609632969892351149049178284066587117846175566832\\ 1869460062345737528$

64

 $(v_{100})_{6} = \begin{array}{l} 2181843626001527857043303377779018779842300046160536046727256908658290916944915026680454\\ 7635664935136342238494294282216288689263298203300473168339347861015679674659575853857484\\ 3272758027896194993453060494080374508914094672090391820927332158128265301293326997247408\\ 4995805087693039029285239020092406352948611944824187109825858265021259418523302156261650\\ 8092858553305488071316604868135326927393070682672073489736085898663010188719273481024248\\ (v_{100})_{6} = 9400372295729818032649504717891526934095477264744797523231335241235254598394417984278017,\\ 7750127603963651262570092473539686740530733191906639274388446202472691228579371886844066\\ 1886682276538044627554398689381929689042197266102879028526074642438047560942764074898339\\ 1291014038520316914301735361963268483007842819634202309355619045861602386968733207276110\\ 4482184907706156431872570848820846282918582897113159425324906185999289823652080974172674\\ 7058264455132676090 \end{array}$

 $(v_{100})_7 = \frac{-293255965007763301055959616729773341327807076738201811172617652334185666107000427163406}{1347194485867193959491892898983163471167273115485473516378390204101418762987067995590870}{3021890755912110839030136531006257006903513073402976123712152658902037753367293325813950}\\ 4816431669392563492098383670641296976783763858683346978194946508598226243012839351583086}{3419700678522902019923577150756869056361690035488669558001977155588085780209293795421552}\\ (v_{100})_7 = 7431786286302346537925124448672877893689099626289350461034118531699511804908446632109387 .\\ 2067515765901114529461240564985381816167395965900356210130711747940097796984287932290626}\\ 9172128562958007775380904832673308287880950992069799640010522494309497291173909385099974}\\ 5403459339567654527745136673145209530674651373846980239803787758365037797734419230567386\\ 8776417408486199172676339218746795467065463496428945361248282032768001859399532612619115\\ 60556187926242200365 \end{cases}$

D.2 Generating series of Stokes constants

The conjectural generating series of Stokes constants for the series $\Phi^{(\rho_0)}$ of $4_1(-1,2)$ are given

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{S}_{+}^{(\rho_1,\rho_0)}(q) &= -q^3 - 3q^4 - 4q^5 - 4q^6 - 2q^7 + 3q^8 + 9q^9 + 18q^{10} + 27q^{11} + 36q^{12} + 41q^{13} \\ &\quad + 38q^{14} + 29q^{15} + 3q^{16} - 35q^{17} - 92q^{18} - 163q^{19} - 252q^{20} + \cdots, \\ \mathsf{S}_{+}^{(\rho_2,\rho_0)}(q) &= -1 + q^3 + 3q^4 + q^5 - 5q^7 - 9q^8 - 15q^9 - 20q^{10} - 26q^{11} - 24q^{12} - 19q^{13} \\ &\quad - 6q^{14} + 20q^{15} + 53q^{16} + 101q^{17} + 155q^{18} + 216q^{19} + 274q^{20} + \cdots, \\ \mathsf{S}_{+}^{(\rho_3,\rho_0)}(q) &= -q + q^2 - q^4 - q^5 - 2q^6 - q^7 - q^8 + 4q^9 + 6q^{10} + 12q^{11} + 15q^{12} + 21q^{13} \\ &\quad + 18q^{14} + 19q^{15} + 8q^{16} - 5q^{17} - 31q^{18} - 59q^{19} - 99q^{20} + \cdots, \\ \mathsf{S}_{+}^{(\rho_4,\rho_0)}(q) &= -q - q^2 + q^3 + q^4 + 4q^5 + 3q^6 + 3q^7 - 8q^9 - 14q^{10} - 25q^{11} - 35q^{12} \\ &\quad - 45q^{13} - 45q^{14} - 46q^{15} - 26q^{16} + 50q^{18} + 113q^{19} + 200q^{20} + \cdots, \\ \mathsf{S}_{+}^{(\rho_5,\rho_0)}(q) &= -2q^2 - 2q^3 - 2q^4 + q^6 + 6q^7 + 10q^8 + 15q^9 + 19q^{10} + 20q^{11} + 15q^{12} \\ &\quad + 3q^{13} - 13q^{14} - 47q^{15} - 81q^{16} - 129q^{17} - 176q^{18} - 227q^{19} - 261q^{20} + \cdots, \\ \mathsf{S}_{+}^{(\rho_6,\rho_0)}(q) &= 2q^2 + q^3 - 5q^5 - 6q^6 - 12q^7 - 13q^8 - 12q^9 - 6q^{10} + 3q^{11} + 25q^{12} + 51q^{13} \\ &\quad + 78q^{14} + 117q^{15} + 144q^{16} + 171q^{17} + 173q^{18} + 157q^{19} + 96q^{20} + \cdots, \\ \mathsf{S}_{+}^{(\rho_7,\rho_0)}(q) &= q + 2q^2 + q^3 + q^4 - 4q^5 - 7q^6 - 13q^7 - 15q^8 - 13q^9 - 9q^{10} + 5q^{11} + 26q^{12} \\ &\quad + 56q^{13} + 86q^{14} + 132q^{15} + 161q^{16} + 193q^{17} + 196q^{18} + 182q^{19} \\ &\quad + 114q^{20} + \cdots, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{S}_{-}^{(\rho_1,\rho_0)}(q) &= -1 + q + 3q^2 + 2q^3 + q^4 - q^5 - 2q^6 - 10q^7 - 15q^8 - 21q^9 - 28q^{10} - 28q^{11} \\ &\quad -20q^{12} - 5q^{13} + 22q^{14} + 65q^{15} + 116q^{16} + 174q^{17} + 239q^{18} + 304q^{19} \\ &\quad + 353q^{20} + \cdots, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{S}_{-}^{(\rho_2,\rho_0)}(q) &= q - q^2 - 3q^3 - q^4 - 3q^5 + q^6 + q^7 + 6q^8 + 14q^9 + 19q^{10} + 27q^{11} + 31q^{12} \\ &\quad + 28q^{13} + 18q^{14} - 37q^{16} - 77q^{17} - 137q^{18} - 200q^{19} - 272q^{20} + \cdots, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{S}_{-}^{(\rho_3,\rho_0)}(q) &= -1 + 2q + q^2 + q^3 - q^5 - 2q^6 - 6q^7 - 8q^8 - 13q^9 - 14q^{10} - 14q^{11} - 5q^{12} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &-q^{13}+20q^{14}+39q^{15}+69q^{16}+96q^{17}+133q^{18}+157q^{19}+184q^{20}+\cdots,\\ \mathbf{S}_{-}^{(\rho_4,\rho_0)}(q) = 1-2q-q^2-q^3-q^4+2q^5+3q^6+10q^7+12q^8+17q^9+18q^{10}+16q^{11}\\ &+3q^{12}-11q^{13}-41q^{14}-76q^{15}-117q^{16}-159q^{17}-204q^{18}-232q^{19}\\ &-249q^{20}+\cdots,\\ \mathbf{S}_{-}^{(\rho_5,\rho_0)}(q) = q-q^2-2q^3-3q^4-3q^5-q^6-q^7+6q^8+11q^9+21q^{10}+31q^{11}+40q^{12}\\ &+40q^{13}+39q^{14}+24q^{15}+7q^{16}+52q^{17}+112q^{18}+188q^{19}+279q^{20}+\cdots,\\ \mathbf{S}_{-}^{(\rho_6,\rho_0)}(q) = 1-3q-q^2+2q^3+4q^4+8q^5+6q^6+13q^7+8q^8+3q^9-10q^{10}-29q^{11}\\ &-60q^{12}-84q^{13}-117q^{14}-142q^{15}-147q^{16}-135q^{17}-93q^{18}-12q^{19}\\ &+115q^{20}+\cdots,\\ \mathbf{S}_{-}^{(\rho_7,\rho_0)}(q) = 1-3q-q^2+3q^3+2q^4+7q^5+6q^6+12q^7+7q^8+3q^9-6q^{10}-26q^{11}\\ &-52q^{12}-74q^{13}-103q^{14}-129q^{15}-133q^{16}-125q^{17}-90q^{18}-22q^{19}\\ &+92q^{20}+\cdots. \end{split}$$

There are $7 \times 8 \times 2 = 112$ of these series and we include a PARI/GP [8] code to compute them.

```
1 /* infinite Pochhammer symbol */
2 qpochinfty(a,q,N,ss=1,WMW=ss)=local(s,t,qn);t=1;s=t;qn=1;for(k=1,N,qn=qn*q^ss;t
      =-qn/q^{(1/2+ss/2)*t/(1-qn)*a*q^{(ss/2-WMW/2)};s=s+t);s^{ss};
3
4 /* Eisenstein series */
_5 /* ss=/=0 gives the vector of Eisenstein series from 1 to n */
\{ Gf(q,n,N,ss) =
   local(qk,t,s,ex,bernt);
   ex = exp(x+0(x^{(n+1)})); qk=1; t=1; s=1;
8
   for (k=1, N, qk=qk*q; t=-t*qk/(1-qk)*ex; s=s+t);
9
10 t=log(s/polcoeff(s,0,x));
   if(ss,bernt=bernvec(floor(n/2));
   vector(n,j,if(j==1,-1/4,0)+if(Mod(j,2)==Mod(0,2),-(-1)^j*bernt[j/2+1]/j/2,0)-j
12
      !*polcoeff(t,j,x)),
   -(-1)^n*bernfrac(n)/n/2-n!*polcoeff(t,n,x)
13
   )};
14
15
16 /* canonical basis */
17 \{SI8x8(q) =
    [1/q^4, (q + 2)/q^2, (-q^3 + 2*q^2 - q - 1)/q^2, -q^3 - q^2 - 2*q - 1, q^4 + 2*
18
      q, q^6 + q^5 + q^3, -q^6 - q^4, -q^8;
   1/q^4, (q + 2)/q^2, (q^2 - q - 1)/q^2, -q^2 - 2*q - 2, q^3 + 2*q, q^5 + q^4 + q
19
      ^3, -q^5 - q^3, -q^7;
   1/q^3, (q^2 + q + 1)/q^2, -1/q, -q^3 - 2*q^2 - q - 1, q^4 + 2*q^2, q^6 + q^5 + q^5
20
      q^4, -q^6 - q^4, -q^8;
   0, (-q + 1)/q^3, (-q + 1)/q, (q^2 - 1)/q, -q + 1, -q^3 + q^2, 0, 0;
21
   1/q^4, (2*q + 1)/q^2, (q^3 - q - 1)/q^2, -q^3 - q^2 - 3*q, 2*q^2 + q, q^6 + q^5
22
       + q<sup>4</sup> + q<sup>3</sup> - q<sup>2</sup>, -q<sup>5</sup> - q<sup>4</sup>, -q<sup>8</sup>;
   1/q^4, (2*q + 1)/q^2, (q^3 + q^2 - 2*q - 1)/q^2, -q^3 - q^2 - 3*q, q^2 + 2*q, q
23
      ^6 + q^5 + q^4 + q^3 - q^2, -q^5 - q^4, -q^8;
   0, 0, 0, -q + 1, 0, 0, 0;
24
   1/q^4, (2*q + 1)/q^2, (q^3 - q - 1)/q^2, -q^3 - q^2 - 3*q, q^2 + 2*q, q^6 + q^5
25
       + q<sup>4</sup> + q<sup>3</sup> - q<sup>2</sup>, -q<sup>5</sup> - q<sup>4</sup>, -q<sup>8</sup>]/(1-q)};
26
27 /* zhat series computed inductively */
28 {Zhatf1(q,m,N,ss=1)=
  local(t0,t1,s,temp0,qk,qj);
29
30 t0=(-1+q)*(ss+1);t1=1;qj=1;tj=1;
31 for(j=1,N,qj=qj*q;tj=q*tj/(1-qj)^2;t1=t1+tj);
32 t1=qpochinfty(q,q,N,ss,1)^2*t1;
```

```
s=t1/q^m;qk=q;
   for (k=1, N, qk=qk/q; temp0=t1;
34
35 t1 = -(qk^2 + t0 + (q + qk + qk^3 - qk^2 + qk) + (1 + qk) + (1 - q + qk^2) + temp0)
   /(q^2*(1+qk)*(1-q*qk^2)*(1-qk^2/q^2)*(1-qk^2/q));
36
   t0=temp0; s=s+(qk/q^2)^m*t1
37
   );
38
39
   s};
40
41 {Zhatf2(q,m,N,ss=1)=
42 local(t0,t1,tj,tjn,tjc,s,temp0,qk,qj);
43 t0=0;qj=1;tj=1;tjc=-1/2+2*ss*Gf(q^ss,1,N);tjn=0;t1=tj*(tjc-2*tjn);
44 for(j=1,N,qj=qj*q;tj=q*tj/(1-qj)^2;
45
   tjn=tjn+qj/(1-qj);t1=t1+tj*(tjc-2*tjn)
46 );
47
  t1=qpochinfty(q,q,N,ss,1)^{2*t1};
   s=t1/q^m; qk=q;
48
   for (k=1, N, qk=qk/q; temp0=t1;
49
   t1 = -(qk^2 + t0 + (q + qk + qk^3 - qk^2 + qk) + (1 + qk) + (1 - q + qk^2) + temp0)
50
   /(q^2*(1+qk)*(1-q*qk^2)*(1-qk^2/q^2)*(1-qk^2/q));
51
   t0=temp0; s=s+(qk/q^2)^m*t1
52
   );
53
   s}:
54
55
56 {Zhatf3(q,m,N,ss=1)=
57 local(t0,t1,tj,tjn,tjc1,tjc2,tG1,tG2,s,temp0,qk,qj);
58 t0=-2*(1-q);qj=1;tj=1;tG1=ss*Gf(q^ss,1,N);tG2=ss*Gf(q^ss,2,N);
59 tjc1=(1/2-2*tG1);tjc2=(-2*m-4*tG1);tjn=0;
60 t1=tj*((tjc1+2*tjn)*tjc2/2+2*tG2);
   for(j=1,N,qj=qj*q;tj=q*tj/(1-qj)^2;tjn=tjn+qj/(1-qj);
61
   tjc2=tjc2+2;t1=t1+tj*((tjc1+2*tjn)*tjc2/2+2*tG2)
62
   );
63
   t1=qpochinfty(q,q,N,ss,1)^2*t1;s=t1/q^m;qk=q;
64
   for (k=1, N, qk=qk/q; temp0=t1;
65
   t1 = -(qk^2 + t0 + (q + qk + qk^3 - qk^2 + qk) + (1 + qk) + (1 - q + qk^2) + temp0)
66
   /(q^2*(1+qk)*(1-q*qk^2)*(1-qk^2/q^2)*(1-qk^2/q));
67
   t0=temp0; s=s+(qk/q^2)^m*t1
68
69
  );
   s};
70
71
72  {Zhatf4(q2,m,N,ss=1) =
  local(t0,t1,t0j,t1j,s,temp0,qk,qkj,qpc);
73
   qpc=qpochinfty(q2<sup>2</sup>,q2<sup>2</sup>,N,ss,1)*qpochinfty(q2<sup>3</sup>,q2<sup>2</sup>,N,ss);
74
   t0j = q2^{(2)}/qpoch(q2^{2},q2^{2},1); t1j = q2^{(12)}/qpoch(q2^{3},q2^{2},1)/qpoch(q2^{2},q2^{2},3)
75
      ;t0=t0j;t1=t1j;qj=1;
   for(j=1,N,qj=qj*q2^2;t0j=t0j*q2^3/(1-qj)/(1-qj*q2);
76
   t1j=t1j*q2^5/(1-qj)/(1-qj*q2^3);t0=t0+t0j;t1=t1+t1j
77
   );
78
   t0=qpc*t0;t1=qpc*t1;s=t0/q2^{(3*m)}+t1/q2^{(5*m)};qk=1;
79
   for (k=1, N, qk=qk/q2^2; temp0=t1;
80
   t1 = -((qk/q2)^2 + t0 + (q2^2 + (qk/q2) + (qk/q2)^3 - (qk/q2)^2 + (qk/q2)) + (1 + (qk/q2))
81
      *(1-q2^2*(qk/q2)^2)*temp0)
82
   /(q^2^4*(1+(qk/q^2))*(1-q^2^2*(qk/q^2)^2)*(1-(qk/q^2)^2/q^2^4)*(1-(qk/q^2)^2/q^2^2));
83
   t0=temp0; s=s+(qk/q2^{5})^{m*t1}
84
   );
   s};
85
86
87  {Zhatf5(q,m,N,ss=1)=
  local(t0,t1,t0j,t1j,s,temp0,qk,qj,qpc);
88
89
   qpc=qpochinfty(q,q,N,ss,1)*qpochinfty(-q,q,N,ss);
90
   t0j=(-1)^{m}; t0=t0j; t1j=(-1)^{m}*q^{(3)}/qpoch(-q,q,1)/qpoch(q,q,2);
91
  t1=t1j;qj=1;
92 for(j=1,N,qj=qj*q;t0j=-t0j*q/(1-qj^2);t0=t0+t0j;
```

```
t1j=-t1j*q^2/(1-qj)/(1+qj*q);t1=t1+t1j
   93
                 );
   94
                  t0=qpc*t0;t1=qpc*t1;s=t0/q^m+t1/q^(2*m);qk=1;
   95
                  for (k=1, N, qk=qk/q; temp0=t1;
   96
                  t1 = -((-qk)^{2} + t0 + (qk(-qk) + (-qk)^{3} - (-qk)^{2} + (-qk)) + (1 + (-qk)) + (1 - qk(-qk)^{2}) + (1
   97
                               temp0)
                   /(q^2*(1+(-qk))*(1-q*(-qk)^2)*(1-(-qk)^2/q^2)*(1-(-qk)^2/q));
   98
                   t0=temp0; s=s+(qk/q^2)^m*t1
   99
                  );
100
                  s};
101
102
             \{Zhatf6(q2,m,N,ss=1)=
103
104
                  local(t0,t1,t0j,t1j,s,temp0,qk,qj,qpc);
105
                  qpc=qpochinfty(q2<sup>2</sup>2,q2<sup>2</sup>2,N,ss,1)*qpochinfty(-q2<sup>3</sup>,q2<sup>2</sup>2,N,ss);
                  t0j=(-1)^{(m)}*q2^{2}/qpoch(q2^{2},q2^{2},1);t0=t0j;
106
                  t1j = (-1)^{(m)} * q2^{12}/qpoch(-q2^3,q2^2,1)/qpoch(q2^2,q2^2,3);
107
108
                  t1=t1j;qj=1;
                  for(j=1,N,qj=qj*q2^2;t0j=-t0j*q2^3/(1-qj)/(1+qj*q2);
109
                   t0=t0+t0j;t1j=-t1j*q2^5/(1-qj)/(1+qj*q2^3);t1=t1+t1j
110
                  );
                  t0=qpc*t0;t1=qpc*t1;s=t0/q2^{(3*m)}+t1/q2^{(5*m)};qk=1;
112
                  for (k=1, N, qk=qk/q2^2; temp0=t1;
113
                  t1 = -((-qk/q2)^2 + (-qk/q2)^2 + (-qk/q2)^3 - (-qk/q2)^2 + (-qk/q2)) + (1+(-qk/q2)^2 + (-qk/q2)) + (1+(-qk/q2)^2 + (-qk/q2)) + (1+(-qk/q2)^2 + (-qk/q2)^2 + (-qk/q2)) + (1+(-qk/q2)^2 + (-qk/q2)) + (1+(-qk/q2)) + (1+(-qk/q2))) + (1+(-qk/q2)) + (
114
                              /q2) + (1 - q2^2*(-qk/q2)^2) * temp0)
                   /(q^{2}^{4} * (1 + (-qk/q^{2})) * (1 - q^{2}^{2} * (-qk/q^{2})^{2}) * (1 - (-qk/q^{2})^{2}/q^{2}^{4}) * (1 - (-qk/q^{2})^{2}/q^{2}^{2})
                              ):
                   t0 = temp0; s = s + (qk/q2^5)^m * t1
116
                  );
117
118
                  s}:
119
              \{ Zhatf7(q4,m,N,ss=1) =
120
                  local(t0,t1,t0j,t1j,s,temp0,qk,qj,q22,qpc);
121
                   q22=q4<sup>2</sup>;qpc=qpochinfty(q22<sup>2</sup>,q22<sup>2</sup>,N,ss,1)*qpochinfty(q22,q22<sup>2</sup>,N,ss);
122
                  t0j=q4/qpoch(q22^2,q22^2,1);t0=t0j;
123
                  t1j=q4^9/qpoch(q22,q22^2,-1)/qpoch(q22^2,q22^2,3);t1=t1j;qj=1;
124
                  for(j=1,N,qj=qj*q22^2;t0j=t0j*q22^3/(1-qj)/(1-qj/q22);
                  t0=t0+t0j;t1j=t1j*q22^5/(1-qj)/(1-qj/q22^3);t1=t1+t1j
126
                 );
127
128
                  t0=t0*qpc;t1=t1*qpc;s=t0/q22^(3*m)+t1/q22^(5*m);qk=1;
                  for (k=1, N, qk=qk/q22^2; temp0=t1;
129
                  t1 = -((qk/q22)^2 + t0 + (q22^2 + (qk/q22) + (qk/q22)^3 - (qk/q22)^2 + (qk/q22)) + (1+(qk/q22)^2 + (qk/q22)) + (1+(qk/q22)^2 + (qk/q22)^2 + (qk/q22)) + (1+(qk/q22)^2 + (qk/q22)^2 + (qk/
130
                              /q22) * (1 - q22 ^2 * (qk/q22) ^2) * temp0)
                  /(q22^4*(1+(qk/q22))*(1-q22^2*(qk/q22)^2)*(1-(qk/q22)^2/q22^4)*(1-(qk/q22)^2/
131
                              q22^2));
                  t0=temp0; s=s+(qk/q22^5)^{m*t1}
                  );
133
                  s};
134
135
              \{ Zhatf8(q,m,N,ss=1) =
136
                  local(t0,t1,t0j,t1j,s,temp0,qk,qj,qpc);
137
                  qpc=qpochinfty(q,q,N,ss,1)*qpochinfty(-q,q,N,ss);
138
139
                  t0j=(-1)^(m);t0=t0j;t1j=(-1)^(m)*q/qpoch(-q,q,-1)/qpoch(q,q,2);t1=t1j;qj=1;
140
                  for(j=1,N,qj=qj*q;t0j=-t0j*q/(1-qj^2);t0=t0+t0j;
                  t1j=-t1j*q^2/(1-qj)/(1+qj/q);t1=t1+t1j
141
                 );
142
                  t0=t0*qpc;t1=t1*qpc;s=t0/q^m+t1/q^(2*m);qk=1;
143
144
                  for (k=1, N, qk=qk/q; temp0=t1;
                  \texttt{t1} = -((-qk)^2 * \texttt{t0} + (qk) + (-qk)^3 - (-qk)^2 + (-qk)) * (1 + (-qk)) * (1 - qk(-qk)^2) * (1 -
145
                               temp0)
                  /(q^2*(1+(-qk))*(1-q*(-qk)^2)*(1-(-qk)^2/q^2)*(1-(-qk)^2/q));
146
                  t0=temp0; s=s+(qk/q^2)^m*t1
147
148
                 );
```

+4,N,s);

```
149
       s};
     \{Zhatf9(q4,m,N,ss=1)=
151
       local(t0,t1,t0j,t1j,s,temp0,qk,q22,qpc);
       \label{eq:q22q4^2} q22 = q4^2; qpc = qpochinfty (q22^2, q22^2, \mathbb{N}, ss, 1) * qpochinfty (-q22, q22^2, \mathbb{N}, ss);
153
       t0j=(-1)^(m)*q4/qpoch(q22^2,q22^2,1);t0=t0j;t1j=(-1)^(m)*q4^9/qpoch(-q22,q22)
154
             ^2,-1)/qpoch(q22^2,q22^2,3);t1=t1j;qj=1;
       for(j=1,N,qj=qj*q22^2;t0j=-t0j*q22^3/(1-qj)/(1+qj/q22);
       t0=t0+t0j;t1j=-t1j*q22^5/(1-qj)/(1+qj/q22^3);t1=t1+t1j
156
       );
157
       t0=t0*qpc;t1=t1*qpc;s=t0/q22^(3*m)+t1/q22^(5*m);qk=1;
158
       for (k=1, N, qk=qk/q22^2; temp0=t1;
159
160
       t1 = -((-qk/q22)^2 + t0 + (q22^2 + (-qk/q22) + (-qk/q22)^3 - (-qk/q22)^2 + (-qk/q22))
            *(1+(-qk/q22))*(1-q22^2*(-qk/q22)^2)*temp0)
       /(q22^4*(1+(-qk/q22))*(1-q22^2*(-qk/q22)^2)*(1-(-qk/q22)^2/q22^4)*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-qk/q22))*(1-(-q
161
             ^2/q22^2));t0=temp0;s=s+(qk/q22^5)^m*t1
       );
162
163
       s};
164
165 /* 8x8 matrix of q-series */
166 \{ ZHAT8x8(q4, m, N, s=1) =
167 if (s==1,
168
169 Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>,m,N,s),Zhatf2(q4<sup>4</sup>,m,N,s),Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>,m,N,s),Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>,m,N,s),
            Zhatf6(q4^2,m,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m,N,s);
170 Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+1, N, s), Zhatf2(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+1, N, s), Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>, m+1, N, s), Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+1, N)
             ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+1,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+1,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+1,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
            +1,N,s);
171 Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>,m+2,N,s),Zhatf2(q4<sup>4</sup>,m+2,N,s),Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>,m+2,N,s),Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>,m+2,N)
             ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+2,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+2,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+2,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
            +2,N,s);
172 Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>,m+3,N,s),Zhatf2(q4<sup>4</sup>,m+3,N,s),Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>,m+3,N,s),Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>,m+3,N)
             ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+3,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+3,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+3,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
            +3,N,s);
173 Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+4, N, s), Zhatf2(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+4, N, s), Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>, m+4, N, s), Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+4, N
             ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+4,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+4,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+4,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
            +4,N,s);
174 Zhatf1 (q4<sup>4</sup>, m+5, N, s), Zhatf2 (q4<sup>4</sup>, m+5, N, s), Zhatf4 (q4<sup>2</sup>, m+5, N, s), Zhatf5 (q4<sup>4</sup>, m+5, N
            ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+5,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+5,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+5,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
            +5,N,s);
175 Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+6, N, s), Zhatf2(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+6, N, s), Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>, m+6, N, s), Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+6, N)
             ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+6,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+6,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+6,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
            +6,N,s);
176 Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>,m+7,N,s),Zhatf2(q4<sup>4</sup>,m+7,N,s),Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>,m+7,N,s),Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>,m+7,N)
             ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+7,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+7,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+7,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
            +7,N,s)
177 ],
178
179 Zhatf3(q4<sup>4</sup>,m,N,s),Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>,m,N,s),Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>,m,N,s),Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>,m,N,s),
            Zhatf6(q4^2,m,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m,N,s);
180 Zhatf3(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+1, N, s), Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+1, N, s), Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>, m+1, N, s), Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+1, N)
             ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+1,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+1,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+1,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
            +1,N,s);
181 Zhatf3(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+2, N, s), Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+2, N, s), Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>, m+2, N, s), Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+2, N)
             ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+2,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+2,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+2,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
            +2,N,s);
182 Zhatf3(q4<sup>4</sup>,m+3,N,s),Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>,m+3,N,s),Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>,m+3,N,s),Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>,m+3,N)
             ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+3,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+3,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+3,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
            +3,N,s);
183 Zhatf3(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+4, N, s), Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+4, N, s), Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>, m+4, N, s), Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+4, N
             ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+4,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+4,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+4,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
```

```
184 Zhatf3(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+5, N, s), Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+5, N, s), Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>, m+5, N, s), Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+5, N)
                               ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+5,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+5,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+5,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
                              +5,N,s);
185 Zhatf3(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+6, N, s), Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+6, N, s), Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>, m+6, N, s), Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+6, N)
                                ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+6,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+6,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+6,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
                              +6.N.s);
186 Zhatf3(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+7, N, s), Zhatf1(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+7, N, s), Zhatf4(q4<sup>2</sup>, m+7, N, s), Zhatf5(q4<sup>4</sup>, m+7, N)
                                ,s),Zhatf6(q4^2,m+7,N,s),Zhatf7(q4,m+7,N,s),Zhatf8(q4^4,m+7,N,s),Zhatf9(q4,m
                              +7,N,s)])};
187
188 /* Stokes matrix in region I */
189 SMI8x8(q4,N)=[-1,0,0,0,0,0,0; 0,-1,0,0,0,0,0; 0,0,-1,0,0,0,0;
                               0,0,0,-1,0,0,0,0; 0,0,0,0,-1,0,0,0; 0,0,0,0,0,-1,0,0; 0,0,0,0,0,1,0;
                              0,0,0,0,0,0,0,1]*SI8x8(q4^4)*ZHAT8x8(q4,-3,N)*matdiagonal
                               ([-1, -1, 1, 1, -1, -1, -1, 1])
190
              /* Stokes matrix in region II */
191
192 SMII8x8(q4,N)=[1,0,0,0,0,0,0,0; 0,1,0,0,0,0,0; 0,0,1,0,0,0,0;
                              0,0,0,1,0,0,0,0; 0,0,0,0,1,0,0,0; 0,0,0,0,0,1,0,0; 0,0,0,0,0,0,0,1;
                              0,0,0,0,0,0,1,0]*SI8x8(q4<sup>4</sup>)*ZHAT8x8(q4,-3,N)*matdiagonal
                               ([1, -1, -1, -1, 1, 1, 1, 1, -1])
             SMII8x8(q4+0(q4^150),150)*SMI8x8(q4+0(q4^150),150)^(-1)-matrix(8,8,i,j,if(i==j
194
                                ,1,0)+0(q4^{10})
195
               / *
196
               \begin{bmatrix} 0(q4^{10}) & 0(q4^{10}) \end{bmatrix}
197
             [-1 + q4^{4} + 3*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} - 2*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 + q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{10} + 0(q4^{10}) - 0(q4^{1
198
                              ^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + 2*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) -1 - q4^{4} + q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) -1 + 3*q4
                               ^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) -1 + 3*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10})]
199
               [q4^{4} - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{8} +
200
                                   0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10})]
201
             [-1 + 2*q4^{4} + q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{10} + 0(q4^{10}) - 0(q4^{10
202
                               ^10) q4^{4} + q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) -1 + q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) -1 + q4^{4} + 2*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10})
                              (10) -1 + q4^4 + 2*q4^8 + 0(q4^{10})
203
204
              [1 - 2*q4^4 - q4^8 + 0(q4^{10}) q4^4 + q4^8 + 0(q4^{10}) -1 + 0(q4^{10}) q4^8 + 0(
                              (-10) - q4^{4} - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 - q4^{4} - 2*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 - q4^{10} - 2*q4^{10} + 0(q4^{10}) - 2*q4^{10}
                              (10) 1 - q4^4 - 2*q4^8 + 0(q4^10)]
              [-q4^{4} + q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) 0(q4^{10}) q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{10}]
206
                                   0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10})]
207
             [1 - 3*q4^{4} - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) -1 + q4^{4} + 2*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{8}
208
                                   + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 - q4^{4} - 3*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - 2*q4^{4} - 3*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - 2*q4^{10} + 3*q4^{10} + 3*q4^
                                   0(q4^{10}) - 2*q4^{4} - 3*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10})]
             [1 - 3*q4^4 - q4^8 + 0(q4^{10}) q4^4 + 0(q4^{10}) -1 + q4^4 + 2*q4^8 + 0(q4^{10}) q4^8
210
                                   + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 - q4^{4} - 3*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - 2*q4^{4} - 3*q4^{8} +
                                   0(q4^{10}) -2*q4^{4} - 3*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10})]
211
             */
212
213 /* Stokes matrix in region IV */
214 SMIV8x8(q4,N)=[-1,0,0,0,0,0,0,0; 0,1,0,0,0,0,0; 0,0,1,0,0,0,0;
                              0,0,0,1,0,0,0,0; 0,0,0,0,1,0,0,0; 0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0; 0,0,0,0,0,0,0,-1,0;
                              0,0,0,0,0,0,0,-1]*SI8x8(1/q4^4)*ZHAT8x8(1/q4,-3,N,-1)*matdiagonal
                               ([-1, -1, 1, 1, -1, -1, -1, 1])
215
216 /* Stokes matrix in region III */
```

```
217 SMIII8x8(q4,N)=[1,0,0,0,0,0,0,0; 0,1,0,0,0,0,0; 0,0,1,0,0,0,0;
                               0,0,0,1,0,0,0,0; 0,0,0,0,1,0,0,0; 0,0,0,0,0,1,0,0; 0,0,0,0,0,0,0,1;
                               0,0,0,0,0,0,1,0]*SI8x8(1/q4^4)*ZHAT8x8(1/q4,-3,N,-1)*matdiagonal
                                ([1,1,1,1,-1,-1,-1,1])
218
             SMIV8x8(q4+0(q4<sup>100</sup>),100)*SMIII8x8(q4+0(q4<sup>100</sup>),100)<sup>(-1)</sup>-matrix(8,8,i,j,if(i==j
219
                                 ,1,0)+0(q4^{10})
220
              \begin{bmatrix} 0(q4^{10}) & 0(q4^{10}) \end{bmatrix}
221
222
              [0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} - 2*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4}
223
                                    + q4^8 + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^8 + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^4 + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^4 + 0(q4^{10})]
224
              [-1 + 0(q4^{10}) 1 + q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 + 0(q4^{10}) - 
225
                               q4^10) q4^4 + q4^8 + 0(q4^10) 1 - q4^4 - 2*q4^8 + 0(q4^10) 1 - q4^4 - 2*q4^8
                                    + 0(q4^{10})]
              [-q4^{4} + q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{10}]
227
                                 228
              [-q4^{4} - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + 2*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) -q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + q4^{8} +
229
                                   0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{10}
                               q4^10)]
230
              [-2*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - 1 - q4^{4} + q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - 1 + q4^{8}]
231
                                    + 0(q4^{10}) 1 - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) -q4^{4} - q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) -1 + q4^{4} + 3*q4^{8} +
                                   0(q4^{10}) -1 + q4^{4} + 3*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10})]
232
              [2*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 - 3*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 - q4^{4} - 2*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 - q4^{10} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 - q4^{10} + 0(q4^{10}) + 0
233
                               q4^{10} -1 + q4^{4} + 2*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) -2*q4^{4} - 3*q4^{8} + 0(q4
                                ^10) -2*q4^4 - 3*q4^8 + O(q4^10)]
234
             [q4^{4} + 2*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 - 3*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10}) - q4^{4} + 0(q4^{10}) 1 - q4^{4} - 2*q4
235
                                 ^8 + O(q4^10) -1 + q4^4 + 2*q4^8 + O(q4^10) q4^4 + O(q4^10) -2*q4^4 - 3*q4^8
                                   + 0(q4^{10}) -2*q4^{4} - 3*q4^{8} + 0(q4^{10})]
236 */
```

Acknowledgements

This work was carried out throughout my doctoral studies and therefore owes a great debt to my supervisors Stavros Garoufalidis and Don Zagier. Their constant sharing of ideas and perspectives has been invaluable to the completion of this work. I would also like to thank Dongmin Gang, Mauricio Romo, and Masahito Yamazaki for sharing some of their code early on in this project. Again I would like to thank Dongmin Gang for sharing a computation of the 3d index of $4_1(-1,2)$ proposed in [26] and the question of whether this could be found in the Stokes constants. I thank Jie Gu, Marcos Mariño and Matthias Storzer for various conversations throughout this project and Sergei Gukov for suggestions improving the manuscript. Finally, I would like to thank the referees for many helpful suggestions. The work of the author has been supported by the Max-Planck-Gesellschaft with the Max Planck institute for mathematics in Bonn and the Southern University of Science and Technology's International Center for Mathematics in Shenzhen.

References

- Andersen J.E., The asymptotic expansion conjecture, in Problems on Invariants of Knots and 3-Manifolds, Geom. Topol. Monogr., Vol. 4, Mathematical Sciences Publishers, 2004, 474-480.
- [2] Andersen J.E., Kashaev R., A new formulation of the Teichmüller TQFT, arXiv:1305.4291.

- [3] Andersen J.E., Kashaev R., A TQFT from quantum Teichmüller theory, Comm. Math. Phys. 330 (2014), 887-934, arXiv:1109.6295.
- [4] Andersen J.E., Kashaev R., The Teichmüller TQFT, in Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians-Rio de Janeiro 2018. Vol. III. Invited lectures, World Scientific Publishing, Hackensack, NJ, 2019, 2541-2565, arXiv:1811.06853.
- [5] Andersen J.E., Mistegård W.E., Resurgence analysis of quantum invariants of Seifert fibered homology spheres, J. Lond. Math. Soc. 105 (2022), 709-764, arXiv:1811.05376.
- [6] Andersen J.E., Mistegård W.E., The full asymptotic expansion of the WRT-invariant of all surgeries on the figure 8 knot, in preparation.
- [7] Bar-Natan D., Garoufalidis S., On the Melvin-Morton-Rozansky conjecture, *Invent. Math.* 125 (1996), 103-133.
- [8] Batut C., Belabas K., Benardi D., Cohen H., Olivier M., User's guide to PARI-GP, available at ftp: //megrez.math.u-bordeaux.fr/pub/pari.
- Beem C., Dimofte T., Pasquetti S., Holomorphic blocks in three dimensions, J. High Energy Phys. 2014 (2014), no. 12, 177, 119 pages, arXiv:1211.1986.
- [10] Beliakova A., Blanchet C., Le T., Laplace transform and universal sl₂ invariants, arXiv:math.QA/0509394.
- Bettin S., Drappeau S., Modularity and value distribution of quantum invariants of hyperbolic knots, *Math. Ann.* 382 (2022), 1631-1679, arXiv:1905.02045.
- [12] Caliceti E., Meyer-Hermann M., Ribeca P., Surzhykov A., Jentschura U.D., From useful algorithms for slowly convergent series to physical predictions based on divergent perturbative expansions, *Phys. Rep.* 446 (2007), 1-96, arXiv:0707.1596.
- [13] Charles L., Marché J., Knot state asymptotics II: Witten conjecture and irreducible representations, *Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci.* 121 (2015), 323-361, arXiv:1107.1646.
- [14] Chen Q., Yang T., Volume conjectures for the Reshetikhin-Turaev and the Turaev-Viro invariants, *Quantum Topol.* 9 (2018), 419-460, arXiv:1503.02547.
- [15] Cheng M.C.N., Chun S., Ferrari F., Gukov S., Harrison S.M., 3d modularity, J. High Energy Phys. 2019 (2019), no. 10, 010, 93 pages, arXiv:1809.10148.
- [16] Cooper D., Culler M., Gillet H., Long D.D., Shalen P.B., Plane curves associated to character varieties of 3-manifolds, *Invent. Math.* 118 (1994), 47-84.
- [17] Costin O., Garoufalidis S., Resurgence of the Kontsevich-Zagier series, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 61 (2011), 1225-1258, arXiv:math.GT/0609619.
- [18] Culler M., Dunfield N., Goerner M., Weeks J., SnapPy, a computer program for studying the geometry and topology of 3-manifolds, Release 3.0.3, available at http://snappy.computop.org.
- [19] Dimofte T., Quantum Riemann surfaces in Chern-Simons theory, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 17 (2013), 479-599, arXiv:1102.4847.
- [20] Dimofte T., Gaiotto D., Gukov S., 3-manifolds and 3d indices, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 17 (2013), 975–1076, arXiv:1112.5179.
- [21] Dimofte T., Garoufalidis S., The quantum content of the gluing equations, Geom. Topol. 17 (2013), 1253-1315, arXiv:1202.6268.
- [22] Dimofte T., Garoufalidis S., Quantum modularity and complex Chern-Simons theory, Commun. Number Theory Phys. 12 (2018), 1-52, arXiv:1511.05628.
- [23] Dimofte T., Gukov S., Lenells J., Zagier D., Exact results for perturbative Chern-Simons theory with complex gauge group, *Commun. Number Theory Phys.* 3 (2009), 363-443, arXiv:0903.2472.
- [24] Folsom A., Males J., Rolen L., Storzer M., Oscillating asymptotics for a Nahm-type sum and conjectures of Andrews, arXiv:2305.16654.
- [25] Gang D., Romo M., Yamazaki M., All-order volume conjecture for closed 3-manifolds from complex Chern-Simons theory, Comm. Math. Phys. 359 (2018), 915-936, arXiv:1704.00918.
- [26] Gang D., Yonekura K., Symmetry enhancement and closing of knots in 3d/3d correspondence, J. High Energy Phys. 2018 (2018), no. 7, 145, 58 pages.
- [27] Garoufalidis S., Chern-Simons theory, analytic continuation and arithmetic, Acta Math. Vietnam. 33 (2008), 335-362, arXiv:0711.1716.
- [28] Garoufalidis S., The 3D index of an ideal triangulation and angle structures, *Ramanujan J.* 40 (2016), 573-604, arXiv:1208.1663.
- [29] Garoufalidis S., State integrals, the quantum dilog, and knots, Lecture, 18 September, 2018, Max Planck Institute for Mathematics.
- [30] Garoufalidis S., Gu J., Mariño M., The resurgent structure of quantum knot invariants, Comm. Math. Phys. 386 (2021), 469-493, arXiv:2007.10190.
- [31] Garoufalidis S., Gu J., Mariño M., Peacock patterns and resurgence in complex Chern-Simons theory, Res. Math. Sci. 10 (2023), 29, 67 pages, arXiv:2012.00062.
- [32] Garoufalidis S., Gu J., Mariño M., Wheeler C., Resurgence of Chern-Simons theory at the trivial flat connection, *Comm. Math. Phys.* 406 (2025), 20, 60 pages, arXiv:2111.04763.
- [33] Garoufalidis S., Kashaev R., Evaluation of state integrals at rational points, Commun. Number Theory Phys.
 9 (2015), 549-582, arXiv:1411.6062.
- [34] Garoufalidis S., Kashaev R., From state integrals to q-series, Math. Res. Lett. 24 (2017), 781-801, arXiv:1304.2705.
- [35] Garoufalidis S., Kashaev R., A meromorphic extension of the 3D index, *Res. Math. Sci.* 6 (2019), 8, 34 pages, arXiv:1706.08132.
- [36] Garoufalidis S., Lê T.T.Q., Asymptotics of the colored Jones function of a knot, Geom. Topol. 15 (2011), 2135-2180, arXiv:math.GT/0508100.
- [37] Garoufalidis S., Lê T.T.Q., From 3-dimensional skein theory to functions near Q, arXiv:2307.09135.
- [38] Garoufalidis S., Storzer M., Wheeler C., Perturbative invariants of cusped hyperbolic 3-manifolds, arXiv:2305.14884.
- [39] Garoufalidis S., Wheeler C., Modular q-holonomic modules, arXiv:2203.17029.
- [40] Garoufalidis S., Zagier D., Asymptotics of Nahm sums at roots of unity, Ramanujan J. 55 (2021), 219–238, arXiv:1812.07690.
- [41] Garoufalidis S., Zagier D., Knots and their related q-series, SIGMA 19 (2023), 082, 39 pages, arXiv:2304.09377.
- [42] Garoufalidis S., Zagier D., Knots, perturbative series and quantum modularity, SIGMA 20 (2024), 055, 87 pages, arXiv:2111.06645.
- [43] Grassi A., Gu J., Mariño M., Non-perturbative approaches to the quantum Seiberg-Witten curve, J. High Energy Phys. 2020 (2020), no. 7, 106, 50 pages, arXiv:1908.07065.
- [44] Grünberg D.B., Moree P., Sequences of enumerative geometry: congruences and asymptotics, *Experiment*. Math. 17 (2008), 409-426, arXiv:math.NT/0610286.
- [45] Gukov S., Three-dimensional quantum gravity, Chern-Simons theory, and the A-polynomial, Comm. Math. Phys. 255 (2005), 577-627, arXiv:hep-th/0306165.
- [46] Gukov S., Manolescu C., A two-variable series for knot complements, Quantum Topol. 12 (2021), 1–109, arXiv:1904.06057.
- [47] Gukov S., Mariño M., Putrov P., Resurgence in complex Chern-Simons theory, arXiv:1605.07615.
- [48] Gukov S., Pei D., Putrov P., Vafa C., BPS spectra and 3-manifold invariants, J. Knot Theory Ramifications 29 (2020), 2040003, 85 pages, arXiv:1701.06567.
- [49] Gukov S., Putrov P., Vafa C., Fivebranes and 3-manifold homology, J. High Energy Phys. 2017 (2017), no. 7, 071, 81 pages, arXiv:1602.05302.
- [50] Hikami K., Hyperbolic structure arising from a knot invariant, Internat. J. Modern Phys. A 16 (2001), 3309-3333, arXiv:math-ph/0105039.
- [51] Hikami K., Mock (false) theta functions as quantum invariants, *Regul. Chaotic Dyn.* 10 (2005), 509-530, arXiv:math-ph/0506073.
- [52] Jones V.F.R., A polynomial invariant for knots via von Neumann algebras, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 12 (1985), 103-111.
- [53] Jones V.F.R., Hecke algebra representations of braid groups and link polynomials, Ann. of Math. 126 (1987), 335–388.
- [54] Kashaev R.M., The hyperbolic volume of knots from the quantum dilogarithm, Lett. Math. Phys. 39 (1997), 269-275, arXiv:q-alg/9601025.

- [55] Khovanov M., A categorification of the Jones polynomial, *Duke Math. J.* 101 (2000), 359-426, arXiv:math.QA/9908171.
- [56] Lawrence R., Zagier D., Modular forms and quantum invariants of 3-manifolds, Asian J. Math. 3 (1999), 93-107.
- [57] Mariño M., From resurgence to BPS states, Talk, Strings 2019, Brussels.
- [58] Melvin P.M., Morton H.R., The coloured Jones function, Comm. Math. Phys. 169 (1995), 501-520.
- [59] Murakami H., Murakami J., The colored Jones polynomials and the simplicial volume of a knot, Acta Math. 186 (2001), 85-104, arXiv:math.GT/9905075.
- [60] Nahm W., Conformal field theory and torsion elements of the Bloch group, in Frontiers in Number Theory, Physics, and Geometry. II, Springer, Berlin, 2007, 67–132, arXiv:hep-th/0404120.
- [61] Neumann W.D., Extended Bloch group and the Cheeger-Chern-Simons class, Geom. Topol. 8 (2004), 413-474, arXiv:math.GT/0307092.
- [62] Neumann W.D., Zagier D., Volumes of hyperbolic three-manifolds, *Topology* 24 (1985), 307–332.
- [63] Ohtsuki T., On the asymptotic expansion of the quantum SU(2) invariant at $q = \exp(4\pi\sqrt{-1}/N)$ for closed hyperbolic 3-manifolds obtained by integral surgery along the figure-eight knot, *Algebr. Geom. Topol.* 18 (2018), 4187-4274.
- [64] Olver F.W.J., Asymptotics and special functions, AKP Classics, AK Peters/CRC Press, Ltd., Wellesley, MA, 1997.
- [65] Park S., Inverted state sums, inverted Habiro series, and indefinite theta functions, arXiv:2106.03942.
- [66] Reshetikhin N.Yu., Turaev V.G., Ribbon graphs and their invariants derived from quantum groups, Comm. Math. Phys. 127 (1990), 1-26.
- [67] Reshetikhin N.Yu., Turaev V.G., Invariants of 3-manifolds via link polynomials and quantum groups, *Invent. Math.* 103 (1991), 547–597.
- [68] Rozansky L., The universal *R*-matrix, Burau representation, and the Melvin-Morton expansion of the colored Jones polynomial, *Adv. Math.* **134** (1998), 1-31.
- [69] Sloane N.J.A. et al., The on-line encyclopedia of integer sequences, 2024, https://oeis.org.
- [70] Thurston W.P., The geometry and topology of three-manifolds, Princeton University, 1979.
- [71] Thurston W.P., Three-dimensional manifolds, Kleinian groups and hyperbolic geometry, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 6 (1982), 357-381.
- [72] Turaev V.G., Quantum invariants of knots and 3-manifolds, 3rd ed., De Gruyter Stud. Math., Vol. 18, De Gruyter, Berlin, 2016.
- [73] Wheeler C., Modular q-difference equations and quantum invariants of hyperbolic three-manifolds, Ph.D. Thesis, Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, 2023, available at https://hdl.handle. net/20.500.11811/10811.
- [74] Wilf H.S., Zeilberger D., An algorithmic proof theory for hypergeometric (ordinary and "q") multisum/integral identities, *Invent. Math.* 108 (1992), 575-633.
- [75] Witten E., Quantum field theory and the Jones polynomial, Comm. Math. Phys. 121 (1989), 351-399.
- [76] Witten E., Analytic continuation of Chern-Simons theory, in Chern-Simons Gauge Theory: 20 Years After, AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math., Vol. 50, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2011, 347-446, arXiv:1001.2933.
- [77] Yoshida T., The η -invariant of hyperbolic 3-manifolds, *Invent. Math.* 81 (1985), 473–514.
- [78] Zagier D., Holomorphic quantum modular forms, Lecture, 28 Febuary 2020, Hausdorff Center for Mathematics, available at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2Rj_xh3UKrU.
- [79] Zagier D., Vassiliev invariants and a strange identity related to the Dedekind eta-function, *Topology* 40 (2001), 945–960.
- [80] Zagier D., The dilogarithm function, in Frontiers in Number Theory, Physics, and Geometry. II, Springer, Berlin, 2007, 3-65.
- [81] Zagier D., Quantum modular forms, in Quanta of Maths, Clay Math. Proc., Vol. 11, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2010, 659-675.
- [82] Zeilberger D., A holonomic systems approach to special functions identities, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 32 (1990), 321–368.